THE UNIVERSITY OF CHICAGO

THE IMPACT OF WEIGHT-LOSS SURGERY AND THE BUDDING ROLE OF CANNABINOID ACTION IN ADIPOSE TISSUE

A DISSERTATION SUBMITTED TO

THE FACULTY OF THE DIVISION OF THE BIOLOGICAL SCIENCES

AND THE PRITZKER SCHOOL OF MEDICINE

IN CANDIDACY FOR THE DEGREE OF

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

COMMITTEE ON MOLECULAR METABOLISM AND NUTRITION

ΒY

AVELINO DE LEON

CHICAGO, ILLINOIS

DECEMBER 2021

© 2021 Avelino Apostol De Leon, Jr.

All rights reserved.

Dedication

To Dr. Brady -

Thank you for the endless support, encouragement, and life lessons you imparted over the years, particularly in the face of unique challenges. Your mentorship cannot be overstated.

To my parents -

Thank you for supporting me in every way you could. Thank you for instilling in me a strong work ethic and for teaching me the meaning of sacrifice. This accomplishment belongs to the whole family. I'm so happy to be a role model to future generations.

To all the friends I've made in grad school –

Thank you for the precious memories. I'm so glad to have found a positive support system and community. You made it possible to find balance in the bubble of academia.

To Celisa –

Words cannot express how important you are to these accomplishments. This is yours as much as it is mine. Thank you for your love, compassion, patience, and understanding.

Thank you for always pushing me to be better.

I would not be where or who I am today without you.

List of Tables	vii
List of Figures	viii
Acknowledgements	ix
Abstract	x
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Obesity	1
1.1.1 Epidemiology & Public Health	1
1.1.2 Pathophysiology & Links to Diabetes	2
1.1.3 Interventions	5
1.2 Adipose Tissue & Metabolism	9
1.2.1 Distribution & Composition	9
1.2.2 Endocrine Function	
1.2.3 Metabolic Function	14
1.3 Hunger and Appetite	
1.3.1 Neuroendocrine Regulation	
1.3.2 Circadian Rhythm	
1.3.3 Appetite and Reward Systems	20
1.4 The Endocannabinoid System	22
1.5 Insulin Signaling and Resistance	27
1.6 Calcium & Energy Metabolism	29

Table of Contents

1.6.1 The Role of Calcium in Energy Homeostasis and Adipocyte Function	29
1.6.2 Transient Receptor Potential (TRP) Channels	34
1.6.3 Interactions Between Calcium, cAMP, and Insulin Signaling	39
1.6.4 Modulation of TRP Channels by Cannabinoids	43
CHAPTER 2: IMPACT OF VERTICAL SLEEVE GASTRECTOMY ON SUBJECT	IVE
HUNGER AND APPETITE RATINGS AND ENDOCRINE HORMONES	45
2.1 Introduction	45
2.2 Materials and Methods	48
2.2.1 Subject Characteristics	48
2.2.2 Laboratory Sessions	49
2.2.3. Fasting Serum and Plasma Hormone Levels	50
2.2.4. Assessment of Hunger & Appetite	50
2.2.5. Mixed Model Construction	52
2.3 Results	52
2.3.1. Laboratory Session Calorie & Macronutrient Intake	52
2.3.2. Subjective Ratings of Hunger & Appetite	54
2.3.3. Hormone Levels	66
2.4 Discussion	69
CHAPTER 3: ACUTE IMPACT OF SYNTHETIC CANNABINOID WIN 55,212-2	ON
MURINE VISCERAL ADIPOSE TISSUE METABOLISM AND GENE EXPRESSION	76
3.1 Introduction	76

3.2 Materials & Methods	78
3.2.1 Murine Adipose Tissue	78
3.2.2 Adipose Tissue Explant Culture	78
3.2.3 Acute Cannabinoid Treatment of Adipose Tissue	78
3.2.4 RNA Isolation	79
3.2.5 Transcriptomics	79
3.2.6 Functional Enrichment Analysis & Topology-Based Pathway Analysis	80
3.2.7 Anti-Lipolysis Assay	81
3.2.8 Insulin Sensitivity Assay	82
3.2.9 Quantitative Reverse Transcription PCR	83
3.2.10 Statistical Analyses	84
3.3 Results	85
3.3.1 Adipose Tissue Gene Expression	85
3.3.2 Impact of WIN on adipose tissue metabolism	92
3.3.3 Impact on Insulin Signaling	96
3.4 Discussion	98
CHAPTER 4: CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	108
4.1 Weight-loss Surgery, Hunger, and Appetite	108
4.2 Cannabinoid Action in Adipose Tissue	111
REFERENCES	114

List of Tables

Table 1.1 Regulation of AC Isoforms by Ca ²⁺	.40
Table 2.1 Deidentified Subject Characteristics	.49
Table 2.2 Laboratory Session Diet & Food Consumption Information	.53
Table 3.1 KEGG Signaling Pathways Assessed By SPIA	.81
Table 3.2 WIN-mediated gene set enrichment in primary murine adipose tissue	.88

List of Figures

Figure 2.1. Hunger and appetite ratings at baseline and at post-surgery55
Figure 2.2 Influence of change in hunger and appetite ratings on post-surgery weight loss
Figure 2.3 Influence of calories eaten on hunger and appetite ratings
Figure 2.4 Influence of time on hunger and appetite ratings61
Figure 2.5 Analysis of hunger survey responses across time at baseline or post-surgery .63
Figure 2.6 Analysis of appetite survey responses across time at baseline or post-surgery65
Figure 2.7 Fasting serum levels of ghrelin and leptin67
Figure 2.8 Influence of serum leptin and active ghrelin activity on hunger and appetite 69
Figure 3.1. WIN 55,212-2 caused differential gene expression in murine adipose tissue86
Figure 3.2. WIN significantly modulated genes in the same direction at all timepoints87
Figure 3.3. Signaling Pathway Impact Analysis of genes differentially expressed in murine
adipose tissue due to WIN90
Figure 3.4. Modulation of Ca ²⁺ - and cAMP-related genes in adipose tissue by WIN92
Figure 3.5. WIN 55,212-2 inhibits the antilipolytic action of insulin95
Figure 3.6. WIN 55,212-2 attenuates insulin-dependent Akt phosphorylation97
Figure 3.7 Hypothesized mechanisms by which cannabinoids impact lipolysis104

Acknowledgements

Advisor

Matthew Brady, PhD

Past & Present Brady Lab

Matthew Piron

Isabel Casimiro, MD, PhD

Jeremy White, PhD

Jordan Strober, PhD

Briana Banks

Ruby Ross

Amarachi Okoli

Cohen Lab

Anna Goddi

Alanis Carmona

UChicago Biostatistics Clinic

CMMN Students

Co-Mentor

Erin Hanlon, PhD

Thesis Committee

Ronald Cohen, MD (Chair)

Robert Sargis, MD, PhD

Xiaoxi Zhuang, PhD

Clinical Research Coordinators

Jennifer Lee, MPH

Gavin Baumgart

Wajdey Nasheiwat

Stephanie Sintetas

UChicago Diabetes Research &

Training Center

Abstract

The US prevalence of obesity has risen from less than 20% to over 40% in last the 25 years despite all efforts to control it. Obesity represents a major health challenge because it substantially increases the risk of leading causes of death, including diabetes, heart disease, stroke, and several cancers, as well as dementia and poorer mental health, thereby contributing to a decline in both quality of life and life expectancy. Obesity is also associated with increasingly abnormal function of adipose tissue which contributes to the development of insulin resistance. Prevention and treatment through lifestyle and public health intervention have not been successful in the long term. Currently, the most effective and longlasting treatment for severe obesity is bariatric surgery (a.k.a. weight-loss surgery). Of course, pharmacological agents have also been explored, though these have historically run into safety concerns. One target under active research is the endocannabinoid system, the antagonism of which reduces food intake resulting in weight-loss. However, this effect is driven by central mechanisms, and the role of the peripheral endocannabinoid system in metabolism is much less understood.

The work reported in this dissertation led to novel findings in obesity research. The first chapter provides an overview of obesity, hunger, appetite, and the metabolic role of adipose tissue. It also introduces the endocannabinoid system as a link between food intake and metabolism, and further explores the role of cannabinoid action in adipose tissue. The second chapter describes a clinical study of the impact of vertical sleeve gastrectomy on subjective hunger and appetite. This study revealed that 12-weeks after vertical sleeve

gastrectomy surgery, when subjects still have obesity, subjects' ratings of hunger and appetite do not significantly decline over the course of the day as they did before surgery. Interestingly, this was observed in parallel with post-surgery fasting levels of leptin and ghrelin being altered in favor of increased food intake. Lastly, the third chapter pivots from the clinic to a novel investigation of cannabinoid action in primary murine white adipose tissue. Utilizing mRNA-sequencing and qRT-PCR methods, the study presents evidence that that the synthetic cannabinoid WIN 55,212-2 inhibited expression of insulin and calcium signaling pathway genes and activity in primary adipose tissue. In addition, assessments of lipid metabolism and insulin signaling linked the attenuated antilipolytic action of insulin to the suppression of insulin-dependent Akt phosphorylation by WIN 55,212-2. Taken together, the chapters of this dissertation allude to the immense complexity of obesity, explore the links between neuroendocrine signaling and food intake, and highlight the roles of adipose tissue and the endocannabinoid system as major players in the regulation of energy metabolism.

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1 Obesity

1.1.1 Epidemiology & Public Health

The epidemic of obesity has continued to grow at an alarming rate despite public health initiatives to curb and reverse its prevalence. The World Health Organization classifies obesity by body mass index (BMI; kg/m²), with BMI of 25-30 as overweight, and BMI \ge 30 as obese. An exception is for Asian populations as they develop negative health consequences at a lower BMI, thus the WHO advises lower BMI cut points for overweight/obesity in Asians (BMI of 23–27.5 for overweight; BMI \ge 27.5 for obese) [1, 2]. In 1990, the CDC reported an obesity prevalence of 12% [3]. 10 years later, by 1999-2000, the age-adjusted US adult prevalence rate of obesity had risen dramatically to 30.5%. Five years later, from 2005-2006, it had increased to 34.3%. Another five years later, the growth rate of obesity seemed to have slowed, with a prevalence of 35.7% from 2009-2010 [4]. In response, in 2010 the CDC Department of Health and Human Services launched the Healthy People 2020 initiative to lower the rate of obesity down to 30.5% by 2020. Instead, the most recent report from the CDC saw the US rate of obesity rise to 42.4% of adults in 2017-2018 [4]. This alarming trend highlights the limited effectiveness of lifestyle and behavioral interventions based on reduced caloric intake and increased energy expenditure. Current health recommendations rely on the fact that obesity is the consequence of small, cumulative imbalances between energy intake and energy expenditure that result in a positive energy balance and weight gain. However, at the individual level, weight-loss interventions aimed at reducing calorie intake

and increasing energy expenditure are frequently unsuccessful in the long term [5-7].

Obesity represents a major health challenge because it substantially increases the risk of metabolic diseases (type-II diabetes mellitus and fatty liver), cardiovascular diseases (hypertension, myocardial infarction, and stroke), and is also strongly associated with the development of dementia, osteoarthritis, obstructive sleep apnea, and several cancers [4, 8-12]. The elevated risks of this chronic progressive disease, if left unmitigated, can lead to reduced quality of life and economic burden. Obesity has been challenging to address because its causal factors and their interrelationships are enormously complex. While current weight-loss strategies target the individual, it is also clear that there are significant environmental and societal factors involved such that energy balance is strongly linked to the relationship between an individual and their environment [13]. Individual factors, such as genetic background or the gut-brain axis, influence susceptibility to obesity, which may develop in an obesogenic environment (e.g., shift work, drug use, fast food culture). Even from a solely biological perspective, the pathogenesis of obesity cannot be attributed to the disruption of any individual physiological system—it is clear that obesity develops from a combination of factors that vary among individuals and over time [14-16].

1.1.2 Pathophysiology & Links to Diabetes

Over the course of evolution, humans have developed complex, persistent adaptations to defend against weight-loss and promote weight-gain in the face of limited resources for the sake of survival. The storage of energy as fat is an adaptive response to surplus caloric intake. In fact, this process protects against the negative consequences of prolonged high levels of sugars and lipids in the blood. The storage of energy as fat is thus critical for systemic energy homeostasis such that a severe lack of body fat leads to negative outcomes. In adults, a body fat percentage of less than 5% in men and 15% in women results in a breakdown of normal bodily functions, including impaired immune function and thermal regulation. Women have a higher threshold of essential body fat due to reproductive requirements, and exceedingly low body fat percentage results in a disruption of menstruation. Similarly, the issue of obesity arises when increasing body fat mass reaches a point that the body's ability to store fat properly becomes impaired and existing fat functions abnormally.

Long-term consumption of a diet high in sugars and fat is known to promote weightgain in the form of fat mass, and the consistently high levels of glucose and lipids in the blood require proportionally greater amounts of insulin to control. The development of obesity can thus be characterized by the onset of hyperinsulinemia, hyperglycemia, and hyperlipidemia, which are conditions associated with "metabolic syndrome." Hyperglycemia is defined as chronic high blood sugar, and results from insufficient glucose uptake from the blood stream. This condition can develop due to insufficient insulin production or insufficient insulin action (i.e., insulin resistance). Chronic hyperglycemia can lead to impaired vasodilation and diabetic neuropathy, which, if left untreated, may require amputation of affected areas. Hyperlipidemia results from a combination of impaired liver and adipose tissue lipid catabolism. It presents as abnormally high levels of low-density lipoproteins (LDL) and/or triglycerides. Continued consumption of a high-fat, high-sugar diet under conditions of hyperglycemia and hyperlipidemia exacerbates the abnormally high levels of glucose and lipids in the blood such that the capacity of adipose tissues to handle excess glucose and lipid is exceeded. Chronic overburdening of adipocytes (fat cells) impairs their normal functions and insulin sensitivity, leading to high levels of lipolysis and circulating lipids. These excess lipids can be deposited ectopically in non-adipose tissues such as the kidneys, liver, heart, and skeletal muscles. The accumulation of fat in or around these tissues that are not properly equipped to handle fat promotes lipotoxicity, inflammation, insulin resistance, and aberrant function of affected tissues. One such manifestation of this is lipodystrophy, a rare condition defined by dysfunction, loss, and/or inability to make adipose tissue leading to excess circulating lipids and ectopic deposition of fat. As in chronic obesity, the inappropriate accumulation of lipid in multiple organs leads to profound insulin resistance [17].

Unaddressed, these conditions lead to a state of systemic insulin resistance that can ultimately develop into Type-II Diabetes Mellitus. Type-II diabetes mellitus (T2DM) is the combination of the aforementioned factors such that high levels of insulin secretion (hyperinsulinemia) can no longer be maintained by the kidneys to sufficiently compensate for increasing levels of insulin resistance. The magnitude of insulin resistance associated with T2DM is such that they body struggles to utilize glucose and significantly relies on body fat for energy, which compounds the existing metabolic dysregulation. Taken together, these factors can promote the development of atherosclerosis, hypertension, and combined with continued lipotoxicity can further lead to liver, kidney, and heart failure.

1.1.3 Interventions

Lifestyle

Lifestyle intervention (diet and exercise) represents the cornerstone of weight management, and according to one estimate, every year, 42% of the world population tries to lose weight [18, 19]. Yet, even if the initial weight-loss is successful, most individuals will regain weight over time, and only a small proportion of dieters will be able to maintain the reduced weight over the next years. For example, a meta-analysis of weight loss studies in the USA, which included 29 studies that applied hypocaloric diets with or without exercise with long-term (≥ 2 years) follow-up, showed that on average more than half of the weight lost is regained after 2 years and more than three-quarters is regained after 5 years [20]. Another study in patients with overweight/obesity without diabetes showed that one year after initial weight loss, levels of the circulating mediators of appetite that encourage weight regain after diet-induced weight loss do not revert to the levels recorded before weight loss, suggesting a persistent drive towards food intake in defense of the previous body fat mass [21]. A third example is the Look Ahead study, which demonstrated that intensive lifestyle intervention that included group sessions and structured meal plans resulted in maintained weight loss. Yet, the study reported that the average weight regain in the intensive lifestyle intervention group was still 50% of initial weight loss after 4 years, which was maintained until 8 years [22]. Thus, one of the biggest challenges in the management of obesity is the prevention of weight-regain after successful weight loss.

Pharmacological

Historically, pharmacological interventions for the treatment of obesity and insulin resistance have largely failed as long-term solutions owing to a host of negative side-effects, contraindications, lack of effectiveness, and poor adherence such that there remains unclear guidance for clinicians regarding choice of individual drugs [23-27]. One example is the drug rimonabant, an endocannabinoid system inhibitor that targets the hunger drive, which was highly successful at reducing food intake, but was ultimately banned due to its negative psychological side-effects including depression and suicide [24]. A second example is the drug lorcaserin, a selective serotonin 2C receptor agonist that modulates appetite, which was withdrawn after the FDA found that it increased the risk of cancer [28]. A final example is the class of drugs known as thiazolidinediones. Used in the treatment of T2DM, thiazolidinediones (TZDs) are PPAR γ agonists that work by promoting adipogenesis thereby reducing circulating fatty acids, enhancing adiponectin expression, and improving insulin sensitivity. Though TZDs are effective, they are relegated to second-line treatment in part due to increased risk of cancer (pioglitazone) and cardiovascular events (rosiglitazone) [29, 30].

Currently, the first-line medication for the treatment of T2DM is metformin. While its primary indication is for the reduction of blood glucose, is also prescribed off-label for weight management in overweight and obese patients without diabetes [31]. The molecular mechanisms underlying the effects of metformin are not fully understood. Metformin thought to exert its primary antidiabetic action through the suppression of hepatic glucose production via AMPK-mediated effects or inhibition of mitochondrial complex I, yet not all of its effects can be explained by these mechanisms. This suggests that metformin likely acts on multiple tissues through various underlying mechanisms, and highlights an area of continued research [32].

Another class of drugs that has risen in prominence are incretin-based medications that target insulin resistance. Incretins are gut-derived hormones that are released after eating and stimulate the secretion of insulin. The two major incretins are GLP-1 (glucagonlike peptide-1) and GIP (gastric inhibitory peptide, or glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide). Incretin-based medications, like the GLP-1 receptor agonists liraglutide and semaglutide, have shown high clinical efficacy in the treatment of T2DM and in weight management [33-37]. Most recently, semaglutide was approved by the FDA for chronic weight management in adults with obesity or overweight with at least one weight-related condition (e.g., hypertension, T2DM, or hypercholesterolemia [38]. However, clinicians may be hesitant to adopt GLP-1 receptor agonists given their relative infancy and the currently limited data on long-term weight loss and cardiovascular outcomes, though a large ongoing trial is poised to address these concerns [39].

Surgical

Bariatric surgery (also known as weight-loss surgery) is widely prescribed for those with class-III obesity (BMI >40), and is extremely effective in reducing body weight, improving overt measures of metabolic health, and reducing all-cause mortality among obese adults [40-42]. Indeed, a recent meta-analysis of 174772 participants found that bariatric

surgery was associated with 59% and 30% reduction in all-cause mortality among obese adults with or without T2DM, respectively [42]. This meta-analysis also found that median life-expectancy was 9.3 years longer for obese adults with diabetes who received bariatric surgery as compared to routine (non-surgical) care, whereas the life expectancy gain was 5.1 years longer for obese adults without diabetes [42]. There is little question that bariatric surgical procedures can produce profound and long-lasting effects on body weight. Chief among these procedures are Roux-en-Y gastric bypass (RYGB) and vertical sleeve gastrectomy (VSG), each of which can produce profound and sustained weight loss that cannot be reliably achieved by other means. Both RYGB and VSG involve a significant reduction in the size of the stomach to restrict the volume of food which can be eaten. RYGB further implements re-construction of the GI tract to attach the stomach "pouch" directly to jejunum, bypassing the duodenum, which significantly reduces the degree of nutritional absorption. Other bariatric surgery procedures include gastric banding, which restricts and slow the flow of food into the stomach at the cost of potential scarring, and duodenal switch, which adds intestinal rearrangement to VSG. These procedures have mostly fallen out of favor for VSG, which has demonstrated effectiveness in weight loss as a stand-alone procedure and is now the most commonly performed bariatric surgery worldwide [43, 44]

The effects of bariatric surgery have historically been attributed to either caloric restriction through via the reduction of stomach capacity or through malabsorption via intestinal rearrangement. However, it has been frequently observed that these mechanisms do not fully account for fact that patients report being less hungry after surgery despite rapid and significant weight loss, which is typically a potent stimulator of appetite and food intake [16]. This suggests that bariatric surgery may affect appetite through additional mechanisms independent of caloric intake and absorption. It is hypothesized that such mechanisms may be through alterations to gut-brain communication, gut hormone signaling, and/or leptin sensitivity [45-50]. Yet, as with lifestyle interventions, weight regain can occur even after bariatric surgery [51-53]. Thus, identifying the factors that make long term weight loss maintenance so challenging is an important step for researchers and clinicians.

1.2 Adipose Tissue & Metabolism

Though adipocytes make up the majority of adipose tissue volume and cell types, the composition of vasculature, immune cells, progenitor cells, fibroblasts, and connective tissues can vary and are important to adipose tissue function. These differences are further reflected in distinctions between the various adipose tissue depots, between visceral and subcutaneous adipose tissues, and between types of adipocytes (white, brown, and beige).

1.2.1 Distribution & Composition

Adipose tissue can be classified by morphology into white, brown, or beige subsets. White adipose tissue is further classified by location, and is largely defined as subcutaneous and visceral. In humans, while subcutaneous adipose tissue (SAT) is distributed throughout the body, the main depots are in the hips, buttocks, and thighs (gluteofemoral), whereas in rodents, subcutaneous adipose depots are the interscapular and inguinal fat pads [54]. Visceral adipose tissue (VAT) in both humans and rodents is largely intra-abdominal (e.g., mesenteric, omental, perirenal, pericardial, perigonadal). Increased accumulation of VAT, as is seen in the development of obesity, is associated with an increased risk for insulin resistance, T2DM, hypertension and all-cause mortality [54-56]. In contrast, SAT is associated with improved or preserved insulin sensitivity and mitigated risk of developing T2DM [57, 58]. The benefits associated with SAT may be attributed to its ability to serve as a primary energy sink for nutrient deposit, thereby protecting against ectopic fat deposition and associated lipotoxicity [54]. Thus, body fat distribution, irrespective of BMI and/or body fat percentage, can predict risk of obesity-related diseases and complications [59]. Risk can further be stratified by fat distribution, as individuals with a higher waist-to-hip ratio (i.e., more abdominal/visceral fat than lower body/subcutaneous fat) are more predisposed to obesity-related metabolic dysfunction [60]. For example, individuals with gynoid obesity, characterized by subcutaneous fat in the gluteofemoral region, have less risk of developing metabolic dysfunction, whereas individuals with android obesity, which is characterized by abdominal visceral fat, have a greater risk of metabolic dysfunction [60-62].

Adipose tissue is comprised of many different cell types that secrete numerous cytokines, chemokines, and hormones. About a third of the cells within lean, healthy adipose tissue are adipocytes, with the rest of the cells comprised of fibroblasts, endothelial cells, macrophages and other immune cells, stromal cells, and preadipocytes. White adipocytes are the primary cell type for fat storage. They are capable of expanding to accommodate increased lipids through hypertrophy of existing adipocytes and through proliferation and differentiation of pre-adipocytes into mature white adipocytes. Brown adipose tissue (BAT), composed primarily of brown adipocytes, is localized to distinct anatomical regions that have

been well-characterized in rodents, with the majority located in the interscapular region [63]. Thought to be only present to some degree in human infants, it has been shown that BAT represents between 1-2% of total fat stores in adult humans [64, 65]. Brown adipocytes contain a particularly high density of mitochondria and function to generate heat by uncoupling energy production via oxidative phosphorylation into heat production (non-shivering thermogenesis). Beige/brite adipose tissue on the other hand is difficult to quantify but represents cells interspersed within WAT that are capable of transforming into brown-like adipocytes following cold exposure or adrenergic stimulation [66, 67]. The conversion of excess white adipocytes to a beige or brown-like phenotype represents an active area of research with the goal of raising energy expenditure to combat weight gain [68].

White adipose tissue also contains a significant population of macrophages. These immune cells represent less than 10% of total cells in lean adipose tissue, with one report estimating that they represent up to 40-50% of adipose tissue cells in rodents and humans with obesity [69]. Furthermore, it has been shown that in obesity these adipose tissue macrophages are activated via a mechanism distinct from that of classically activated M1 macrophages, which are primarily associated with pathogen-induced inflammation [70, 71]. Considered "metabolically activated" by the hyperglycemic, hyperinsulinemic, and hyperlipidemic microenvironment in obese adipose tissue, these macrophages, in addition to obese adipocytes, are known to produce inflammatory cytokines despite their distinct activation [70-72]. Although these cytokines are mostly restricted to autocrine and paracrine effects, some of them make significant contributions to systemic inflammation and insulin

sensitivity [70-72].

1.2.2 Endocrine Function

Adipose tissue had long been considered simply a site of fat storage. However, our understanding of its complexity has grown over time. It is now known that adipose tissue has a complex distribution, composition, and hormone secretion profile as a major endocrine organ. As an endocrine organ, adipose tissue synthesizes and secretes hormones that are active in a range of processes, such as control of food intake, control of insulin sensitivity, and inflammatory processes [73]. Two highly-studied adipose tissue hormones are leptin and adiponectin. The primary role of leptin is as a homeostatic driver of energy balance, which is demonstrated by its satiety-inducing effects that act to counter the role of ghrelin. Indeed, leptin or leptin receptor deficient humans and rodents exhibit profound hyperphagia, hyperglycemia, and insulin resistance [74, 75]. Leptin is synthesized in response to insulinaction and glucose metabolism, and has been shown to be secreted in proportion to insulinstimulated glucose uptake in adipocytes [76, 77]. Total leptin levels are also proportional to body fat mass, with greater fat mass correlated with greater circulating leptin, and decreased levels resulting from a loss of fat mass [73, 78, 79].

The role of adiponectin is similarly characterized by metabolic regulation, but is also involved in mediating inflammation. Studies have shown that circulating adiponectin levels are inversely correlated with BMI, and increase during caloric restriction. Adiponectin positively regulates glucose and lipid metabolism by improving insulin sensitivity, and deficiency in adiponectin or its receptor is highly associated with obesity and insulin resistance [80, 81]. The beneficial effects of adiponectin are thought to be through enhanced insulin signal transduction and by promoting the phosphorylation/activation of AMPK and PPAR α [82, 83].

The metabolic stress imposed on adipocytes by the conditions of metabolic syndrome and obesity contributes to a state of low-grade systemic inflammation. Numerous studies have shown that this is due to enhanced expression and secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines, particularly TNF α , from adipose tissue, and is associated with significant macrophage accumulation and adipocyte hypertrophy [69, 73, 84-93].

TNF α is a potent proinflammatory cytokine that can stimulate the release of other inflammatory cytokines, and was the first WAT-derived inflammatory cytokine reported to be implicated in the initiation and progression of insulin resistance [84]. In humans, TNF α levels are higher in plasma and adipose tissue of obese individuals, and circulating levels reduce with weight loss. A key mechanism by which TNF α induces insulin resistance involves phosphorylation of IRS1 that interferes with insulin-induced phosphorylation of IRS1 [94]. TNF α has also been shown interfere with adipocyte metabolism through suppression of lipolysis and the expression adipogenic genes thus promoting adipocyte hypertrophy and expansion of adipose tissue mass [95].

Another inflammatory cytokine associated with obesity and inflammation is resistin. Like TNF α , resistin is thought to be secreted by macrophages residing in inflamed adipose tissue, and is correlated with insulin resistance in humans and animal models [73, 96, 97]. Key evidence for its involvement in modulating insulin resistance comes from studies demonstrating that resistin levels are elevated in DIO mice, and blocking its action improves insulin resistance [96, 98]. Moreover, resistin is believed to propagate inflammatory responses by upregulating expression of inflammatory cytokines such as TNF α and IL-6 in monocytes and macrophages in a nuclear factor kappa-B (NF κ B)-dependent manner, and is positively associated with circulating inflammatory markers such as C-reactive protein (CRP) and TNF α [97, 99]. Resistin appears to interfere with normal insulin signaling by decreasing insulin receptor and IRS protein expression and phosphorylation in 3T3-L1 cells [100]. It has also been showed to decrease AMPK activation, which is implicated in the regulation of insulin action [101, 102].

Thus, inflammatory cytokine secretion from adipose tissue can promote a vicious cycle of increasing adipose tissue and systemic inflammation, and the worsening of both local and systemic insulin resistance.

1.2.3 Metabolic Function

In parallel with the liver and skeletal muscle, adipose tissue contributes to the maintenance of glucose and lipid homeostasis metabolism. In the fed state, such as after a meal, glucose sensing by the pancreas leads to the secretion of insulin from β -cells into circulation. Insulin subsequently stimulates glucose uptake into skeletal muscle and liver, where it can be stored as glycogen, and the excess into adipose tissue, where it can be converted to and stored as fat. Over time and without further food intake, a drop in blood glucose is sensed by the pancreas, which leads to the secretion of glucagon from pancreatic α -cells. Glucagon stimulates the breakdown of glycogen (glycogenolysis) stored in the liver

and skeletal muscle to maintain blood glucose. Extended fasting depletes muscle and liver glycogen, and sympathetic nervous system activity in addition to glucagon enhances hepatic gluconeogenesis to maintain blood glucose and adipocyte lipolysis to liberate fatty acids for beta-oxidation as an additional source of ATP generation. Refeeding will once again stimulate the secretion of insulin, which suppresses sympathetic signaling, gluconeogenesis, and lipolysis, and the fed-fasted cycle of glucose homeostasis begins again [103].

The majority of excess weight associated with obesity is composed of adipose tissue. Adipocytes store energy in the form of triacylglycerols (TAGs) that are formed from fatty acids and glucose taken up from circulation. These functions are carried out by adipocytes through the processes of adipogenesis (differentiation of preadipocytes into new adipocytes), lipogenesis (synthesis and storage of fatty acids leading to adipocyte hypertrophy), lipid/fatty acid and glucose uptake, lipolysis (breakdown of TAGs and release of lipids to circulation), and to a lesser degree thermogenesis (largely associated with the brown adipocyte phenotype). Insulin action on adipocytes modulates lipid metabolism by stimulating glucose uptake for de novo lipogenesis during positive energy balance, and by inhibiting lipolysis and the subsequent mobilization of fatty acids into circulation during energy deficit. Both lipogenesis and lipolysis can be active simultaneously, though the rates at which they occur are regulated by cellular cAMP concentrations, with increasing levels correlated with greater rates of lipolysis [104-106].

Lipolysis results in the liberation and secretion of long-chain fatty acids and glycerol to be utilized for fatty acid beta-oxidation. During conditions of stress or energy deficit (e.g., fasting or rapid energy expenditure), adipocytes receive lipolytic hormonal signals through the sympathetic nervous system to mobilize energy stores. These signals, mainly from catecholamines and glucocorticoids, act through adrenergic and glucocorticoid receptor signaling to activate adenylyl cyclase to produce cAMP and raise intracellular levels [104-106]. cAMP activates the enzyme PKA (cAMP-dependent protein kinase A), which is a master regulator of catabolic metabolism. PKA can then proceed to phosphorylate perilipin proteins surrounding the lipid droplet, to facilitate the catalytic activity of ATGL (adipose triglyceride lipase; PNPLA2) to begin TAG hydrolysis [104-106]. HSL (hormone-sensitive lipase; LIPE), which catalyzes the hydrolysis of diacylglycerols to monoacylglycerols (after the activity of ATGL), is also phosphorylated by PKA [104-106]. The fatty acids liberated by lipolysis are the fuel for ATP generation via fatty acid beta-oxidation. Suppression of lipolysis is primarily achieved through the reduction of cAMP levels and PKA activity, which is typically accomplished through insulin action. Insulin signaling acts through the insulin receptor (INSR), and activation of phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase (PI3k) leads to the phosphorylation and activation of Akt (a.k.a. PKB, protein kinase-B). Akt is a serine/threonine kinase, and is responsible for the phosphorylation of several proteins involved in multiple cellular processes such as metabolism, glucose uptake, cell cycle, and proliferation, to name a few. In the suppression of lipolysis, active Akt phosphorylates and activates PDE3B (phosphodiesterase 3b), a major phosphodiesterase isoform expressed in adipose tissue, which catalyzes the hydrolysis of cAMP into AMP to decrease PKA activity and the subsequent suppression of lipolysis [104-106].

1.3 Hunger and Appetite

1.3.1 Neuroendocrine Regulation

Within the brain, the arcuate nucleus (ARC) of the lateral hypothalamus (LH) is located close to the third ventricle and is thus in an ideal location to obtain information from circulating signals that cross the blood brain barrier to propagate information from the periphery [107, 108]. The ARC mediates an array of cognitive and physiological processes including regulation of homeostatic mechanisms such as sleep, wakefulness, fatigue, thermoregulation, blood pressure, thirst, gastrointestinal motility, appetite, and hunger [107, 108]. Specifically, the ARC receives information regarding energy need/state to promote or inhibit energy intake. Orexigenic (appetite-stimulating) neurons in the ARC promote hunger via transmission of neuropeptide Y (NPY), melanin-concentrating hormone (MCH), orexins, and agouti-related peptide (AgRP) [107, 108]. Anorexigenic (appetite-repressing) neurons promote satiety via transmission of proopiomelanocortin (POMC), alpha-melanocytestimulating hormone (α -MSH), cocaine and amphetamine-regulated transcript (CART), and corticotropin-releasing-hormone (CRH) [107, 108]. AgRP/NPY-transmitting neurons are also capable of inhibiting POMC-transmitting (anorexigenic) neurons through GABAergic neurotransmission, resulting in increased appetite and food intake [109]. Inhibition of either pathway allows for enhanced activity of the other, thus mediating appetite.

Leptin is a circulating hormone originating from adipose tissue that signals satiety and energy sufficiency. It influences food intake and regulates energy balance by suppressing appetite through its binding to and inhibition of AgRP/NPY neurons and stimulation of POMC neurons [110-112]. Leptin production is proportional to adiposity, yet, during periods of energy deficit, the rate at which leptin levels fall exceeds the rate at which fat stores are depleted. While this reduction in leptin signaling serves to limit weight loss in the lean state, in obesity a decrease in sensitivity to leptin impairs satiety signaling despite energy surplus, high leptin levels, and no reduction of food intake. This leptin resistance is further demonstrated by the lack of effect of exogenous leptin administration on food intake [113]. Similarly, leptin deficiency in humans causes hyperphagia which can lead to obesity or lipodystrophy if left untreated, but can be reversed by leptin administration [114].

Conversely, the circulatory hormone ghrelin, a hunger signal emanating from the gastrointestinal tract, stimulates appetite by binding to and activating AgRP/NPY neurons and inhibiting POMC neurons [115-117]. Mediated in part by mechanoreceptors in the gut, ghrelin secretion occurs when the stomach is empty, such as during fasting, and halts when the stomach is stretched, such as after meals [118, 119]. In obesity, however, plasma levels of ghrelin are decreased compared to the lean state, and do not exhibit the same post-prandial declines [120-122]. The actions of ghrelin also depend on acylation state; acylated ghrelin has high affinity for the ghrelin receptor (GHS-R; growth hormone secretagogue receptor), while nonacylated, or desacylated, ghrelin does not activate GHS-R but is thought to affect metabolism and food intake in opposition to acylated ghrelin through separate mechanisms [123]. Furthermore, greater ratios of acylated ghrelin to desacylated or total ghrelin are associated with increased food intake, insulin resistance, and obesity [46, 123-125].

Another peptide hormone, the incretin glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP1), is released

from the gastrointestinal tract as well as the nucleus of the solitary tract in the brainstem following nutrient consumption. In the periphery, GLP-1 enhances the secretion of insulin by the pancreas, whereas in the brain GLP-1 has been shown to reduce appetite through its binding to neurons of the mesolimbic reward system [126].

1.3.2 Circadian Rhythm

In recent years, biological rhythms and the circadian clock have been established as significant regulators of metabolism and feeding behavior. Indeed, it has been demonstrated that the optimal timing of food intake should be earlier rather than later in the day [127-129]. Similarly, studies utilizing 24-hour blood sampling have shown that serum ghrelin levels exhibit a 24-hour rhythm that is predominantly driven by food intake as concentrations drop following a meal and subsequently increase in parallel with hunger until the next bout of food intake [130], and serum leptin levels peak before mid-sleep and then decline until midmorning before increasing throughout daytime in response to accumulated caloric intake during the day [131]. These findings demonstrate that biological rhythms influence food intake both behaviorally and physiologically, thus linking metabolic state to the time of day.

As a major part of circadian function, sleep also plays an important role in energy homeostasis by modulating hunger and appetite. In rodents, food shortage or starvation results in decreased sleep, and, conversely, total sleep deprivation leads to marked hyperphagia [132-134]. Spiegel et al. were one of the first to report a rise in subjective feelings of hunger and appetite following two nights of sleep restriction (4 hours/night) compared to two nights of sleep extension (10 hours/night) in young, healthy, normal-weight men. It was found that the sleep restricted group had increased hunger and appetite ratings (24% and 23%, respectively), especially for calorie-dense foods with high carbohydrate content (33%-45% preference) [135]. The study also utilized continuous blood sampling to monitor levels of leptin and ghrelin throughout a 24-hour period. Compared to the sleep extension group, the sleep restricted group had 18% decreased 24-hour mean serum leptin and 28% increased mean serum ghrelin—both changed in a manner favoring increased food intake [135]. It was suggested that the decrease in leptin could be due to impaired signaling of energy balance or an adaptative response to increased energy requirements due to extended wakefulness, but the study did not measure energy intake nor energy expenditure, aspects of energy balance critical in the role of endocrine signaling by leptin and ghrelin. A later report in which caloric intake and activity levels were controlled showed that, compared to six days of extended sleep (9 hours), six days of restricted sleep (~4 hours) resulted in 19% decreased 24-hour mean serum leptin [136]. These findings helped establish that sleep modulates the neuroendocrine control of hunger and appetite. Indicating energy state from the periphery, leptin and ghrelin work within the ARC to promote or inhibit subsequent food intake. However, hunger is thought to be driven more by homeostatic endocrine signaling mechanisms, while appetite is understood to be motivated more by hedonic reward pathways.

1.3.3 Appetite and Reward Systems

Eating in the absence of hunger has been explained by various motivational states including boredom, stress, and fatigue, among others. These states are influenced less by homeostatic drivers (i.e., endocrine signaling), and more so by the mesolimbic reward system. Neighboring the hypothalamus, in the ventral striatum, is the nucleus accumbens (NAc), a target-site of the mesolimbic dopaminergic pathway projecting from the ventral tegmental area, and to which mesolimbic transmission of dopamine regulates motivation and desire for rewarding stimuli [137]. It follows then that activation of neurons projecting from the LH to the NAc may also mediate sensitivity to reward, particularly to that of food. Further, the cortex communicates with both the LH and NAc to influence food intake and choice via processes such as decision making, emotional response, and memory [108, 138, 139]. Brain imaging studies have indeed shown that in lean and obese individuals reward systems are differentially activated in response to food cues. Stoeckel et al. utilized fMRI to investigate activation of reward system and associated brain regions in response to images of high- and low-calorie foods in 12 obese and 12 lean women [140]. Analysis revealed that images of high-calorie foods elicited greater responses in all but one brain region of interest in obese women compared to lean women, and that high-calorie foods stimulated more overall brain activation than low-calorie foods in obese subjects compared to lean women [140]. fMRI has also been used show that sleep restriction not only increases neuronal activity in response to food stimuli, but also increases activity in areas associated with reward. Specifically, in lean healthy subjects, highly-palatable food stimuli (sweet and/or savory foods) elicited greater activation within the insular cortex than did healthy food stimuli (e.g., fruits and vegetables) after a period of sleep restriction [141, 142]. Thus, different metabolic states (lean vs obese), as well as different amounts of sleep, are associated with distinct activation patterns within the reward system when presented with food cues. The reward

system in mammals can be further probed by examining the endocannabinoid system.

1.4 The Endocannabinoid System

While the appetite inducing effects of cannabis have been known for centuries, the identification of the active molecule Δ^9 -tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) did not occur until much later [143]. It was through pharmacological studies of the active compounds in cannabis and the mechanisms by which they act that the cannabinoid receptors were discovered, to be followed by the discovery of endogenous cannabinoid receptor ligands and their metabolic enzymes thereafter [143]. These endogenous cannabinoid molecules (2-arachidonoylglycerol, or 2-AG; N-arachidonoylethanolamine, or AEA), aptly named endocannabinoids (eCBs), the cannabinoid receptors (CB1 and CB2), and the enzymes involved in endocannabinoid synthesis and hydrolysis constitute what has been known as the endocannabinoid system (ECS). Since the identification of the ECS, research has led to an understanding that it plays significant roles in mediating various aspects of physiology and behavior [144].

For decades, brain reward processes have been considered to be under the control of endogenous dopaminergic and opioid systems. It is now understood that central CB1 activation enhances the activity of the brain reward system [145-147]. Cannabinoids stimulate appetite by activating the central ECS, though neuronal targets are not limited to the arcuate nucleus in the lateral hypothalamus; neuronal systems involved in mediating reward also express the CB1 receptor [148-150]. Furthermore, circulating endocannabinoid concentrations increase with fasting and energy deficit, such as following exercise, suggesting an increased motivation for food-derived reward [151]. These findings further implicate the endocannabinoid system in the regulation of appetite and feeding behavior. Given the highly rewarding nature of palatable foods, evidence suggests that activation of reward pathways by palatable food stimuli in the satiated state promotes food intake motivated by food-derived reward, or hedonic eating, which has also been shown to be associated with enhanced plasma ghrelin and 2-AG [152, 153]. The highly rewarding nature of palatable foods (i.e., sweet and fatty) are significant motivating factors in food-seeking during periods of energy deficit, but has now become a factor contributing to the development of obesity and diabetes. Indeed, several studies have shown that increased levels of circulating eCBs as well as tissue eCB concentrations are positively correlated with BMI in both humans and rodents [154].

CB1 receptor antagonists and inverse agonists have been shown to successfully decrease food intake [155]. One drug in particular, a CB1 inverse agonist known as rimonabant (SR141716), showed great promise as an anorectic anti-obesity drug. While the drug succeeded in reducing food intake by suppressing appetite, its inhibitive effects on motivation and desire for reward were reported to cause severely depressive symptoms and even suicide [24, 25]. Ultimately, rimonabant's status as a treatment for obesity was suspended due to these serious psychiatric side-effects. Since then, research into CB1 activation and antagonism outside of the CNS has expanded to mitigate psychiatric side-effects. Indeed, it is known that CB1-deficient mice are resistant to diet-induced obesity (DIO), but it has recently been shown that adipocyte-specific inducible deletion of the CB1 receptor protects against DIO in mice on a high-fat diet (HFD), and reverses the phenotype

in already obese mice [156]. Additional studies in peripheral tissues, particularly adipose tissue, and their analogous cell-lines have shown that peripheral CB1 targeting could be an effective strategy for sustained and clinically significant treatment for obesity and its metabolic complications [154, 157-159].

Besides THC and endocannabinoids, CB1 receptors also bind synthetic cannabimimetic compounds, for example WIN 55,212-2, which produce effects similar to those of cannabinoids but have an entirely different molecular structure. The CB1 receptor is a membrane-bound G protein-coupled receptor (GPCR), with ligand binding associated with activation of the Gai subunit. The classical signaling mechanism for Gai is inhibition of cyclic-adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) dependent pathways through inhibition of adenylyl cyclase. CB1 is considered one of the most abundant GPCRs in the central nervous system (CNS), but is also found in neurons of the peripheral nervous system (PNS) and metabolically active tissues such as the liver, kidneys, GI tract, pancreas, and adipose tissues adipose tissue [160]. CB1 receptors appear to mediate most, if not all of the psychoactive effects of cannabinoids, and have a characteristic distribution in the nervous system: It is particularly enriched in cortex, hippocampus, hypothalamus, amygdala, basal ganglia outflow tracts, and cerebellum-a distribution that corresponds to the most prominent behavioral effects of cannabis [161]. Perhaps due to these effects, much of our understanding of the ECS has come from investigating its role in the nervous system. In the nervous system, eCBs act as retrograde inhibitors that suppress the release of neurotransmitters from presynaptic neurons through presynaptic CB1 activation [162]. The synthesis and release of eCBs from the postsynaptic neuron has been shown to be calcium dependent [163]. Whether these mechanisms hold up in the peripheral ECS have only recently begun to be elucidated.

Centrally, the ECS regulates food intake via the hypothalamus; in the periphery, the ECS mediates energy metabolism through action in metabolically active tissues [157, 164]. Strong associations between a highly active ECS and obesity have been shown, with adipocyte CB1 expression and circulating endocannabinoid levels higher in subjects with obesity relative to their non-obese counterparts [154]. Differential expression or modulation of the activity of ECS enzymes can also impact ECS tone to affect health and disease. For example, mice lacking FAAH (fatty acid amide hydrolase), which is the primary hydrolytic enzyme of AEA, have higher high-fat food consumption, gained more weight and adipose tissue, and showed signs of insulin resistance compared to controls [165].

As previously discussed, sleep plays a major role in regulating food intake and even food choice [166]. Lack of sleep leads to increased hunger and appetite due in part to changes in leptin and ghrelin levels favoring increased food intake. More recent studies have demonstrated that sleep restriction also affects endocannabinoid levels. In a randomized crossover study comparing four nights of normal sleep (8.5 hours) to four nights of restricted sleep (4.5 hours) in healthy young adults, Hanlon et al. examined the 24-hour profiles of circulating 2-AG. Levels of leptin, ghrelin, and food intake, as well as ratings for hunger and appetite, were assessed [167]. In both sleep conditions, there was a daily variation of 2-AG concentration with a nadir during the middle of the sleep period and a peak in the early afternoon. However, sleep restriction resulted in an amplified 2-AG profile with a delayed,
yet greater, maximum value. Additionally, in line with previous reports, leptin was found to be decreased following sleep restriction compared to normal sleep, and ghrelin showed an overall elevated concentration over the 24-hour period during sleep restriction relative to normal sleep, even after meals. Moreover, under conditions of sleep restriction, subjects reported increases in hunger and appetite concurrent with the afternoon elevation of 2-AG levels and pre-prandial ghrelin levels, and were observed to consume more calories from palatable snacks after lunch compared to normal sleep conditions [167].

Circadian profiles of serum leptin, ghrelin, and 2-AG have also been investigated within the context of obesity. 24-hour blood sampling has shown that in lean adults serum concentrations of 2-AG vary throughout the day. Controlling for food intake, light-dark cycles, and sleep opportunity, Hanlon et al. showed that 2-AG levels increased during the morning to a peak in the midafternoon, and declined to a nadir during midsleep, coincident with the middle of the overnight fast [168]. Similarly, leptin was at its lowest upon waking, and rose over the course of the day with a peak during early sleep. Ghrelin also varied throughout the day, exhibiting pre-prandial rise, postprandial decline, and peak levels during the overnight fast [168]. In a later study, Hanlon et al. demonstrated that the circadian profile 2-AG is altered in obesity. Compared to nonobese adults, the amplitude of 2-AG was dampened (i.e., the profile was flatter) and the timings of the nadir and peak were delayed by 4 to 5 hours, indicating significant circadian misalignment [169]. Interestingly, the circadian profile of leptin was not significantly different in obese adults compared to nonobese adults, though the serum concentrations were significantly higher, as expected.

These findings suggest that obesity is associated with altered endocannabinoid system activity, which may play a role in the pathophysiology of obesity.

1.5 Insulin Signaling and Resistance

Insulin is the primary hormone responsible for signaling the cells of the body to increase glucose uptake and shift energy utilization towards storage. A key role of insulin in fat and muscle is to promote glucose uptake shortly after a meal to reduce blood glucose levels and provide essential fuel for these organs. Following a meal, in response to elevated blood glucose and levels of other metabolites, pancreatic β -cells secrete insulin to coordinate systemic glucose homeostasis. This homeostasis is driven by tissue insulin sensitivity, which, at a systemic level, describes the efficiency of a given concentration of insulin to normalize blood glucose levels. This physiological mechanism involves several processes across multiple organs, including suppression of liver and adipocyte energy mobilization (glycogenolysis and lipolysis, respectively), and enhanced glucose and fatty acid uptake into liver, muscle, and adipocytes. These cellular processes are regulated by insulin-dependent signal transduction [170].

Insulin signaling begins with binding and activation of the insulin receptor by insulin, followed by a cascade of phosphorylation and dephosphorylation events, second-messenger generation, and protein-protein interactions that result in diverse metabolic events in almost every tissue [170]. There are a number of downstream pathways that are regulated by insulin receptor activity, but most pathways involved in regulating cellular energy metabolism act through Akt [170]. Overall, insulin action serves to suppress catabolic metabolism and

promote anabolic metabolism (energy uptake, synthesis, and storage). Insulin stimulates glucose uptake by inducing the translocation of GLUT-4 storage vesicles to the plasma membrane, an event directly mediated by Akt activity. In addition, as a result of insulin action, active Akt promotes glycogen and fatty acid synthesis by phosphorylating and inactivating GSK-3 (glycogen synthase kinase-3), which facilitates the dephosphorylation and activation of glycogen synthase by PP1 (protein phosphatase-1), and phosphorylating and activating both ATP citrate lyase and SREBP-1 (sterol-response-element binding protein-1) [170]. In parallel, active Akt also suppresses gluconeogenesis and fatty acid oxidation via the phosphorylation of FOXO1 (Forkhead box protein O1), a transcription factor that regulates the expression of lipogenic and gluconeogenic genes [170, 171]. At a cellular level, insulin sensitivity can be described as the efficiency by which insulin signal transduction propagates. Insulin resistance can then be described as a degradation in transduction efficiency. This degradation can be the result of changes in the activity of positive and/or negative effectors, including the insulin receptor substrate proteins IRS1 and IRS2, various protein kinases, and protein phosphatases.

IRS1 is a convergence point for the insulin signaling pathway. It is an important docking site for both the insulin receptor and PI3k, which respectively sit directly upstream and downstream of IRS1, and is thus a major regulator of insulin sensitivity. IRS1 activity is subject to phosphorylation by multiple kinases and phosphatases, and whether IRS1 is activated or inhibited depends on the site(s) of phosphorylation [172, 173]. Tyrosine phosphorylation of IRS1 by the insulin receptor facilitates the binding of PI3k to promote the

activation of Akt and subsequent insulin signal transduction. Activation of serine/threonine kinases and phosphatases, some of which are insulin/IRS-dependent, can exert positive or negative feedback on the pathway through their actions on IRS1 [173, 174]. For example, PP2A (protein phosphatase-2A) downregulates insulin signaling by dephosphorylating and inactivating Akt, but has also been shown to upregulate insulin signaling through serine dephosphorylation of IRS1 [174-176]. Furthermore, the high levels of circulating inflammatory cytokines, free fatty acids, and insulin associated with obesity lead to the activation of several serine/threonine kinases that negatively regulate IRS1 [172].

Thus, insulin resistance can lead to a dysregulation of the metabolic processes mediated by insulin-Akt signaling, and contributes to the development of hyperglycemia, hyperlipidemia, which can further lead to atherosclerosis, fatty-liver, and ultimately T2DM.

1.6 Calcium & Energy Metabolism

1.6.1 The Role of Calcium in Energy Homeostasis and Adipocyte Function

Epidemiological findings, accounting for physical activity and caloric intake, suggest that people with high calcium intake have a lower prevalence of overweight, obesity, and insulin resistance, while lower calcium intake is associated with greater prevalence rates [177, 178]. Moreover, calcium supplementation has been shown to aid weight-loss in humans and mice with obesity while on a calorie-restricted diet, inhibit weight-gain and improve glucose homeostasis in HFD-fed mice, and inhibit weight-regain during refeeding in mice [179-182]. These findings are consistent with studies of supplemental calcium in rats [183, 184]. Another study in mice demonstrated that high calcium intake depresses levels of parathyroid and, subsequently, the conversion of 25-hydroxy cholecalciferol to 1,25-hydroxy vitamin D₃ (1,25D₃) [177]. The same study also showed that isolated primary human adipocytes treated with 1,25D₃ exhibited significant increases in intracellular calcium that were correlated with a marked inhibition of lipolysis [177]. However, the molecular connections between dietary calcium intake and metabolic improvements remain poorly understood.

Calcium (Ca²⁺) is one of the most abundant ions in the body regulating multiple cellular processes. Along with cAMP, the calcium ion is a major second messenger that differs from its counterpart in that it is neither created nor destroyed, but rather is moved around inside and outside the cell via transporters, pumps, and channels to alter its concentration. Homeostatic maintenance of intracellular calcium is accomplished by the coordination of several mechanisms and pathways that help to establish a calcium gradient and respond to changes in this gradient [185]. Changes in Ca^{2+} concentrations are detected by a wide array of Ca²⁺-binding effector proteins that work in parallel with or modulate the activity of other signaling pathways to impact cellular and systemic physiology. For example, changes in levels of intracellular Ca²⁺ drive action potentials, muscle contraction, hormone secretion, certain immune responses, and regulate enzyme activity to coordinate extracellular and intracellular signals [186]. In non-excitable cells, Ca²⁺ signaling typically results from the activation of GPCRs or tyrosine kinase receptors, which leads to phospholipase C (PLC) phosphorylation and stimulation. Calcium-dependent hydrolysis of PIP2 (phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate) by PLC produces two second messengers: IP3 (inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate) and diacylglycerol. IP3 induces Ca²⁺ release from the ER through activation of its receptor (IP3R), and diacylglycerol and Ca²⁺ then activate PKC (protein kinase-C). Downstream calcium signaling is also dependent on the activity of the protein calmodulin. Calmodulin (CaM) is a calcium-binding messenger protein that plays a fundamental role in cells through the amplification of the Ca²⁺ signal [186]. Ca²⁺ binding to calmodulin induces a conformational change to an active Ca²⁺/CaM complex. Activated calmodulin propagates Ca²⁺ signals by binding to and modulating the activity of a vast number of proteins. In particular, a major partner of the Ca²⁺/CaM complex is the Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent serine/threonine protein kinase class of enzymes (CaMKs). CaMKs have been shown to be responsible for the phosphorylation and activation of various transcription factors, enzymes, and proteins involved in numerous processes. For example, CaMKII (Ca²⁺/CaM-dependent Kinase-II) is critical for modulating cardiomyocyte contraction (heart beat) by phosphorylating several important regulatory proteins, and is essential for synaptic plasticity and memory formation [186-188].

With regard to energy homeostasis, CaMKK2 (CaMK Kinase-2 or CaMK Kinase-β, not to be confused with CaMKII) has been shown to be involved in regulation of appetite, adipocyte function, glucose homeostasis, and even immune function [189-192]. In the hypothalamus, CaMKK2 has been shown to regulate the expression of NPY and AgRP, ostensibly through the activation of AMPK (AMP-activated protein kinase). [193]. Specifically, CaMKK2-deficiency is associated with reduced hypothalamic AMPK activity and downregulation of both NPY and AgRP in NPY neurons [193]. Furthermore, intracerebroventricular injection of a CaMKK antagonist reduced food intake in wild-type mice but not in CaMKK2-deficient mice, which themselves were resistant to diet-induced weight gain and hyperglycemia [193]. These findings implicate CaMKK2 in the regulation of hunger and appetite by functioning as an AMPK kinase to promote orexigenic signaling in the hypothalamus, perhaps by modulating ghrelin action [194]. AMPK is known to plays a role in cellular energy homeostasis by activating glucose and fatty acid uptake and oxidation when cellular energy is low, and separate studies have indeed demonstrated its regulation by CaMKK2 [195-198].

CaMKK2 has further been implicated in regulating hepatic glucose metabolism and adipocyte differentiation. Acute, liver-specific knockdown of CaMKK2 of HFD-fed mice led to a reduction in blood glucose and improved glucose tolerance. Furthermore, primary hepatocytes from CaMKK2-deficient mice produced less glucose in parallel with decreased expression of gluconeogenic genes, yet also exhibited increased rates of lipogenesis and fatty acid oxidation [199]. In preadipocytes, inhibition or deletion of CaMKK2 enhanced differentiation into mature adipocytes, which could be reversed by activation of AMPK [190]. These findings suggests that CaMKK2 is involved in adipogenesis via AMPK regulation, and further illustrates a role for CaMKK2 in mediating energy homeostasis.

A mechanistic *in vitro* study in differentiated human adipocytes reported that potassium induced membrane depolarization causes an influx of Ca²⁺ that inhibits lipolysis induced by adrenergic receptor activation, adenosine receptor inhibition, adenylyl cyclase activation, and phosphodiesterase (PDE) inhibition, suggesting that calcium may mediate lipolysis through PDEs [200]. The study further demonstrated that the observed inhibition of lipolysis by increased intracellular calcium was abolished by a non-selective PDE inhibitor and a PDE3b inhibitor, but not by PDE1 or PDE4 inhibitors. Interestingly, the PI3k inhibitor wortmannin only minimally blocked the effect of calcium, suggesting that calcium may activate PDE3b by a mechanism different from that of insulin [200]. Surprisingly, however, the study also found that the antilipolytic effect was not affected by the inhibition of CaM, CaMKs, or calcineurin (CaN; a.k.a. protein phosphatase 2B; PP2b), which suggests that the effect may not rely on calcium-dependent signaling. These findings allude to a role of calcium in mediating lipolysis through PDEs, but the mechanism by which PDEs are activated by calcium is unclear. PDE1s have been well-established as Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent PDEs. The inability of PDE1 inhibitors to block the antilipolytic effect of intracellular calcium was hypothesized to be due to low basal PDE1 expression and/or activity in the differentiated adipocytes, though this was not specifically investigated [200].

Calcium channels play fundamental roles in regulating the concentration of cytosolic Ca²⁺. Cytosolic calcium rises either by influx through channels of the plasma membrane, such as such as voltage-gated Ca²⁺ channels or transient receptor potential (TRP) channels, and/or by release from intracellular stores, such as the endoplasmic reticulum or mitochondria [186]. Ca²⁺ is removed from the cytoplasm by various types of Ca²⁺ pumps, including the Ca²⁺ ATPase and Na⁺/ Ca²⁺ exchanger on the plasma membrane, the sarco/endoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ pump (SERCA) on the ER membrane, and the mitochondria Ca²⁺ uniporter on the mitochondria membrane [201-204]. Calcium signaling is also a vital function in the process of adipogenesis. Studies have shown that cytosolic Ca²⁺ is increased in 3T3-L1 preadipocytes

after treatment with Ca²⁺-ATPase inhibitor thapsigargin, which in turn inhibits adipocyte differentiation [205, 206]. This is consistent with reports of enhanced calcineurin activity inhibiting 3T3-L1 differentiation [207, 208]. Similarly, extracellular Ca²⁺ has been shown mediate adipogenesis, with low extracellular levels promoting and high levels suppressing differentiation of 3T3-L1 preadipocytes [209]. This is consistent with studies in rodents fed a calcium supplemented diet [179-181, 183, 184].

Voltage-gated calcium (CaV) channels are one of the major calcium-permeable channels. CaV channels are known to play roles in the release of neurotransmitters in neurons and in the differentiation and function of adipocytes [210]. Blocking of L-type (high-voltageactivated) CaV channels was shown to inhibit high-extracellular-Ca²⁺-stimulated adipogenesis of porcine bone-marrow stem cells (BMSCs) [182]. In addition, inhibition of Ttype (low-voltage-activated) CaV channels was shown to reduce the proliferation of preadipocytes and HFD-induced weight-gain in mice [211].

1.6.2 Transient Receptor Potential (TRP) Channels

The transient receptor potential superfamily of cation channels constitutes another major class of calcium-permeable channels that are ubiquitously expressed in mammalian tissues, including adipose tissue. TRP channels have a variety of physiological functions, such as detection of various mechanical and chemical stimuli in sensory signal transduction such as vision, hearing, olfaction, taste, touch, pain, and thermo-sensation [212]. The TRP superfamily is further classified into TRPV (Vanilloid), TRPA (Ankyrin), TRPC (Canonical), TRPP (Polycystic), TRPM (Melastatin), TRPN (NomPC), and TRPML (Mucolipin), according to their primary amino acid sequences [212-215]. Numerous studies and review articles further suggest that several TRP channels are involved in regulating energy homeostasis and adipocyte function, and most of these functions are mediated by alterations in intracellular Ca²⁺ levels or in the activity the calcium signaling pathway [216-225]. Within the context of energy homeostasis and obesity, the most well-studied TRPs are the TRPVs. Although most members of the TRPV family are modestly permeable to Ca²⁺, they may play different roles in the body due to their differences in structure and distribution.

Since the first report of its cloning in 1997, TRPV1 was the first TRPV identified and has been studied extensively as a potential drug target for a variety of applications [226-229]. Also known as the capsaicin receptor, TRPV1 is associated with pain and temperature regulation. Capsaicin is the active ingredient in chili peppers that produces a sensation of heat and burning in any tissue with which it comes into contact. Its involvement in pain management has been leveraged as a therapeutic mechanism: suppression of nociception and induction of analgesia are achieved by TRPV1 desensitization (such as by topical capsaicin creams) or antagonism [230]. Besides capsaicin, TRPV1 is also activated by temperatures above 42°C [229, 231]. Several studies also confirm that TRPV1 plays a key role in regulating adipocyte function and energy homeostasis: TRPV1 activation by capsaicin induces Ca2+ influx, inhibits differentiation, and promotes lipolysis in 3T3-L1 adipocytes [232-234]; Differentiation of 3T3-L1 cells results in elevated TRPV1 expression [234]; TRPV1-deficiency exacerbates obesity and promotes insulin resistance in mice [235]; Chronic dietary capsaicin prevents weight-gain in wild-type, but not TRPV1-deficient mice, even when fed a HFD [232,

233, 236]; Long-term dietary capsaicin mitigates the effects of HFD, promotes weight-loss, and prevents weight-regain in mice [236]; Capsaicin promotes adipocyte browning [237, 238]; Adipose tissue of HFD-fed mice and of humans with obesity have reduced TRPV1 expression [232, 236]. Together, these data from multiple studies corroborate a significant role of TRPV1 in regulating energy homeostasis, and suggest that TRPV1 activation and resulting calcium influx promotes energy expenditure through browning and increased thermogenesis.

However, some studies have reported opposing findings. Knockout of TRPV1 was shown to protect against diet-induced obesity (DIO) and its negative effects on blood pressure and markers of inflammation [239, 240]. Furthermore, TRPV1 antagonists have been shown to improve insulin resistance in mice with diabetes [241]. These contradictory results highlight the complexity of the role TRPV1 in regulating energy homeostasis. However, since TRPV1 ligands can exert potent effects in other tissues, results from dietary intervention may be confounded and thus may not reflect the true function of TRPV1.

TRPV2 shows a 50% sequence homology with TRPV1, yet it cannot be activated by capsaicin. TRPV2 is probably the least-understood member of the TRPV subfamily. Existing data on the role of TRPV2, while limited, suggest that it plays a role in adipocyte function. Sun et al. showed that TRPV2-deficient mice on HFD gain have significantly larger white and brown adipose tissue depots than wild-type mice. Additionally, activation of TRPV2 has been found to suppress differentiation of murine brown preadipocytes and 3T3-L1 preadipocytes [234, 242]. One of these studies, also showed that TRPV2 expression was higher in differentiated 3T3-L1 adipocytes compared to preadipocytes, and also higher in the

subcutaneous WAT of DIO mice [234]. These findings suggest that TRPV2 plays a role in adipogenesis.

TRPV4 is broadly expressed and was first identified as an osmolality sensor. One study reported that the amount of Ca²⁺ entering through a single TRPV4 channel is about 100fold greater than that of a single L-type CaV channel in smooth muscle tissue, highlighting TRPV4 as a major Ca²⁺ influx channel [243]. Ye et al. conducted a comprehensive investigation into the role of TRPV4 in adipocytes and adipose tissue [244]. The presence of TRPV4 in 3T3-F442A adipocytes was determined as both hypotonicity and TRPV4 agonism induced a TRPV4-dependent increase in intracellular calcium. Knockdown of TRPV4 resulted in greater thermogenic gene expression, elevated adipocyte respiration, and decreased expression of genes related to proinflammatory pathways in 3T3-F442A adipocytes [244]. Ye's group also investigated the *in vivo* role of TRPV4 in metabolism and found that TRPV4-deficient mice were resistant to the effects of HFD after 9 weeks on the diet relative to wild-type mice. Specifically, TRPV4-deficient mice gained significantly less weight, were more glucose and insulin tolerant, and their WAT had greater thermogenic gene expression, decreased proinflammatory gene expression, and greater insulin sensitivity compared to wild-type [244]. Furthermore, preadipocytes isolated from TRPV-deficient mice WAT showed a differentiation efficiency consistent with that of wild-type preadipocytes, and these differentiated primary adipocytes showed a trend in gene expression changes consistent with the results in 3T3-F422A cells [244]. Taken together, these findings suggest that TRPV4deficiency mitigates the effects of HFD due in part to increased thermogenic gene expression,

and illustrate a role in regulating metabolism that is largely in opposition to most reports of TRPV1 function. However, a later study showed that TRPV4-deficient mice were less active and significantly more susceptible to DIO than wild-type mice [245].

Relative to the previously discussed TRPV channels, TRPV6 is much more selective for calcium. TRPV6 (also known as CaT1) was first cloned from intestinal tissue, where it is highly expressed. Quantitative PCR and immunohistochemistry analyses further showed that TRPV6 is localized in tissues associated with high rates of calcium absorption and transcellular transport, namely highly differentiated epithelial tissues in kidney, pancreas, placenta, mammary tissue, and throughout the gastrointestinal tract [246-249]. A recent geneexpression study of 3T3-L1 cells showed elevated TRPV6 expression after differentiation, though additional evidence for the involvement of TRPV6 in metabolism has been limited [234].

TRPA1 is a member of the Ankyrin subfamily of TRP channels. Like TRPV1, TRPA1 is known to be involved in nociception and thermo-sensing, and has been shown to be coexpressed with TRPV1 in sensory nerve endings [250]. However, it is different in that it is a more versatile "chemo-sensor" in that that can be activated by various naturally occurring chemicals including thymol, menthol, nicotine, gingerol, cinnamaldehyde, allicin, oleuropein aglycone (a major compound in extra virgin olive oil), and allyl isothiocyanate (AITC, the active compound in wasabi, horseradish, and mustard oil). These characteristics led to the TRPA1 being known as the wasabi receptor. Studies have shown that TRPA1 is involved in adipocyte thermogenesis and energy metabolism [251]. Lo et al. found that differentiation of 3T3-L1 preadipocytes was suppressed by AITC, and that dietary administration of AITC to DIO mice on HFD reduced weight-gain, hepatic lipid accumulation, and white adipocyte size [252]. Camacho et al. demonstrated a similar effect of dietary cinnamaldehyde in DIO mice on HFD, with the additional finding of increased expression of genes related to fatty acid beta oxidation [253]. A study in DIO rats showed that dietary and IV-administered oleuropein aglycone enhanced UCP1 (uncoupling protein-1) in BAT and reduce visceral adipose tissue mass by stimulating norepinephrine secretion [254]. Similar results have been reported for AITC and cinnamaldehyde administration [251]. These findings bear resemblance to studies of TRPV1, which taken together suggest that TRPA1 and TRPV1 may regulate energy homeostasis via the sympathetic nervous system.

An abundance of evidence confirms the involvement of TRP channels in regulating metabolism and adipocyte function. Despite some contradictory findings, the majority of reports point to TRPs altering intracellular calcium to affect energy metabolism.

1.6.3 Interactions Between Calcium, cAMP, and Insulin Signaling

cAMP signaling is tightly related to calcium signaling, and their intricate regulation contributes to the activation of a wide array of downstream signaling events. The activity of adenylyl cyclase is regulated by G-proteins (G α s activates; G α i inhibits) and forskolin (a direct activator), but can also be both directly (via Ca²⁺ binding) and indirectly (Ca²⁺/CaM/CaMKs/CaN/PKC) influenced by Ca²⁺ [255]. There are nine membrane-bound adenylyl cyclase (AC) isoforms in mammals (AC1-9), each with isoform-specific regulation by Ca²⁺ and G $\beta\gamma$ (Table 1.1).

Isoform	Activation	Inhibition		
AC1	Ca ²⁺ /CaM or PKC	CaMKs, CaN, G $\beta\gamma$, or Ca ²⁺ binding		
AC2	PKC or Gβγ	Ca ²⁺ binding		
AC3	Ca ²⁺ /CaM or PKC	CaMKs, CaN, G $\beta\gamma$, or Ca ²⁺ binding		
AC4	no data	PKC or Ca ²⁺ binding		
AC5	ER-Ca ²⁺ depletion-STIM1 binding	Ca ²⁺ binding		
AC6	ER-Ca ²⁺ depletion-STIM1 binding	РКС		
AC7	PKC or Gβγ	Ca ²⁺ binding		
AC8	Ca ²⁺ /CaM or PKC	CaN, Gβγ, or Ca²+ binding		
AC9	CaMKs or PKC	CaN or Ca ²⁺ binding		
AC10	Ca ²⁺ binding	Ca ²⁺ binding		

Table 1.1 Regulation of AC Isoforms by Ca²⁺

AC1, AC3, and AC8 are shown to be activated via Ca²⁺/CaM or PKC, and inhibited via CaMKs (AC1 & AC3), CaN, G $\beta\gamma$, or Ca²⁺ binding. AC2, AC4, and AC7 are shown to be activated by PKC (AC2 & AC7) or G $\beta\gamma$, and inhibited by PKC (AC4) or Ca²⁺ binding. AC5 and AC6 are shown to be activated via ER-Ca²⁺ depletion-STIM1 binding (stromal interaction molecule-1, an endoplasmic reticulum calcium sensor), and are inhibited by PKC (AC6) or Ca²⁺ binding (AC5). AC9 is shown to be activated by PKC or CaMKs, and inhibited by CaN or Ca²⁺ binding. AC10 is the only soluble (non-membrane bound) isoform and is not regulated by G-proteins but is sensitive to Ca²⁺ binding and bicarbonate/pH [255]. In neurons, calcium signaling has also been shown to impact typical cAMP signaling via downstream activation of CREB (cAMP-response element binding protein) through CaMK-mediated phosphorylation of PKA [256-258].

In parallel, cAMP has been shown to modulate calcium signaling activity by regulating Ca²⁺ store release as well as extracellular Ca²⁺ influx. Both IP3 receptors and ryanodine receptors (RyR) have been shown to be phosphorylated by PKA or CaMKII,

resulting in potentiation of IP3-stimulated or RyR-mediated Ca2+ release from intracellular stores [259-261]. Another major mechanism of modulating calcium signals by cAMP involves the regulation of plasma membrane channels. The regulation of voltage-gated channels by the cAMP pathway has long been described; in fact, PKA-dependent phosphorylation has been reported to protect voltage-dependent Ca²⁺ channels from the inhibitory role exerted by PIP2 [262]. cAMP/PKA-dependent phosphorylation has also been reported to sensitize TRPV1 and TRPV2 channels in vitro. Point mutation of predicted TRPV1 phosphorylation sites greatly reduced forskolin-induced current potentiation relative to wild-type [263]. In contrast, phosphorylation by PKA of rat TRPV1 appears to reduce channel desensitization [264]. TRPV2 is another substrate of PKA, which interacts with the channel through ACBD3 (Acyl CoA binding domain protein-3), an A-Kinase anchoring protein (AKAP), and enhances TRPV2-mediated Ca²⁺ entry in response to heat [265]. These findings demonstrate that AC/cAMP signaling, in part via PKA-dependent phosphorylation, plays a role in the regulation of cytosolic calcium and calcium signaling.

cAMP signaling also plays a major role in regulating metabolism through the PKA-mediated activation of CREB proteins, which make up a family of transcriptional effectors that bind to cAMP-responsive elements in the promoter region of several metabolic genes. Of the CREB proteins, two notable examples are ATF3 and ATF4 (activating transcription factor-3 and -4, respectively), which have been shown by a growing number of studies to be involved in mediating glucose homeostasis and insulin sensitivity [266]. An early showed that, compared to wild-type, Atf3-deficient mice were resistant to DIO and had

better glucose tolerance, but had similar insulin tolerance along with similar insulinstimulated Akt phosphorylation in adipose tissue and skeletal muscle [267]. Further investigations have focused on the role of Atf3 in pancreatic islet cells, where Atf3 has been shown to regulate the expression of insulin [268]. ATF4 has been similarly described. An early study in mice showed Atf4 expression to be induced by insulin and repressed by glucocorticoids, implicating Atf4 as an anabolic transcription factor [269]. Later, Atf4deficient mice were shown to have lower percent body fat, resistance to DIO, and higher glucose and insulin tolerance than wild-type controls and the liver and skeletal muscle of these mice displayed greater basal Akt phosphorylation, and also appeared to be more responsive to insulin-induced Akt phosphorylation [270, 271]. Consistent with these findings, more recent studies have demonstrated that Atf4 and its metabolic gene targets are stimulated by mTORC1 via the Pi3k-Akt signaling pathway [272, 273]. These findings highlight the interplay of the cAMP/CREB and insulin signaling pathways within the context of obesity and T2DM, and demonstrate that despite the leaps and bounds in our understanding of these pathways, there was and is much more to learn.

There is a growing body of evidence demonstrating that cAMP, Ca²⁺-, and insulindependent pathways participate jointly and cooperatively in the modulation of cell functions. As previously discussed, a major effect of insulin signaling is the suppression of cAMP action through the activation of PDEs. Calcium signaling may modulate this effect through the Ca²⁺/CaM-dependent activation of PDE1s to potentiate it or activation of adenylyl cyclase to attenuate it. Alternatively, Ca²⁺/CaN can dephosphorylate Akt and suppress insulin signaling to facilitate the activation of cAMP/PKA/CREB signaling, which in turn can be calciummediated. As we continue discover more about the interplay between these molecular mechanisms and the cross-talk and feedback between the cascades of these pathways, a clearer picture of metabolism develops, though it also becomes ever more complex.

1.6.4 Modulation of TRP Channels by Cannabinoids

Interestingly, cannabinoids have been known to inhibit N-type voltage-gated calcium channels in cell lines and neurons to mediate neuropathic pain, but more recent studies have further demonstrated that cannabinoids interact with target TRP channels and modulate cellular metabolism [274]. Many diseases involve TRP channel dysfunction, including neuropathic pain, inflammation, respiratory disorders, and obesity. In the pursuit of new treatments for these disorders, it was discovered that TRPV and TRPA channels can be modulated by several endogenous, phytogenic, and synthetic cannabinoids. Upon activation, calcium preferentially moves through the channel, enters the cell, and stimulates a series of calcium-dependent processes that ultimately lead to desensitization of the channel. Upon desensitization, the channel enters a refractory period in which it can no longer respond to further stimulation, leading to the paradoxical analgesic effect of cannabinoid compounds [275].

The first endogenous agonist of TRPV1 to be identified was the endocannabinoid anandamide (AEA) [276]. Additionally, THC, perhaps the most well-known cannabinoid, has been shown to act most potently on TRPV2, moderately on TRPV4 and TRPA1, but is not reported to modulate TRPV1. In comparison, cannabidiol (CBD) has much lower affinity for the CB1 and CB2 receptors, but is reported to act on TRPV1 [277]. Moreover, the synthetic cannabinoid WIN 55,212-2 is a potent CB1 agonist that has been shown to act on and desensitize TRPV1 and TRPA1 to exert analgesic effects [278].

Based on the history and background laid out in this introduction, there are several hypotheses that have become the object of active research. Regarding the effects of bariatric surgery, it is known that food intake and nutrient absorption are dramatically reduced. However, such a state would typically stimulate insatiable hunger. Yet, bariatric surgery patients commonly report having little hunger or appetite. This thesis aimed to compare the hunger and appetite of sleeve gastrectomy patients before and after surgery to assess with greater resolution the changes in feelings and motivation for food.

With regard to food intake, the endocannabinoid system is a well-known stimulator of appetite for highly-palatable foods. However, it has also come to be seen as a significant player in cellular and molecular metabolism throughout the body. Furthermore, the mechanisms by which the endocannabinoid system functions in peripheral tissues to regulate metabolism are poorly understood. To that end, this thesis aimed to explore the role of cannabinoid action in adipose tissue.

CHAPTER 2:

IMPACT OF VERTICAL SLEEVE GASTRECTOMY ON SUBJECTIVE HUNGER AND APPETITE RATINGS AND ENDOCRINE HORMONES

2.1 Introduction

Recent Centers for Disease Control & Prevention estimates report that over 40% American adults have obesity [4], which confers elevated risk of co-morbidities associated with metabolic syndrome like diabetes, cardiovascular disease, cancer, impaired sleep, and depression [4, 8-12]. It is recommended that adults with obesity adopt traditional lifestyle modifications including exercise, healthy diets, and moderate caloric restriction to manage weight [279]. While these strategies can indeed have a profound impact on metabolic health, weight-loss is modest at best, and long-term weight-loss remains difficult to maintain through these methods alone [5]. Moreover, past pharmacological interventions have largely failed as long-term solutions owing to a host of negative side-effects, contraindications, lack of effectiveness, and poor adherence [23-27]. Thus, bariatric surgery (also known as weightloss surgery) is widely prescribed for those with class II obesity with co-morbidities and class III, IV, and V obesity, and is extremely effective in reducing body weight and reducing obesity-related risk factors for co-morbidities [40, 41]. The impact of bariatric surgery on body weight is driven by physical alteration of the gastrointestinal tract to: restrict food intake through partial resection of the stomach by vertical sleeve gastrectomy (VSG) surgery, and decrease caloric absorption through intestinal shortening by the Roux-en-Y Gastric Bypass procedure [280, 281]. These anatomical modifications facilitate a marked reduction in caloric intake while also resulting in a significant change in the secretion of gut hormones [282]. Remarkably, improvements have been observed in as little as 72 hours after surgery to hormones responsible for regulating energy homeostasis as well as hunger and appetite [283].

A major axis expected to be perturbed following VSG is the regulation of energy homeostasis by the endocrine hormones: leptin and ghrelin. Leptin is secreted predominantly by adipose tissue in proportion to the amount of lipids stored [284], and is also produced by epithelial chief cells in the lower half of the gastric mucosa fundus [285]. Leptin has a wide repertoire of peripheral effects, mediated indirectly through the central nervous system as well as via direct actions on target tissues. In contrast, ghrelin is secreted in pulses across the day from specialized cells in the stomach and the upper small intestine [286, 287]. The regulatory axis of these two hormones is considered to be exerted through the regulatory role of activated acyl-ghrelin to, respectively, inhibit or stimulate satiety through differential activity of the melanocortin-4 receptor [288, 289]. Progressive weight-loss through caloric restriction has been observed to lead to a decline in the levels of serum leptin as a result of decreased adipose tissue mass [79]. Conversely, VSG, despite the caloric restriction, has been shown to lower serum ghrelin levels at the short-term and long-term follow-up, and it has been postulated that a majority of ghrelin cells are removed during surgery [290, 291]. The simultaneous decline of both hormones in the axis leads to an unclear understanding of how hunger and appetite may be affected by VSG surgery. With that said, it is still not completely clear if bariatric surgery impacts hunger and appetite [292].

Hunger is thought to be driven more by homeostatic endocrine signaling mechanisms, while appetite is understood to be motivated more by hedonic reward pathways. Bariatric surgery may alter the hedonic or rewarding properties of food and that may contribute to changes in hunger, appetite, food preference, and actual consumption [293-295]. The decline in food intake following VSG may also result from the combination of food capacity restriction and alterations in circulating endocrine hormones in opposition to food intake in line with reports confirming overall increased satiety and reduced appetite following bariatric surgery [296, 297].

The purpose of the current study was to examine the relationship between active weight-loss, subjective ratings of hunger and appetite across a day, and fasting levels of the hormones leptin and ghrelin in women undergoing laparoscopic VSG surgery. At the time of the study, VSG was the most common bariatric surgical procedure performed in the hospital, and women accounted for 80% of the patients undergoing the procedure. We aimed to determine how subjects' baseline and post-surgical ratings of hunger and appetite differ throughout the day after VSG surgery compared to fasting leptin and ghrelin levels. We hypothesized that, at twelve weeks post-surgery, before sustained weight loss has been achieved, subjective ratings of hunger and appetite would be reduced overall compared to pre-surgical baseline ratings. In addition, we examined the influence of fasting ghrelin activity and caloric intake on subjective hunger and appetite ratings, and hypothesized that these ratings would be impacted less by ghrelin activity and more by caloric intake.

2.2 Materials and Methods

The studies were approved by the Institutional Review Board of The University of Chicago (IRB#14-0984), and all participants were compensated for their participation. All participants provided written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

2.2.1 Subject Characteristics

Screening of potential subjects and the process of enrollment into the clinical study was conducted as previously described [298]. VSG was the most common bariatric surgical procedure performed at the University of Chicago and so we only enrolled those underdoing this type of bariatric surgery. Further, women accounted for 80% of patients undergoing the procedure and thus we have only included women in the current study in order to achieve sufficient power for analysis. Fourteen women with class II obesity with co-morbidities or class III, IV, or V obesity were voluntarily enrolled following approval and scheduling for laparoscopic VSG surgery. Subjects were screened for the absence of malignant physiological or endocrine conditions, pregnancy, and irregular lifestyles. Sleep was monitored by polysomnography to rule out sleep-related disorders and to ensure obstructive sleep apnea was, at minimum, adequately controlled with continuous positive airway pressure. Deidentified subject characteristics can be found in Table 2.1.

Subjects	N = 1	0	Mea	an Age	(years)	37 ± 10.1
Race	8 AA	, 2 NHW	Mea	an Heig	,ht (cm)	168.4 ± 4.6
Bion	netric	Timepoir	nt	Mean	SEM	p-value
Weigh	t (kg)	Baseline		129.9	± 5.1	
		Post-surg	ery	109.5	± 5.3	1.2E-09
BMI (k	g/m²)	Baseline		45.6	± 1.8	
		Post-surg	ery	38.3	± 1.9	1.2E-08
Wais	t:Hip	Baseline		0.924	± 0.021	
		Post-surg	ery	0.886	± 0.030	0.28
Body Fa	at (%)	Baseline		53.5	$\pm 0.8\%$	
		Post-surg	ery	48.5	±1.2%	2.4E-05

Table 2.1 Deidentified Subject Characteristics

AA: African-American; NHW: Non-Hispanic White. Height and age were measured at intake screening appointment. Weight was measured with subject vitals at each intake appointment. Subject BMI, waist:hip ratio, and percent body fat mass were recorded the mornings of baseline and post-surgery laboratory sessions. Statistical significance calculated by two-tailed paired T-Test.

2.2.2 Laboratory Sessions

Subjects were admitted to the University of Chicago Medicine Clinical Resource Center at 1-2 weeks prior to the scheduled surgery date (baseline) and 12-13 weeks following surgery (post-surgery). Individuals were studied at 12-13 weeks post-surgery because at this time point there are no longer post-surgery food restrictions (patients can again eat whatever food types they like) and during active weight loss, rather than after a stable new weight has been achieved. Height and age were recorded at baseline screening appointments. Weight was recorded with subject vitals at both intake appointments. Bioimpedance was assessed using the Quantum X BIA analyzer validated in this population as previously described [299]. BMI, percent body fat mass, and waist:hip ratios were recorded during the morning of baseline and post-surgery in-lab sessions. In-lab sessions were structured as previously reported [298]. During in-lab sessions, four isocaloric mini-meals were provided per day. Total calories offered to each subject during baseline sessions was determined according to the Mifflin-St. Jeor equation [300]. At post-surgery lab sessions, all subjects were offered 1000 kcal per day distributed over four mini-meals of 250 kcal each. While the pre-surgery meals were calculated and presented based on individual caloric need, the fixed caloric content of the post-surgery meals was presented based on post-surgical guidelines. At 12 weeks postsurgery, patients are instructed to eat around 1000 kcal per day, thus our presentation of four mini-meals of 250 kcal each. A registered dietitian from the Clinical Resource Center Metabolic Kitchen supervised the preparation of all meals. Subjects were not allowed to consume any foods or beverages that were not provided by the metabolic kitchen, and were given thirty minutes to eat. If the entire meal was not consumed, leftover food was weighed to determine calories and macronutrients consumed (Table 2.2). For both sessions, minimeals were served at 0900, 1230, 1530, and 1900 hours.

2.2.3. Fasting Serum and Plasma Hormone Levels

Morning fasting blood samples were collected by nursing staff in gold top, serum separator tubes. Acylated ghrelin and total ghrelin were measured via ELISA (Millipore Sigma EZGRT-89K, EZGRA-88K) with a lower limit of detection of 8 pg/mL and CV of 3.5-6.6%. Leptin was measured via radioimmunoassay (Millipore Sigma HL-81K) with a lower limit of detection of 0.5 ng/mL and CV of 3.6-6.2%.

2.2.4. Assessment of Hunger & Appetite

During laboratory sessions, subjects completed four validated, computerized visual

analog scales (VAS) to assess hunger and appetite at eight time points: 25 minutes before, and 1hour and 35 minutes after each of the four mini-meals. With computerized VAS (0cm, "Not at all", to 10cm, "Extremely" or "A very large amount"), subjects scored their hunger and appetite based on the following questions: 1) "How hungry do you feel right now?", 2) "How thirsty do you feel right now?", 3) "How full does your stomach feel right now?", 4) "How strong is your desire to eat right now?", 5) "How much do you think you could eat right now?", and 6) "How nauseated do you feel right now?".

To assess appetite at each time point, subjects used a computerized VAS (0cm, "Not at all", to 10cm, "Very much") to rate how much they would enjoy eating foods, at the time of the questionnaire, from 7 different categories. The appetite questionnaire was prompted as follows: "Please answer the following questions based on how you feel at this very moment. Based only on your appetite right now, without concern for calories, fat or a 'healthy diet', how much would you enjoy eating foods from each of the following 7 categories?: 1) SWEETS such as cake, candy, cookies, ice cream, pastry; 2) SALTY FOODS such as chips, slated nuts, pickles; 3) STARCHY FOODS such as bread, pasta, cereal, potatoes; 4) FRUITS & FRUIT JUICES; 5) VEGETABLES; 6) MEAT, POULTRY, FISH, OR EGGS; 7) DAIRY PRODUCTS such as milk, cheese, or yogurt." Composite appetite results were computed arithmetically by summation of the respective basic appetite categories. Composite appetite categories were: A) Global Appetite: all 7 categories; B) High Carb-High-Fat: categories 1 & 2; C) High Carb-Low-Fat: categories 3, 4, & 5; D) Sweet & Starchy: categories 1 & 3; and E) High Protein: categories 6 & 7.

2.2.5. Mixed Model Construction

Mixed modeling was utilized to estimate the degree of difference in ratings between baseline and post-surgery. Model fitting was conducted using the R package *lme4* [301]. In order to ensure that the dependence derived from time series collection was accounted for in the statistics, the random vector was a simple intercept set as the Subject Identification Number. Experimental ratings were unaltered at entry into the data set.

The surgery-associated parsimonious model was calculated by using surgery as a binomial variable (Pre [0], Post [1]) and iterative inclusion of factors representing potential corrections for: 1) age (integer, years), 2) pre-surgery weight loss, 3) post-surgery weight loss, or 4) time of day. Given the known effect of meals to affect hunger and appetite, we represented time of day as the best combination of factors including 1) prandial (binomial, pre-meal [0], post-meal [1]); and 2) time point (integer, $\{1, 2, ..., 8\}$), meal (integer, $\{1, 2, 3, 4\}$), latter part of day (binomial, first half [0], latter half [1]). To allow for correction by weight loss, it was held constant for all respective points of a given subject. An enhanced model was chosen by: 1) an improved Akaike Information Criterion of the N+1 model (compared to N model without the addition of the factor), 2) each factor effect has low Type S error rate (p < 0.05), and low inflation of standard error of estimation (< 50%).

2.3 Results

2.3.1. Laboratory Session Calorie & Macronutrient Intake

Ten of the fourteen women enrolled in the study completed a minimum of 5 out of 8 surveys during both baseline and post-surgery lab sessions to be analyzed in the study.

Following screening, subjects participated in two lab sessions: 1-2 weeks before (baseline) and 12-13 weeks after VSG surgery. Post-surgery, subjects consumed on average significantly fewer calories per day than at baseline (p = 2.7E-06), and also fewer than the 1000 kcal offered. Average baseline quantities of protein, carbohydrates, and fat consumed represent, respectively, 18.7%, 50.1%, and 32.2% of average total calories at baseline. Post-surgery average quantities of protein, carbohydrate, and fat consumed represent, respectively, 32.3%, 41.1%, and 26.6% of average total calories at post-surgery. Total macronutrient intake was significantly decreased post-surgery (p = 9.5E-07, 1.7E-06, and 2.3E-05 for protein, carbohydrate, and fat, respectively; Table 2.2).

Macronutrient	Timepoint	Mean	SEM	p-value
Total Food Eaten (g)	Baseline	1920	±109	
	Post-surgery*	583	±76	9.7E-08
Calories (kcal)	Baseline	2223	±168	
	Post-surgery*	591	± 90	2.7E-06
Protein (g)	Baseline	103.8	± 4.9	
	Post-surgery*	48.0	±4.6	9.5E-07
Carbohydrate (g)	Baseline	278.9	± 22.4	
	Post-surgery*	60.7	± 9.5	1.7E-06
Fat (g)	Baseline	79.5	±7.3	
	Post-surgery*	17.5	± 4.6	2.3E-05

 Table 2.2 Laboratory Session Diet & Food Consumption Information

Four isocaloric meals were prepared for each subject for each day of laboratory sessions. Proportion of macronutrients matched between otherwise identical laboratory sessions at baseline or post-surgery. Total calories offered at baseline were calculated according to the Mifflin-St. Jeor equation. Subjects were given thirty minutes to eat. Leftover food was weighed to calculate calories consumed. Statistical significance calculated by two-tailed paired T-Test. *One subject received one incorrect meal the night before the full day of surveys; this data is included in the analysis.

One subject was provided an incorrect meal for their first post-surgery in-lab dinner (the night before the full day of surveys that are included in the study). Calories eaten for this meal was approximately 450kcal (~200 more kcal than intended). Data for this subject and this meal were not excluded from the analysis since calories eaten was still greatly reduced relative to corresponding pre-surgery data. We did not see an effect from removal of this data; in all cases post-surgery calories eaten was greatly reduced relative to baseline, so the observed trend was affected only somewhat. Moreover, morning fasting ratings from this subject were consistent with overall observed trends thus confirming our decision to include this individual in subsequent analysis.

2.3.2. Subjective Ratings of Hunger & Appetite

Surgery Effect

The independent effect of surgery on subjective ratings of hunger and appetite was estimated using corrected linear mixed-modeling. Surgery was revealed to significantly decrease ratings of appetite for high-carbohydrate, low-fat (HCLF) foods (p = 0.018) and of global appetite (p = 0.038; Figure 2.1A). Specifically, appetite ratings were significantly decreased for protein (p = 0.047), fruits (p = 2.7e-4), and vegetables (p = 0.023; Figure 2.1B). With regard to subjective ratings of hunger, surgery was revealed to significantly decrease ratings of thirst (p = 5.4e-3) and quantity can eat (p = 1.6e-3), and significantly increased ratings of nausea (p = 0.046; Figure 2.1C).



Figure 2.1. Hunger and appetite ratings at baseline and at post-surgery.

(A) Composite Appetite Ratings. (B) Subjective appetite ratings for various food groups. (C) Subjective hunger ratings. Survey responses were collected before and after each of four isocaloric mini-meals at baseline (black) and twelve weeks following surgery (grey stripes) for each subject (n=10). Average estimated survey responses for each survey question were estimated through mixed linear modeling with subject ID as the random intercept and the effect of surgery assigned as a fixed binomial parameter. Models corrected for effects of age, weight loss before or after surgery, and time of day relative to meals if present. Composite appetite ratings were summated, and then modelled separately. Significance of differences were determined by two-tailed t-tests with propagated parameter uncertainties. P-values were, respectively: * < 0.05, ** < 0.01 and *** < 0.001.

Weight-loss

The interaction of post-surgery weight-loss (as a percent of baseline) with subjective ratings of hunger and appetite was evaluated using linear mixed-modeling. Relative to unchanged ratings, greater weight-loss was predicted by significant decreases in average ratings of global appetite (p = 1.1e-4), appetite for high-carbohydrate, high-fat (HCHF) foods (p = 1.9e-4), HCLF foods (p = 1.9e-4), fruits & sweets (p = 2.2e-4), and high-carbohydrate foods (p = 6.8e-6; Figure 2.2A). Specifically, greater weight-loss was predicted by changes in average ratings of appetite for fruits (p = 2.2e-3 0.01) and for sweets (p = 0.043; Figure 2.2B). With regard to subjective ratings of hunger, greater weight-loss was predicted by changes in both quantity can eat (p = 6.7e-4) and nausea (p = 0.05; Figure 2.2C).



Figure 2.2 Influence of change in hunger and appetite ratings on post-surgery weight loss Correlations between change in subjective ratings of (**A**) Composite Appetite, (**B**) Various food groups, and (**C**) Hunger with weight-loss. Data from eight surveys during first day of identical laboratory sessions at baseline and after surgery. Estimated effects were computed using mixed linear modeling. Models were parameterized with random factor of Subject ID, and the univariate fixed model representing the change in response between baseline (black) to postsurgery (grey stripes) to the respective question. Significance was determined by two-tailed t-tests with propagated error rates comparing predicted weight-loss at post-surgery associated with unchanged baseline ratings to the estimated weight loss at post-surgery associated with the actual post-surgery ratings. P-values were, respectively: * < 0.05, ** < 0.01, and *** < 0.001.

Calories Eaten

The correlative relationship between subjective ratings of hunger and appetite and calories eaten was estimated using linear mixed-modeling. A significant decrease in average ratings of appetite for HCLF foods was predicted by the decrease in calories eaten (p = 0.028; Figure 2.3A). Specifically, this decrease was in ratings of appetite for fruits (p = 5.0e-3; Figure 2.3B). The decrease in calories eaten was also estimated to predict a significant decrease in ratings of quantity can eat (p = 7.6e-4) and a significant increase in ratings of nausea (p = 0.034; Figure 2.3C).





Correlations between subjective ratings and calories eaten. Data from eight surveys during first day of identical laboratory sessions at baseline and after surgery. Estimated effects were computed using mixed linear modeling. Models were parameterized with random factor of Subject ID, and a univariate fixed effect based on four-meal average of calories eaten during each laboratory session. Significance determined by two-tailed t-tests with propagated error rates comparing mean VAS responses at baseline (black) to mean VAS at post-surgery (grey stripes). P-values were, respectively: * < 0.05, ** < 0.01 and *** < 0.001.

Survey Responses Across Time

The influence of time across the day on subjective ratings of hunger and appetite was estimated using linear mixed-modeling. Time was revealed to be a significant predictor of changes in ratings of appetite for high protein (HP) foods (p = 2.9e-4), sweet & starchy (SS) foods (p = 0.046), HCLF foods (p = 7.9e-4), and of global appetite (p = 6.5e-4; Figure 2.4A). Specifically, later-in-the-day surveys could predict decreases in ratings of appetite for dairy (p = 0.017), protein (p = 5.5e-6), fruits (p = 0.023), starchy (p = 5.2e-3), salty (p = 0.045), and vegetables (p = 9.4e-4; Figure 2.4B). In parallel, time was revealed to predict significant decreases in ratings of hunger (p = 1.1e-4), thirst (p = 0.020), desire to eat (p = 7.4e-4), and quantity can eat (p = 1.2e-3). Time across the day was also shown to predict a significant increase in ratings of Satiety (p = 1.2e-6), and no significant change in ratings of nausea (Figure 2.4C).





Correlations between time across day and subjective ratings of (**A**) Composite appetite, (**B**) Appetite for various food groups, and (**C**) Hunger. Data from eight surveys during identical laboratory sessions at baseline and after surgery are represented. Estimated effects were computed using mixed linear modeling. Models were parameterized with random factor of Subject ID, and bivariate fixed effects (meal, prandial). Significance was determined by two-tailed t-tests with propagated error rates comparing responses from before the first meal (i.e., fasting; black) to responses after the last meal (i.e., end of day; white). P-values were, respectively: * < 0.05, ** < 0.01, and *** < 0.001.
Survey Responses at Baseline & Post-Surgery: Hunger

Significant changes in the difference between average ratings at baseline and postsurgery were observed for the hunger categories of hunger (p = 8.6e-3), thirst (p = 0.013), satiety (p = 0.041), and quantity can eat (p = 7.0e-5; Figure 2.5A). Specifically, the significant differences between ratings were observed early in the day (i.e., before the first meal; Fasting), with no significant differences observed between ratings after the last meal (Last; Figure 2.5B-G).



Figure 2.5 Analysis of hunger survey responses across time at baseline or post-surgery Survey responses were collected before and after each of four isocaloric mini-meals at baseline (black, BL) and twelve weeks following surgery (solid grey or grey stripes, PS). (**A**) The change in ratings of each estimated survey response from before the first meal to after the last meal is plotted. Significance of differences were determined by two-tailed t-test on the absolute change in responses. (**B-G**) Average responses were computed to estimate survey responses from before the first meal (Fasting) compared to after the last meal (Last). Mixed linear modeling was used to analyze each session data separately (n=10). Significance of differences were determined by two-tailed t-test. P-values were, respectively: * < 0.05, ** < 0.01, and *** < 0.001.

Survey Responses at Baseline & Post-Surgery: Appetite

Significant decreases in ratings of appetite at baseline and post-surgery were observed for the categories of: global appetite (p = 1.3e-3), HCLF (p = 1.6e-4), HP (p = 8.1e-5; Figure 2.6A). The specific food types for which appetite ratings were significant decreased were starchy (p = 2.4e-3), dairy (p = 0.034), protein (p = 2.5e-4), and vegetables (p = 1.3e-3; Figure 2.6B). As with hunger survey responses, significant differences between ratings at baseline and post-surgery were observed early in the day, with the addition that ratings of appetite for fruits were also significantly different after the last meal (Figures 2.6C-N).



Figure 2.6 Analysis of appetite survey responses across time at baseline or post-surgery Survey responses were collected before and after each of four isocaloric mini-meals at baseline (black, PS) and twelve weeks following surgery (grey stripes, PS). (**A**, **B**) The change in each estimated survey response from before the first meal until after the last meal is plotted. Significance of differences were determined by two-sided t-test on the absolute change in either simple or composite responses. (**C-N**) Average responses were computed to estimate fasting responses, before the first meal, and after the last meal. Mixed linear modeling was used to analyze each session data separately (n=10). Significance of differences were determined by two-tailed t-test. P-values: * < 0.05, ** < 0.01, and *** < 0.001.

2.3.3. Hormone Levels

Serum Leptin & Ghrelin

Fasting serum levels of leptin and ghrelin were assessed in 8 of the 10 subjects with subjective ratings analyzed. The percent of fasting acylated ghrelin was significantly increased post-surgery relative to baseline (p = 0.014; Figure 2.7A). In parallel, fasting serum leptin was found to be significantly decreased post-surgery (p = 6.7e-4; Figure 2.7B). Linear modeling revealed that post-surgery percent weight-loss was correlated with the changes in: fasting serum leptin (p = 1.5e-10), the fasting percent ratio of acylated to des-acylated ghrelin (p = 8.3e-3), and calories eaten (p = 5.8e-4; Figure 2.7C. The ratio of fasting leptin to total fasting ghrelin was significantly decreased post-surgery relative to baseline (p = 0.030; data not shown).





Fasting serum was collected (N = 8) during the morning prior to the first meal at baseline and at twelve weeks post-surgery. Hormones measured were: acylated ghrelin and total ghrelin via ELISA (Millipore Sigma EZGRT-89K, EZGRA-88K), and leptin via radioimmunoassay (Millipore Sigma HL-81K). (**A&B**) fasting serum hormone levels at baseline (black), or post-surgery (grey or grey stripes). Significance of differences was determined by two-tailed paired t-test with propagated error rates comparing hormone levels at baseline and at post-surgery. (**C**) Linear modeling to estimate percent weight lost using respective single fixed factor of respective hormone levels, the ratio of acyl-ghrelin to total ghrelin, or calories eaten across four meals of laboratory session at baseline (black) or post-surgery (grey stripes). Significance of differences was determined by two-tailed paired t-test with propagated error rates comparing estimated weight loss at post-surgery associated with unchanged baseline levels or with the average of actual post-surgery levels of the respective measures. P-values were: * <0.05, **, <0.01, *** <0.001.

Hunger & Appetite

The relationships between serum leptin and ghrelin levels and subjective ratings of hunger and appetite were estimated using linear mixed-modeling. Specifically, given average hormone levels at baseline and post-surgery and the association derived from the trained model, the expected survey ratings were approximated. As predicted, with weight loss and decreased percent body fat mass following VSG surgery, there was a decline in circulating leptin levels 12 weeks after surgery. The only significant difference between average baseline and post-surgery ratings that was associated with the decrease in serum leptin was for Quantity Can Eat (Figure 2.8A-C). Furthermore, no significant differences between average baseline and post-surgery ratings of hunger and appetite were predicted by the increase in the percent ratio of acylated ghrelin to des-acylated ghrelin (%AG/DAG; Figure 2.8D-F).



Figure 2.8 Influence of serum leptin and active ghrelin activity on hunger and appetite Correlations between subjective ratings and serum leptin or serum active ghrelin activity. Data from eight surveys during the first day of identical laboratory sessions at baseline and after surgery. Estimated effects were computed using mixed linear modeling. Models were parameterized with random factor of Subject ID, and a univariate fixed effect based on: (**A-C**) fasting serum leptin and (**D-F**) percent ratio of acyl-ghrelin to total ghrelin in fasting serum. Significance determined by two-tailed t-tests with propagated error rates comparing mean VAS responses at baseline (black) to mean VAS responses at post-surgery (grey stripes). P-values were, respectively: * < 0.05, ** < 0.01 and *** < 0.001.

2.4 Discussion

The current study measured changes in subjective ratings of hunger and appetite in women with obesity undergoing VSG surgery in parallel with endocrine hormones involved in the homeostatic control of hunger. As expected, subjects lost significant weight, BMI, and body fat mass in the twelve weeks following VSG surgery, and these changes were strongly correlated with reduced caloric intake as participants consumed an average of only 26.5% of the average calories consumed at baseline. However, all subjects still had obesity at twelve weeks post-surgery. In addition, while total macronutrient intake fell, protein consumption as percent of total calories was higher post-surgery, whereas carbohydrate and fat consumption as percent of total calories decreased. It is recommended for bariatric surgery patients to consume more protein relative to carbohydrate and fat in order spare lean body mass during caloric deficit, thus this finding was expected. Relative to baseline, post-surgery fasting serum levels of the hormones leptin and ghrelin were altered in favor of increased food intake, despite subjective ratings of hunger and appetite being reduced overall. As expected, fasting leptin was found to be significantly reduced post-surgery, and this change was significantly associated with a decrease in ratings for Quantity Can Eat. With regard to fasting ghrelin activity, as expressed by the percent-ratio of acylated-ghrelin to des-acylated ghrelin, %AC/DAG was significantly increased post-surgery, but this increase was not significantly associated with any changes in subjective ratings. In addition, a majority of baseline ratings of hunger and appetite were found to decline over the course of the laboratory session, but twelve weeks after surgery most ratings of hunger and appetite were found to be relatively constant over the course of the laboratory session.

We also found that, relative to baseline values, greater weight loss was associated with decreases in particular ratings of hunger and appetite. This trend was notably significant for ratings of appetite for Global Appetite, High Carb-High Fat (HCHF), High Carb-Low Fat (HCLF), Fruits, Sweets, and high carb foods. A significant trend was also seen for hunger

ratings of Quantity Can Eat and Nausea, but not for Hunger, Thirst, Satiety, or Desire to Eat. Similarly, the drop in Calories Eaten was significantly associated with decreases in ratings for HCLF, Fruits, and Quantity Can Eat, and with an increase in ratings of Nausea. Taken together, these results suggest that VSG surgery may have a greater impact on subjective appetite than on subjective hunger, and that lesser Quantity Can Eat and greater Nausea may contribute more to weight-loss and caloric intake after VSG surgery than does suppression of Hunger and increased Satiety. Although in line with previous studies observed alterations in hunger and appetite [293], these findings are somewhat surprising since, under normal conditions, it is expected that caloric restriction associated with rapid and dramatic weightloss leads to increased ratings of hunger and appetite concomitant with changes in leptin and ghrelin levels favoring food intake. This suggests that VSG surgery may mask the effects of homeostatic endocrine hormones through mechanisms not explored in the current study. Such mechanisms may involve the impact of bariatric surgery on gut-brain communication, the sympathetic nervous system, and neuroendocrine signaling.

In support of our hypothesis that subjective ratings after surgery would be overall reduced relative to baseline, we found that at twelve weeks post-VSG surgery, subjective ratings of certain hunger and appetite categories were significantly reduced when compared to ratings obtained two weeks before surgery. Most ratings of hunger and appetite indeed trended down (except for Satiety, Nausea, and Dairy), but only ratings of Thirst, Quantity Can Eat, Global Appetite, and appetite for HCLF foods were significantly lower than at baseline. Specifically, ratings of appetite for non-dairy Protein, Fruits, and Vegetables were significantly different post-surgery compared to baseline. These findings are in line with the significant reduction in caloric intake, yet are observed in spite of fasting serum leptin and ghrelin levels altered in favor of food intake.

To our knowledge, the current study is the first to examine pre- and post-prandial subjective ratings of hunger and appetite across the day in subjects before and after bariatric surgery. To evaluate the overall impact of time, we combined baseline and post-surgery survey responses and compared responses from before the first meal (fasting) to responses from after the last meal (end-of-day) of laboratory sessions. We found prior to VSG surgery that ratings in nearly all categories of hunger and appetite, with the exception of HCHF, Sweets, and Nausea, were significantly different after the last meal than before the first meal, and indicated an overall decrease in hunger and appetite across the day. In contrast, postsurgery ratings were comparatively low throughout the day, with little difference between morning fasting and end-of-day ratings. Post-surgery, there was also little difference between pre- and post-prandial ratings throughout the day (data not shown). These findings support our hypothesis that post-surgery ratings would be flat across the day, and may be attributed to ratings already being low at the start of the day. It is again notable that this is observed in spite of post-surgery fasting serum levels of leptin and ghrelin having changed in favor of food intake.

While the roles of leptin and ghrelin on feeding behavior are mostly well-understood, the effects of bariatric surgery on circulating levels of leptin and ghrelin are less established but have been reported by a number of studies [296, 302-306]. In the current study, we showed that mean fasting serum leptin twelve weeks after VSG surgery was significantly less than it was two weeks before surgery. This result can be attributed to the parallel decrease in body fat mass and weight. Interestingly, and in agreement with other reports [307-309], linear modeling revealed that percent weight lost correlates positively with the degree of change in fasting serum leptin due to a loss of energy storage in adipose tissue. The post-surgery induced decrease in hunger despite the observed decline in leptin levels could also point to a reduction in leptin resistance in these individuals. In conjunction with excess body fat mass, individuals with obesity frequently have high circulating levels of leptin that do not seemingly exert normal anorexigenic effects, thus suggesting that these individuals have become leptin resistant [310-312]. In our current study, the decrease in leptin concentration concomitant with the decrease in hunger scores may suggest that these individuals were previously leptin resistant pre-surgery, but are more leptin sensitive 12 weeks post-surgery. Perhaps post-surgery circulating leptin levels are now more effectively or adequately exerting anorexigenic effects, resulting in decreased levels of hunger. In contrast, while serum levels of acyl, des-acyl, and total ghrelin appeared to be higher post-surgery, only the percentratio %AC/DAG was significantly increased. Interestingly, when we evaluated the influence of ghrelin activity on hunger and appetite ratings, we found that the increase in the acylatedtotal ghrelin percent-ratio, was not correlated with any significant changes in subjective ratings between baseline and post-surgery sessions. These findings are particularly unusual because it would be expected that total ghrelin levels would decrease due to stomach resection, and may suggest a compensatory response during active weight loss occurring

12-weeks after surgery. Yet, given the roles of leptin and ghrelin in regulating feeding behavior, these findings would suggest that VSG surgery would subsequently promote food intake, as under normal conditions, declines in leptin and elevations in ghrelin are homeostatic responses to weight-loss and food restriction [130, 309, 313-315]. However, as we and others have shown caloric intake to indeed be significantly reduced after surgery, the impact of leptin and ghrelin on ratings and food intake may be masked or otherwise modulated by additional effects brought upon by VSG surgery. Such effects include changes in the levels of other gastrointestinal and pancreatic peptide hormones not investigated in the current study. While measurements of peptide YY (PYY), gastric inhibitory polypeptide (GIP), and glucagon-like-peptide-1 (GLP-1) would certainly be interesting to examine pre and post bariatric surgery, particularly interesting in the context of the Roux-en-Y procedure when part of the small intestine is bypassed, these measurements were outside of the scope of the current study.

Our study had some limitations: The follow-up time point was chosen at twelve weeks after VSG surgery, when subjects were in the midst of significant weight loss but before their final post-surgical weights has been reached. As such, our study provides insights on shortterm physiological mechanisms by which bariatric surgery decreases food intake, but our results may not be generalizable to longer-term maintenance of caloric restriction and weightloss. Future research should conduct longitudinal assessments on bariatric surgery subjects at regular intervals over the course of several years to track meal patterns. In addition, the current study only evaluated fasting serum hormone levels. The results from ratings taken over the course of a day may be more striking if they were paired with serum hormone levels from the same time of day as the surveys. Future research should assess serum hormone levels in parallel with hunger and appetite over a 24-hour period. Lastly, the current study was part of a larger interventional study, in which recruitment and participant retention was challenging. Ten participants completed assessments at baseline and 12 weeks post-surgery that allowed for sufficiently powered analysis, for which we observed significant findings. To that end, fasting hormone levels were assessed pre- and post-surgery in only 8 of the participants. Even though we did observe significant differences in both leptin and ghrelin serum concentrations with this within-subject design, future experiments would benefit from obtaining a larger sample size.

Our findings suggest that homeostatic regulation of food intake is perturbed by VSG surgery. By the twelfth week after VSG surgery, subjective ratings of hunger and appetite were found to be reduced overall despite fasting serum levels of leptin and ghrelin having changed in favor of increased food intake. Notably, at the post-surgery session, the majority of fasting hunger and appetite ratings from before breakfast were not different from end-of-day ratings obtained after dinner, suggesting that the physical restriction of food intake, perhaps in conjunction with increased nausea, imparted by VSG overcomes the elevated homeostatic drive for food intake. These findings support the notion that bariatric surgery leads to comparable levels of hunger and appetite as observed prior to surgery, even with the intake of fewer calories, and highlights the effectiveness of bariatric surgery in curbing food-seeking behavior despite a very steep negative calorie balance.

CHAPTER 3:

ACUTE IMPACT OF SYNTHETIC CANNABINOID WIN 55,212-2 ON MURINE VISCERAL ADIPOSE TISSUE METABOLISM AND GENE EXPRESSION 3.1 Introduction

The behavioral and psychoactive effects of cannabis are well-understood to occur through central activation of the endocannabinoid system (ECS). Since the discovery of the cannabinoid receptors, research has made significant progress in uncovering the mechanisms by which cannabinoids exert their effects on pain and stress, mood and motivation, immune function, and, importantly, food intake and metabolism. However, these investigations have largely focused on central cannabinoid action despite the clear presence of cannabinoid receptors throughout the body. Besides the central nervous system, the CB1 receptor is significantly expressed in metabolic tissues including the liver, pancreas, GI tract, and adipose tissues, which points to a role in regulating energy metabolism. Indeed, the complete knockout of CB1 in mice imparts resistance to diet-induced obesity and improved cardiometabolic outcomes [157, 316]. Similarly, administration of the global CB1 inverse agonist rimonabant leads to a reduction of food intake and significant weight-loss [24, 25]. However, the success of rimonabant was short-lived as the results of long-term trials revealed serious risks of depression and suicide [24]. Thus, it has been an active research goal to determine whether peripheral CB1 antagonism is both safe and sufficient to curb the rising rates of obesity. Indeed, peripherally restricted CB1 antagonists have been shown to alleviate obesity, though the safety and the exact sites and mechanisms of action leading to the

observed effects remain poorly characterized though highly investigated [144, 317, 318]. The adipose tissue-specific mechanisms by which the ECS mediates metabolism are similarly not fully understood despite the existence of ECS machinery in adipose tissue being well established [157, 319-324]. Interestingly, cannabinoid agonists and antagonists have been shown to exert cannabinoid receptor-independent effects, suggesting a diversity of functions for the endocannabinoids aside from their relationships with known GPCR signaling pathways [274, 275, 325-327].

The current study aims to explore the impact of cannabinoid action on adipose tissue through functional enrichment analysis and pathway analysis of mRNA-sequencing data, and through interrogating the metabolic and molecular changes resulting from acute exposure to the synthetic cannabinoid WIN 55,212-2. We hypothesized that gene sets and pathways directly related to the regulation of energy metabolism would be significantly modulated, and that exposure of primary white adipose tissue to WIN 55,212-2 would potentiate insulin action and push the adipose tissue metabolic state towards anabolism. In addition, the majority of previous ECS studies in adipocytes have utilized cultured adipocytes differentiated *in vitro*, the characteristics of which do not faithfully reflect the phenotype of mature adipocytes *in vivo*. Thus, the current study utilizes primary adipose tissue cultured *ex vivo*, and aims to yield a more physiologically relevant picture of the metabolic and molecular changes resulting from cannabinoid action in adipose tissue.

3.2 Materials & Methods

3.2.1 Murine Adipose Tissue

All animal studies were approved by the University of Chicago Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC; Protocol 71184). Wild-type male C57BL/6 mice were fed a regular chow diet *ad libitum*. Mice were sacrificed at 18-24 weeks of age for sufficient adiposity. The processing of adipose tissue was a modification of the Fried protocol [328]. For each experimental cohort of mice, the perigonadal adipose tissue of all mice was extracted, pooled together, and minced into ~2mm pieces, then washed 3x with M199 media (no Phenol-Red; Gibco) supplemented with 1% bovine serum albumin (BSA; Gemini Bio).

3.2.2 Adipose Tissue Explant Culture

Freshly minced adipose tissue was cultured in fresh M199+1% BSA media (100mg tissue/mL media) for 2 hours in a humidified tissue culture incubator at 37°C with 5% CO₂. This resting incubation serves as a serum-starve and allows for any acute-phase response and endogenous hormone activity to equilibrate. Rested adipose tissue was then washed with fresh M199+1% BSA media 2x before allocation to subsequent experiments. All experiments were performed in duplicate.

3.2.3 Acute Cannabinoid Treatment of Adipose Tissue

Rested adipose tissue was cultured in M199-1% BSA with vehicle or 10µM WIN (50mg tissue/mL media/sample). Tissue samples were collected at 0.5-, 1-, 2-, 4-, and 8-hour timepoints. At each timepoint, adipose tissues were transferred to bead lysis tubes and flash frozen in liquid nitrogen for mRNA and protein analysis.

3.2.4 RNA Isolation

Cannabinoid time-course samples were homogenized in ice-cold RNA-Solv (containing phenol and guanidinium isothiocyanate; Omega Bio-Tek) using a Bullet Blender. Total RNA was isolated via cold phenol-chloroform extraction and spin column purification. RNA was evaluated by UV-vis spectrophotometry (NanoDrop).

3.2.5 Transcriptomics

RNA from vehicle- and WIN-treated samples of the 0.5hr, 1hr, and 2hr timepoints (six conditions) were submitted in two batches to the University of Chicago Genomics Facility for QC (Agilent Bioanalyzer), library prep (Oligo-dT mRNA directional) and sequencing (100bp, ~30M paired-end reads/sample; Illumina NovaSEQ6000). Each batch had two biological replicates for each of the six conditions to give a combined total of 24 samples. Raw data were provided as FASTQ.

FASTQ files were uploaded to on Illumina BaseSpace Sequence Hub. The RNA-Seq Alignment app was used to perform read alignment using STAR (Spliced Transcripts Alignment to a Reference; RefSeq mm10) and transcript abundance quantification using *Salmon* [329, 330]. Count data were downloaded from Illumina BaseSpace Sequence Hub for differential gene expression analysis using the R software package *DESeq2* (v1.32.0) in RStudio (v1.4.1717) [331]. *DESeq2* fits a generalized linear model of the negative binomial family. Batch effect was accounted for in the model design code: design = \sim batch + time + treatment + time:treatment, and Wald tests were used to generate differential expression results tables for the treatment:time interaction effect at each timepoint separately. A log₂(Fold-Change) threshold of 1 (i.e., a fold-change > 2 or < 0.5) in either direction was used for significance testing and generation of p-values. *DESeq2* uses the Benjamini-Hochberg procedure to control the false-discovery rate (FDR) and report an adjusted p-value (padj). Genes with a padj \leq 0.05 were considered differentially expressed. Log₂FoldChange LFC estimates were shrunk in *DESeq2* for ranking of genes by calling the adaptive shrinkage estimator function from the R package *ashr* (v2.2-47) [332]. The average effect of treatment across all three timepoints was determined by extracting and summating 1/3 of the treatment:time interaction from each timepoint.

3.2.6 Functional Enrichment Analysis & Topology-Based Pathway Analysis

Gene Set Enrichment Analysis (GSEA) is a widely-used tool in RNAseq analysis to explore differential gene expression data. Results from DE analysis were formatted for input into GSEA software to identify significantly enriched gene sets (UCSD-Broad Institute's Molecular Signatures Database, MSigDB) [333-335]. Specifically, data was formatted for Pre-Ranked GSEA. The rank metric used to order the list of genes of each DE results table was the product of the sign of the log₂(FoldChange) value and the log₁₀ of the nominal p-value. GSEA considers a gene set an unordered, unstructured collection of genes and does not assess whether a pathway is activated or inhibited. GSEA analyzes all genes from the DE results table regardless of significance, and assigns lower p-values more weight, and higher p-values are assigned less weight, if any. Data from each timepoint were separately analyzed using the KEGG (Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes) or Reactome gene set collections from MSigDB as reference databases. GSEA reports FDR < 0.25 as significant enrichment. Data on the DE genes (padj \leq 0.05) from DE analysis (*DESeq2*) were also used in the R software package *SPIA* (*Signaling Pathway Impact Analysis*, v2.44.0) to identify significantly affected signaling pathways [336]. *SPIA* uses the KEGG database as reference. A total of 40 relevant KEGG signaling pathways were evaluated (Table 3.1). The SPIA algorithm takes as input the names (as Entrez IDs) and LFCs of DEGs to produces a table of pathways ranked from the most to the least significant. Each SPIA table reports whether the queried pathways are activated or inhibited, and a combined global p-value based on both over-representation evidence and perturbations-based evidence. These perturbations depend on the position of genes in a pathway and whether they are known as activators or inhibitors.

Calcium	Insulin	PI3K-Akt	cAMP	
МАРК	FoxO	Hedgehog	IL-17	
ErbB	Phosphatidylinositol	TGF-beta	TNF	
Ras	Sphingolipid	VEGF	Retrograde endocannabinoid	
Rap1	Phospholipase D	Apelin	HIF-1	
PPAR	p53	Hippo	Thyroid hormone	
cGMP-PKG	mTOR	Toll-like receptor	Adipocytokine	
JAK-STAT	Notch	NOD-like receptor	Glucagon	
Chemokine	AMPK	RIG-I-like receptor	Relaxin	
NF-kappa B	Wnt	C-type lectin receptor	AGE-RAGE	

Table 3.1 KEGG Signaling Pathways Assessed By SPIA

3.2.7 Anti-Lipolysis Assay

Rested adipose tissue was pretreated in M199 media supplemented with 3% fatty acid-free bovine serum albumin (FA-free BSA; Sigma-Aldrich) with vehicle or with 10µM of the synthetic cannabinoid WIN 55,212-2 (WIN; Tocris) for 1 hr (50mg tissue/2mL/sample) at 37°C with periodic gentle agitation. Lipolysis was then stimulated by replacing media with 2mL fresh M199+3% FA-free BSA media containing the following experimental treatments:

Basal (media only, untreated), 100nM isoproterenol (Iso), Iso + 10µM WIN (Iso-WIN), Iso + 10nM insulin (Iso-Ins), or Iso + Ins + WIN (+++). Samples were incubated for 1 hour at 37°C with periodic gentle agitation, after which 1mL of media was removed, syringe-filtered, then stored at -20°C. Lipolytic activity was assessed by measuring media glycerol concentration (Glycerol Colorimetric Assay Kit, Cayman Chemical). Each experiment produced a total of 20 media samples (10 parallel conditions in duplicate).

3.2.8 Insulin Sensitivity Assay

A portion of rested adipose tissue was cultured in M199+1% BSA media with vehicle control (DMSO) or with 10µM WIN for 1 hour at 37°C (50mg tissue/1mL media/sample). Tissue samples were then transferred to 1.5mL microtubes containing M199+1% BSA media (1ml/sample) with or without 10nM insulin and incubated for 10 minutes at 37°C with gentle agitation. Samples were then immediately placed on ice to halt signaling, and media was replaced 2x with ice-cold tris-buffered saline to wash out insulin, BSA, and free lipids. Tissue samples were then transferred to bead lysis tubes containing 125µL of ice-cold 2x Laemmli Sample Buffer supplemented with 10% beta-mercaptoethanol for homogenization using a Bullet Blender (Next Advance). After homogenization, samples were placed in a 95°C heating block for 5 minutes, briefly vortexed, then put on ice for 10 minutes. Cooled samples were centrifuged for 5 minutes to separate excess lipid (top, clear layer). Protein fractions (lower, blue layer) were then transferred to new microtubes and stored at -20°C for subsequent western blot analysis.

Levels of total-Akt protein and phospho-Akt protein were quantified by two-color

near-IR fluorescent immunoblot (LI-COR Odyssey CLx Imaging System). Protein samples were resolved in 10% SDS-PAGE gels (Mini-PROTEAN® TGX[™] Precast Gels, Bio-Rad) and blotted onto PVDF membranes (Immobilon-FL, Millipore; Trans-Blot, Bio-Rad) overnight at 4°C. Membranes were blocked in 5% PhosphoBlocker for 1 hour before incubating overnight with primary antibodies recognizing phospho-Akt (S473) and total-Akt. Appropriate secondary antibodies recognizing the primary antibody animal backgrounds were used for detection. Total-Akt served as the lane loading control for phospho-Akt. Band signals quantified by Image Studio[™] Lite Quantification Software (LI-COR). The normalized signal ratio of phospho-Akt to total-Akt was used to quantify insulin-stimulated Akt phosphorylation, and thus served as a readout of adipose tissue insulin sensitivity. For each individual blot, the total-Akt signal/area of each lane was normalized to the maximum total-Akt signal/area of the whole blot to calculate the lane normalization factor for that lane (as per LI-COR documentation). The phospho-Akt signal/area of each lane was divided by the lane normalization factor for that lane to calculate the normalized phospho-Akt signal. Phospho-Akt was visualized on the 700nm channel and total-Akt was visualized on the 800nm channel. Antibodies were purchased from Cell Signaling Technology: Phospho-Akt (Ser473) (Clone D9E) XP Rabbit mAb #4060; Akt (pan) (Clone 40D4) Mouse mAb #2920.

3.2.9 Quantitative Reverse Transcription PCR

500ng of RNA extracted from time course samples were reverse-transcribed into cDNA (qScript cDNA SuperMix, Quantabio). All primers (except for 18S rRNA used as reference gene) were purchased pre-validated (RT² qPCR Primer Assay, QIAGEN). The 18S rRNA primer sequence was obtained from published literature, and was purchased from IDT (Integrated DNA Technologies).

3.2.10 Statistical Analyses

Dr. Sang Mee Lee, PhD and the University of Chicago biostatistics clinic were consulted for guidance on non-transcriptomics data analyses. In order to explicitly account for the batch effect of mouse cohort, all non-transcriptomics data were analyzed by fitting a linear mixed-effects model as implemented in GraphPad Prism 9.1. Data for all treatment groups were matched by mouse cohort, and the random effects associated with "cohort" were included in the mixed models to account for variability between cohorts of mice. This mixed-effects model uses a compound symmetry covariance matrix, and is fit using Restricted Maximum Likelihood (REML). In the absence of missing values, this method gives the same p-values and multiple comparisons tests as repeated measures ANOVA. Sphericity was not assumed, and Prism was instructed to use the Greenhouse-Geisser correction (GG ϵ) to estimate sphericity as necessary. P-values reported by post-hoc analyses were either Bonferroni corrected to control for the family-wise error rate (FWER), or corrected using the Benjamini-Hochberg procedure to control for the false-discovery rate (FDR).

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Adipose Tissue Gene Expression

mRNA Sequencing

In order to investigate the potential mechanisms involved in WIN-mediated effects on adipose tissue metabolism, we began our study with an unbiased mRNA-sequencing approach. Specifically, mRNA from adipose tissue treated with vehicle or WIN for 0.5-, 1-, and 2-hours were analyzed. Differential gene expression analysis was conducted in *DESeq2* using a log2(Fold-Change) threshold of 1 to assess the main effect of treatment (WIN vs vehicle) on gene expression. Differentially expressed genes (DEGs) were determined for each timepoint separately by coding for the specific contrast argument associated with the WINvs. vehicle-treated pairwise comparison for each timepoint. The quantity of DEGs identified at each timepoint is visualized in Figure 3.1. Furthermore, there were 604 DEGs common to all timepoints: 37 were induced at all timepoints, 107 were induced or repressed at one or two timepoints, and 460 were repressed at all timepoints (Figure 3.2).



Figure 3.1. WIN 55,212-2 caused differential gene expression in murine adipose tissue (A) Stacked bar chart depicting the number of genes at each treatment time point and for the average effect across all timepoints that were considered differentially expressed by meeting the significance criteria: log2FoldChange > 1, padj \leq 0.05. Induction/repression by WIN relative to vehicle (B) Volcano plots of the log2FoldChange vs. -logpadj of all genes at each treatment timepoint and for the average effect across all timepoints. Green: significantly induced genes. Red: significantly repressed genes. Black dots: not differentially expressed (i.e., did not meet significance criteria). N = 4 (2 batches of 2), padj reflects p-values adjusted by controlling for the false-discovery rate.



Figure 3.2. WIN significantly modulated genes in the same direction at all timepoints Heatmap depicting the 604 differentially expressed genes (i.e., met significance criteria: log2FoldChange > 1, padj \leq 0.05) in adipose tissue due to WIN (relative to vehicle) that were common at all timepoints. Groups 1-3: 1) 37 genes up at each timepoint (red). 2) 107 genes up or down (blue) at one or two timepoints. 3) 460 genes down at each timepoint. N = 4 (2 batches of 2)

Gene Set Enrichment Analysis

Data from each timepoint were separately analyzed by Preranked-GSEA using the

KEGG or Reactome gene set collections on MSigDB as reference databases. Conducting GSEA

using the full KEGG collection (186 gene sets) did not report significant (i.e., FDR < 25% [333])

enrichment of any gene sets (data not shown). However, instructing GSEA to use only gene sets denoted as "signaling pathways" (25 gene sets) yielded significant results for the 0.5-hour and 1-hour timepoints, as well as for the Average Effect across all times (Table 3.2).

Table 3.2 WIN-mediated gene set enrichment in primary murine adipose tissue

Timepoint (hour)	MSigDB Collection	Gene Set	NES	FDR
0.5	VECC signaling	B coll recentor signaling pathway		0.244
0.5	REGG signaling	b cen receptor signaling pathway	1.45	0.244
	Reactome signaling	Negative regulation of FGFR3 signaling		0.122
		Negative regulation of FGFR2 signaling		0.210
		FGFRL1 modulation of FGFR1 signaling		0.232
		Downstream signaling of FGFR3	-1.56	0.212
		Signaling by FGFR3	-1.55	0.191
1	KEGG signaling	JAK-STAT signaling pathway	1.51	0.065
		p53 signaling pathway	-1.51	0.162
2	n.s.	n.s.		n.s
Average Effect	KEGG signaling	p53 signaling pathway	-1.48	0.163
	Reactome (full)	Signaling by IGF1R		0.104
		Insulin receptor signaling cascade	-1.60	0.083
		IRS-mediated signaling	-1.59	0.080
	Reactome signaling	Signaling by IGF1R	-1.62	0.015
		Insulin receptor signaling cascade	-1.62	0.009
		IRS-mediated signaling	-1.61	0.011
		Signaling by insulin receptor	-1.53	0.096

NES: Normalized Enrichment Score; FDR: False-Discovery Rate; n.s. = not significant

GSEA using the full Reactome annotation database (1604 gene sets) yielded significant results only for the average effect across timepoints, in which three gene sets directly related to insulin signaling were negatively enriched (Table 3.3). Limiting the Reactome annotations to only "signaling pathways" (278 gene sets) yielded significant enrichment results for the 0.5-hour timepoint and average effect across time: 5 gene sets directly related to Fibroblast Growth Factor (FGF) receptor signaling were negatively enriched at 0.5-hour, and 4 gene sets directly related to insulin signaling were negatively enriched for the average effect across all timepoints (Table 3.2).

Signaling Pathway Impact Analysis

A major weakness of GSEA is that it does not assess whether a pathway is activated or inhibited. To address this, we further analyzed the differential expression data through SPIA. Significantly perturbed signaling pathways were assessed by SPIA for each timepoint separately. We first queried only the most metabolically relevant pathways in adipose tissue, namely the calcium-, cAMP-, insulin-, and PI3k-Akt signaling pathways. When limited to these four pathways, SPIA reported the PI3k-Akt signaling pathway to be significantly inhibited at 0.5-hour, and the cAMP signaling pathway to be significantly inhibited at 1-hour (Figure 3.3A). The calcium signaling pathway was also significantly inhibited at 0.5- and 1-hour, and also under the average effect across all timepoints (Figure 3.3A). Increasing the number of relevant pathways queried to 40 yielded only one significantly impacted pathway at any timepoint: the calcium signaling pathway. Specifically, the calcium signaling pathway was significantly inhibited at 1-hour and in the average effect across all timepoints (Figure 3.3B). Taken together, the SPIA data suggest that acute WIN exposure leads to suppressed calcium signaling pathway activity in adipose tissue, perhaps in conjunction with decreased PI3k-Akt signaling activity very early on, followed by decreased cAMP signaling activity a short while later.



The pathways at the right of the red or blue oblique line are significant after Bonferroni (red, FWER < 0.05) or Benjamini-Hochberg (blue, FDR \leq 0.05) correction of the global p-values, pG, which *SPIA* obtained by combining the pPERT and pNDE values using Fisher's method. Red dot: pG-FWER \leq 0.05, Blue dot: pG-FDR \leq 0.05, Black dot: not significant. pPERT reflects the significance genes (i.e., genes meeting the significance criteria: log2FoldChange > 1, padj ≤ 0.05 (**A**) Plots after SPIA queried 4 KEGG pathways chosen for metabolic relevance (B) Plots after SPIA queried a selection of 40 KEGG signaling pathways relevant to adipose tissue SPIA two-way evidence plots for each treatment timepoint and of the average effect. Each pathway is represented by one dot. of pathway perturbation. pNDE reflects the significance of pathway representation by the number of differentially expressed Figure 3.3. Signaling Pathway Impact Analysis of genes differentially expressed in murine adipose tissue due to WIN (i.e., excluding signaling pathways with a non-adipose tissue cell type in their title).

qRT-PCR

Given the acute length of WIN treatment in addition to GSEA and SPIA pointing to insulin and calcium signaling, we theorized that calcium channels may be involved in mediating insulin signaling at least in the presence of WIN. Indeed, cannabinoids have been shown to interact with the TRP family of channels, some of which were differentially expressed for at least one timepoint. Therefore, to further explore the interactions between the calcium and cAMP signaling pathways and cannabinoid action, we investigated the effect of WIN on gene expression levels of Trpv1, Trpv2, Trpv6, Trpa1, Calm1, and Camkk2, as well as the CREB genes Atf3 and Atf4, which have been reported to be directly involved in mediating glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity [267-269, 271-273]. Vehicle- and WINtreated adipose tissue samples at 0.5-, 1-, 2-, 4-, and 8-hour timepoints were processed for qRT-PCR. The initial mixed-effects model analyses of these data did not indicate a significant interaction between time and treatment, so the interaction terms were removed and the mixed-effects analysis focused on the main effect of treatment for each gene independently. Post-hoc analyses comparing WIN treatment to vehicle reported significantly (FDR ≤ 0.05) greater relative mRNA expression of Trpv1 and Trpv2, and significantly lower relative mRNA expression of Atf4 and Calm1 (Figure 3.4). Relative mRNA expression of Trpa1 was also increased, though this did not quite meet statistical significance (FDR = 0.0509). Expression of Trpv4, Trpv6, Camkk2, and Fasn was not significantly different between treatments (Figure 3.4). These results show that the expression of some but not all Trp channels or Ca²⁺/cAMP related genes were modulated by WIN treatment, suggesting that WIN may be selective in its effects on adipose tissue thus differentially regulating these interrelated pathways. In addition, the decrease in Atf4 expression may indicate a reduction of anabolic signaling in line with insulin resistance [271, 273, 337].



Figure 3.4. Modulation of Ca²⁺ and cAMP-related genes in adipose tissue by WIN qRT-PCR results depicting the main effect of WIN treatment in adipose tissue. Exponentiated dCt values are shown to illustrate the relative change in expression for each mouse cohort. Analyses were conducted on the dCt data, which were matched by mouse cohort and analyzed using a mixed-effects model fitting only the main effects of treatment and time without their interaction. Random effects associated with "cohort" were included in the model. Data for each gene was independently fitted to a mixed-effects model. P-values reflect the main effect of treatment and were adjusted by controlling for the False-Discovery Rate. N = 8. * : p < 0.05; ns: not significant.

3.3.2 Impact of WIN on adipose tissue metabolism

Rested adipose tissue was pretreated for 1 hour with vehicle or 10µM WIN before

replacing the media to stimulate lipolysis under five conditions: Basal, Iso, Iso-WIN, Iso-Ins,

and Iso-Ins-WIN (+++). The degree of lipolysis was determined by comparing the media glycerol concentrations under each condition.

A mixed-effects model was used to compare the fixed effects of pretreatment, lipolysis condition, and the interaction between them on adipose tissue glycerol release. Mixed-effects analysis reported a significant interaction between pretreatment and lipolysis condition (N = 9; F[2.027, 16.22] = 9.044, p < 0.01, GG = 0.6756). Post-hoc analyses reported that, as expected, isoproterenol indeed stimulated lipolysis in all treated samples as indicated by significantly greater media glycerol concentrations compared to Basal (p < 0.001, Figure 3.5, comparisons not shown). Importantly, Basal and Iso-only media glycerol levels were not different between the pretreatment groups, indicating that WIN-pretreatment alone (i.e., without continued WIN exposure during lipolysis) did not affect basal or isoproterenolinduced lipolysis (Figure 3.5A, first and second comparisons). In addition, the Iso-WIN glycerol levels were not significantly different between pretreatment groups (Figure 3.1A, third comparison), nor were they significantly different from the Iso-only glycerol levels in their respective pretreatment groups (Figure 3.5B, red vs. purple comparisons). These findings show that neither WIN-pretreatment alone nor the continued exposure to WIN alone during lipolysis affected isoproterenol-induced lipolysis.

The effect of WIN on the insulin-dependent inhibition of lipolysis was also assessed. Media glycerol concentrations in the Iso-Ins condition were not significantly different between pretreatment groups (Figure 3.5A, fourth comparison). However, as expected, the Iso-Ins glycerol levels were significantly less than the Iso-only glycerol levels within both pretreatment groups (both p < 0.001, Figure 3.5B, red vs. green comparisons). Taken together, these data show that insulin indeed significantly inhibited isoproterenol-induced lipolysis, and that this effect was not impacted by WIN-pretreatment alone. Interestingly, when the effects of continued WIN exposure on the insulin-dependent inhibition of lipolysis were assessed, we found that the +++ glycerol levels were consistently higher after WIN-pretreatment than after vehicle-pretreatment (mean difference: 2.10 mg/mL, 95% CI of difference: 0.45 to 3.74 mg/mL, p < 0.001; Figure 3.5A, fifth comparison). Moreover, the +++ glycerol levels were also consistently higher than the Iso-Ins glycerol levels within the WIN-pretreatment group (mean difference: 2.15 mg/mL, 95% CI of difference: 0.01 to 4.30 mg/mL, p < 0.05, Figure 3.5B, green vs orange comparisons), but not within the vehicle-pretreatment group. Taken together, these data indicate that insulin-dependent inhibition of isoproterenol-induced lipolysis in adipose tissue was attenuated only with continued exposure to WIN after 1-hour WIN-pretreatment.





Minced, rested epididymal adipose tissue was pretreated for 1 hour with vehicle or WIN. Then, media was replaced to stimulate lipolysis for 1 hour under 5 conditions: Basal (media only), Iso (100nM isoproterenol alone), Iso-WIN (Iso & 10 μ M WIN 55,212-2), Iso-Ins (Iso & 10nM insulin), and +++ (Iso + WIN + Ins). Media glycerol concentrations were quantified by colorimetric assay. **(A)** Comparisons between pretreatments across lipolysis conditions. **(B)** Comparisons between lipolysis conditions across pretreatments. Glycerol concentration data were matched by mouse cohort and fitted to a mixed-effects model to compare the fixed effects of pretreatment, lipolysis condition, and the interaction between them. Random effects associated with "cohort" were included in the model. Model fitting was followed by Bonferroni post hoc test. N = 9. * : p < 0.05, *** : p < 0.001, ns: not significant.

3.3.3 Impact on Insulin Signaling

The impact of WIN on lipolysis may be due to altered insulin signaling. To test this, rested adipose tissue was pretreated for 1 hour with vehicle or 10µM WIN before a 10-minute stimulation without insulin (-Insulin) or with 10nM insulin (+Insulin). Adipose tissue insulin sensitivity was determined by comparing the normalized signal ratios of phospho-Akt (Ser473) to total-Akt of each condition.

A mixed-effects model was used to compare the fixed effects of 1-hour WIN pretreatment, 10-minute insulin treatment, and the interaction between the two on Akt-phosphorylation in adipose tissue. Mixed-effects analysis reported a significant interaction between pretreatment and insulin treatment (N = 9, F[1, 8] = 35.92, p < 0.001). Post-hoc analysis reported no significant differences in the normalized phospho-Akt signals of the -Insulin condition between pretreatment groups, indicating that the 1-hour WIN-pretreatment alone did not affect Akt phosphorylation. As expected, insulin treatment significantly increased Akt phosphorylation in both pretreatment groups (both p \leq 0.05, Figure 3.6). However, we found that the normalized phospho-Akt signal of the +Insulin condition was consistently higher with WIN-pretreatment than with vehicle-pretreatment (mean difference: 5.47, 95% CI: 2.90 to 8.03, p < 0.05). Consistent with the lipolysis findings, these data indicate that WIN-pretreatment reduced the insulin-stimulated phosphorylation of Akt, and suggests an induction of insulin resistance due to continued WIN exposure.





Minced, rested epididymal adipose tissue was pretreated for 1 hour with WIN or vehicle. Then, media or insulin (final concentration 10nM) was added to stimulate the insulin signaling pathway. Insulin-induced phosphorylation of Akt was detected by near-IR immunoblot for phospho-Akt (Ser 473) and total-Akt. Total-Akt served as the loading control for phospho-Akt signal normalization. (A) Representative western blot image depicting phospho-Akt, total-Akt, and merged signals under the treatment conditions. (B) Comparisons of insulin conditions between pretreatment groups. Normalized signal data were matched by mouse cohort and fitted to a mixed-effects model to compare the fixed effects of pretreatment, insulin condition, and the interaction between them. Random effects associated with "cohort" were included in the model. Model fitting followed by Bonferroni post hoc test. N = 9. * : p < 0.05, ** : p < 0.01, *** : p < 0.001, ns: not significant
3.4 Discussion

The current study assessed the physiological relevance of cannabinoid action in primary murine adipose tissue. The impact of the synthetic cannabinoid WIN 55,212-2 on adipose tissue gene expression, insulin signaling, and lipid metabolism was investigated. At the time of writing, to our knowledge, there were no published reports of next-generation sequencing being utilized to compare vehicle- and cannabinoid-treated primary adipose tissue. In addition, we report a significant effect of WIN on adipose tissue lipid metabolism paralleled by a reduction in Akt phosphorylation by insulin. Moreover, the findings from gene set enrichment and pathway analyses are consistent with the lipolysis and insulin signaling results.

Differential expression analysis reported that, as expected, a great number of significant DEGs were identified at each timepoint. Interestingly, a few hundred more genes were reported as differentially expressed when extracting the average effect of WIN-vs-vehicle treatment across all timepoints relative to the number of DEGs reported at each individual timepoint. Given that extraction of the average effect in *DESeq2* takes into account 1/3 of the treatment effect at each timepoint, it can be interpreted as an assessment of the main effect over three replicate WIN-vs-vehicle comparisons. Furthermore, there were 604 genes that were significant differential expression across all three timepoints, which reflects the previously unreported significant impact and relevance of cannabinoid action in primary murine white adipose tissue. Of these 604 DEGs, 37 were upregulated and 460 were downregulated at all timepoints. Simple over-representation analysis (ORA; reference

database: Reactome) reported that 6 gene sets related to insulin signaling (specifically: PI3K cascade, IRS-mediated signaling, IRS-related events triggered by IGF1R, IGF1R signaling cascade, Signaling by IGF1R, and Insulin receptor signaling cascade), were represented within the 460 repressed genes with an FDR of 0.141 (data not shown). While this FDR does not reflect statistical significance at the 95% confidence level, it does suggest that the result is likely to be valid 85.9% of the time, which is reasonable to for this exploratory investigation. Moreover, the pathways implicated are informative as they directly relate to adipose tissue metabolism. Significance could perhaps be improved with additional replicates or a longer length of WIN treatment. Interestingly, most of the gene sets identified by ORA were also reported by GSEA to be negatively enriched in the average effect across all timepoints, which is notable since GSEA uses a greater number of genes as input. This suggests that the 604 DEGs common to all timepoints may be the primary drivers of the significant GSEA findings. Taken together, the ORA and GSEA results point to a role for cannabinoids in modulating adipose tissue metabolism via insulin signaling.

GSEA reported that other gene sets of interest were represented in our data, though they did not meet the significance threshold. Such gene sets include: $G\alpha$ s signaling events, Phosphatidylinositol signaling, Calcium signaling, and Adipokine signaling. These gene sets are relevant to metabolic function, and with additional replicates or longer WIN treatment may more significantly contribute to the larger picture of potential mechanisms by which cannabinoids mediate peripheral tissue metabolism. GSEA also reported that gene sets related to FGF receptor signaling were significantly enriched at the 0.5hr timepoint but were absent under the average effect. Little is known regarding the relationship between FGF signaling and the ECS, though one study suggests that FGFR-CB1 receptor interactions may be coupled to axonal growth [338].

A weakness of GSEA, however, is that it does not specifically assess whether a pathway is activated or inhibited. To address this, topology-based network analysis, such as by SPIA, is typically utilized. Surprisingly, and in contrast to ORA and GSEA findings, SPIA did not report the insulin signaling pathway per se to be significantly impacted. Interestingly, however, the cAMP signaling, PI3k-Akt signaling, and calcium signaling pathways were reported to be significantly inhibited (Figure 3.3). Given that the PI3k-Akt pathway is almost directly downstream of the insulin receptor and in all regards is a part of the insulin signaling cascade, it is reasonable to interpret this result as an inhibition of downstream insulin signaling pathway signaling. Thus, taking together the results of both GSEA and SPIA suggests a potential link between cannabinoid action and negative regulation of the calcium and insulin signaling pathways in adipose tissue.

Our follow-up gene expression analysis of selected calcium pathway genes, namely some Trp channels, calmodulin, and Camkk2, indicated that WIN may exert selective effects on calcium signaling. Interestingly, expression of Trpv1, Trpv2, and Trpa1 was increased, which may indicate an activation of calcium-mediated signaling. However, these increases in expression may also be a compensatory response to restore calcium-mediated signaling after desensitization by WIN. Indeed, WIN and the endocannabinoid anandamide have been shown to bind to and desensitize Trpv1 and Trpa1 [275, 278, 319, 325]. Moreover, the increases in these genes may appear small, but depending on baseline levels, substrate availability, or post-translational modifications, relative changes in transcription do not necessarily translate into a proportional change in protein expression or pathway activity. Thus, the increase in the expression of these channels may be sufficient to significantly impact signaling activity. It should be noted here that GSEA reported the Reactome "Trp Channels" gene set (note: not a signaling pathway) to be represented in the data for the average effect across timepoints, though it was not positively enriched at a significant FDR (data not shown). This highlights another weakness of GSEA in our study in that it may be underestimating effects or ignoring possible selectivity of WIN on the expression of particular genes such that the enrichment of a gene set or pathway is not significant.

qRT-PCR analysis also reported a significant reduction in Calm1 expression by WIN treatment, which is consistent with the SPIA-reported inhibition of the calcium signaling pathway. This presents further evidence for the role of WIN in regulating metabolism via calcium-mediated effects. However, the lack of change in Fasn expression, which has been shown to be upregulated by high dietary calcium and insulin action [177, 178], suggests that cannabinoids may not appreciably impact metabolism on their own, but rather modulate the signaling of other hormones and growth factors. This is evident in our finding that WIN only had a significant impact on lipolysis and Akt phosphorylation in the presence of insulin.

To assess the physiological impact of cannabinoid action in adipose tissue, we investigated the effects of acute WIN exposure on catecholamine-stimulated lipolysis, and how it might interact with the antilipolytic action of insulin. Contrary to the hypothesis that acute cannabinoid exposure potentiates insulin action, we found that WIN had a significant inhibitory effect on the ability of insulin to suppress isoproterenol-stimulated lipolysis, but it was only observed under continued exposure to WIN after 1hr pretreatment. Importantly, WIN alone did not affect basal or isoproterenol-stimulated lipolysis. This finding suggests that the observed effect of WIN may be specific for insulin-mediated signaling. Moreover, the observed repression of Atf4 gene expression, is consistent with previous reports of Atf4deficient mice exhibiting increased lipolysis [337, 339]. This also indicates that Atf4 may not be regulated by the GPCR activity of the CB1 receptor, which is coupled to $G\alpha i$, and suggests a non-CB1 receptor mediated effect of WIN.

To link the metabolic findings to a molecular mechanism, we assessed the ability of insulin to stimulate Akt phosphorylation in the presence of WIN. Consistent with our lipolysis results, we observed significantly less insulin-dependent Akt phosphorylation when WIN was present before and during insulin treatment. These findings are in line with the well-known associations between high ECS activity, obesity, and insulin resistance, as well as with the results of a recent study investigating the effects of anandamide administration in mice and *ex vivo* treatment of rat adipose tissue [324]. Moreover, that study also demonstrated that the negative effects of AEA on Akt phosphorylation were dependent on the presence of insulin, which was consistent with our own findings using WIN. Notably, the impact of WIN on lipolysis and Akt phosphorylation were observed after only one or two hours of WIN exposure and only apparent in the presence of insulin. This is likely because basal Akt phosphorylation is negligible such that inhibition by WIN is near undetectable,

which suggests that WIN may be acting upstream of Akt. Therefore, follow-up studies should evaluate insulin receptor and Irs1/2 phosphorylation, as well as PI3k activity to identify the potential site(s) of WIN action. Furthermore, if WIN is indeed acting on Insr/Irs, then the activity of other signaling cascades, such as that of mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), may be affected. Indeed, GSEA reported significant negative enrichment of gene sets related to FGF receptor signaling. Thus, assessment of insulin- or FGF-dependent MAPK phosphorylation in the presence of WIN should be conducted.

Akt is a critical member of the insulin signaling cascade, and is largely responsible for the amplification of the insulin signal to promote its anabolic effects. One such effect is the activation of Pde3b, which is known to be a major negative regulator of lipolysis through its hydrolysis of cAMP and subsequent suppression of protein-kinase-A (PKA) activity [105]. Importantly, it has been shown that that reductions in either intracellular or extracellular calcium can modulate insulin signaling pathway activity largely by attenuating Akt phosphorylation [340, 341]. Thus, the results of our mRNA-seq analyses are in agreement with our functional analyses with regard to the role of calcium in regulating insulin signaling, and presents a potentially novel role for cannabinoids in modulating this interaction perhaps through the phosphatase activity of calcineurin (CaN; Figure 3.7). The mechanism by which cannabinoids may modulate Calm1 expression remains unclear, but the observed increase in Trpv expression suggests a potential feedback mechanism. Specifically, cannabinoids may initially activate TrpV/A channels and increase Ca²⁺ influx to promote CaN-mediated inhibition of Akt phosphorylation in the presence of insulin. After these initial rapid events,

ongoing cannabinoid action may desensitize TrpV/A channels in an attempt to reduce cytosolic Ca²⁺ and attenuate ongoing CaM/CaN activity. Trp channel-mediated cannabinoid action in the absence of insulin may also inhibit lipolysis through CaN-mediated deactivation of Pka or adenylyl cyclase (Figure 3.7). Future studies should evaluate the temporal activation of the various signaling cascade events and interactions.



Figure 3.7 Hypothesized mechanisms by which acute cannabinoid action impacts lipolysis Graphical representation of the potential interactions between the calcium and insulin signaling pathways. Cannabinoids may desensitize Trp channels to reduce Ca²⁺ influx. How cannabinoids may reduce calmodulin expression remains unclear. Calcineurin may inactivate Irs1/2 to attenuate the phosphorylation of Akt. IR, insulin receptor; Irs1/2, insulin receptor substrate 1/2; PI3K, phosphoinositide 3-kinase; Pde, phosphodiesterase; CaM, calmodulin; CaN, calcineurin; CaMK, calmodulin-dependent protein kinase; Adcy, adenylyl cyclase; cAMP, cyclic-adenosine monophosphate; Trpv/Trpa, transient receptor potential channel type V/A, Pka, protein kinase A

The current study has some limitations. Firstly, despite accounting for batch effect

computationally in *DESeq2*, its existence remains as a potential confounder. This limitation

was difficult to avoid due to the relatively small sample size. Analyzing each batch separately would half the power. Moreover, the relative uncertainty of the WIN response in primary adipose tissue was a concern. Most studies have typically utilized adipocytes differentiated *in vitro*, or WIN was administered to mice *in vivo*, so conditions needed to be optimized while keeping sequencing costs reasonable. The variability between experimental mouse cohorts represents another source of batch effect in our study limitation. Though statistical significance was reached in our analyses, the magnitude of the effect of WIN on adipose tissue was not consistent between cohorts of mice. This may be explained by the presence of multiple cell types in adipose tissue, which may not be homogenously distributed throughout the tissue or even between samples despite fine mincing and the use of primary adipose tissue as opposed to cultured clonal cell lines. Another limitation is that the adipose tissue of female mice was not investigated. It is reasonable to suspect that WIN may impact female adipose tissue similarly as observed in male adipose tissue, but the differences in hormonal signaling and the local microenvironment may lead to different outcomes. Lastly, the study did not make any direct measurements of adipose tissue cAMP or calcium levels with WIN treatment. Measurements of these second messengers would provide a snapshot of the activity of their respective pathways, and would be vital for understanding their potential contributions and associations with the observed effects on lipolysis and Akt phosphorylation. Indeed, WIN has been shown to increase intracellular Ca²⁺ in differentiated human adipocytes [322]. Furthermore, the direct involvement of calcium in the observed WIN-dependent reduction of insulin sensitivity should be investigated. This could be tested by depleting intracellular calcium levels with thapsigargin and/or eliminating calcium from culture media before WIN treatment. However, thapsigargin would also cause endoplasmic reticulum stress, which would be an additional confounder. Alternatively, calmodulin or CaMK inhibitors could also be utilized to more specifically target calcium signaling enzymes.

This investigation has demonstrated that acute WIN treatment of primary murine white adipose tissue affects lipid metabolism in the presence of insulin, and that these changes are driven by altered Akt phosphorylation and perhaps by negative regulation of the calcium signaling pathway. Besides directly measuring adipose tissue cAMP and Ca²⁺ levels with WIN treatment, further investigation should assess the phosphorylation/activity of effector proteins of the respective pathways, for example PKA or CaMKs, as well as the enzymes that mediate lipolysis, such as ATGL and HSL. Further investigation should also determine whether Trpv1, Trpv2, Trpa1, Calm1, or Atf4 are necessary for WIN to inhibit insulin action. These studies should also be extended to the various adipose tissue depots and even other tissues to identify any tissue-specific effects. Given the widely-held understanding that subcutaneous adipose tissue (SAT) expansion is associated with improved glucose and insulin tolerance compared to visceral adipose tissue (VAT), cannabinoids may play a role in the development of obesity by negatively affecting the insulin sensitivity of SAT in addition to VAT. The potential involvement of other Trp channels should also be investigated. Finally, follow-up studies should investigate the degree to which CB1-dependent signaling is involved in the observed effects. This could be done through adipocyte-specific CB1 knockout models.

The results reported in the current study highlight the relevance of peripheral cannabinoid action in the regulation of energy metabolism. mRNA sequencing analyses highlight the calcium, insulin, and cAMP signaling pathways as targets of cannabinoid action in adipose tissue. These findings were supported by the inhibitive effect of WIN on the antilipolytic action of insulin observed in parallel with an inhibition of insulin-stimulated Akt phosphorylation. These results also suggest that cannabinoid action can reduce adipose tissue insulin sensitivity in as little as 1 hour, perhaps through calcium-mediated signaling and/or non-CB1 receptor-mediated effects. With the growing popularity and consumption of medicinal and recreational cannabis worldwide, it will be increasingly important to understand the mechanisms by which peripheral cannabinoid action impacts physiology alongside the well-known centrally-mediated psychological and behavioral effects.

CHAPTER 4:

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

The research presented in this dissertation reflects the work of two projects that have produced novel findings across the fields of endocrinology, metabolism, and nutrition. First discussed was the impact of vertical sleeve gastrectomy on the way hunger and appetite are experienced throughout the day of a laboratory session 2-weeks before and 12-weeks after surgery. To our knowledge, no data gathered from such a design has been published. Secondly, the role of cannabinoid action in adipose tissue was explored through mRNAsequencing, qRT-PCR, and functional assays in primary murine white adipose tissue treated with the synthetic cannabinoid WIN 55,212-2. This chapter serves to summarize these studies and to discuss potential avenues of future research to build upon the foundations laid here.

4.1 Weight-loss Surgery, Hunger, and Appetite

One of the biggest challenges in the management of obesity is the prevention of weight-regain after successful weight loss. To this day, the most effective intervention for severe obesity is bariatric surgery, which can include a food-restrictive component, a malabsorptive component, or both. Our study investigated the effect of vertical sleeve gastrectomy (VSG) on subjective ratings of hunger and appetite, as well as on the hungermediating hormones leptin and ghrelin. This study clearly demonstrated that compared to before surgery, VSG resulted in a marked reduction in overall hunger and appetite, as expected. One of the most interesting and novel findings was that, relative to baseline, twelve weeks after surgery fasting serum levels of leptin and ghrelin had changed in favor of increased food intake, despite subjective ratings of hunger and appetite being reduced overall. This was puzzling as it is not quite clear how reduced leptin and elevated ghrelin would not be associated with increased hunger and appetite. One explanation may be that the persistent nausea commonly associated with bariatric surgery leads to aversive conditioning and suppressed appetite [342]. Another hypothesis is that sensitivity to leptin is significantly enhanced by such a proportion that the observed leptin levels are sufficient to overcome the hunger drive, which further implies that subjects were leptin resistant before surgery. Hyperleptinemia is the key marker of leptin resistance, though there are no other criteria for its diagnosis. Moreover, the mechanisms underlying leptin resistance are not completely understood, though it is thought to involve suppressed JAK-STAT signaling in the hypothalamus, and evidence for altered leptin transport across the blood-brain-barrier, ER stress, and hypothalamic inflammation have been reported [343, 344].

Yet another hypothesis is that levels of other hunger- and appetite-mediating hormones such as peptide-YY (PYY), gastric inhibitory polypeptide (GIP), and glucagon-likepeptide-1 (GLP-1) are changed to oppose food intake. Indeed, a recent meta-analysis investigating the effect of sleeve gastrectomy on ghrelin, GLP-1, PYY, and GIP found that among VSG subjects with an average follow-up time of 11.70 ± 11.38 months, fasting ghrelin levels decreased, in contrast to our findings, whereas GLP-1 and PYY were increased postsurgery, and GIP was not significantly different [345]. These findings are evidence in support of the notion that bariatric surgery not only restricts food intake and nutrient absorption, but also results in a radical change in GI hormone secretion to oppose food intake that persists even after significant weight-loss. Besides ghrelin, our study did not measure the levels of these hormones, however. We also found fasting ghrelin to be increased post-surgery, which may be due in part to our relatively early follow-up time of only 12-weeks, when subjects still had obesity and thus were likely to be in a state of defending against weight-loss.

A particular limitation of this study that relates to the third chapter of this dissertation was that no measurements of circulating endocannabinoids were made. Data on these mediators of appetite, plus measurements of GLP-1, PYY, and GIP would inform on the effects of bariatric surgery on both homeostatic and hedonic food motivation. Further, if combined with assessments of systemic and tissue-specific insulin sensitivity and expression levels of ECS machinery, the data would provide a more holistic representation of the central and peripheral mechanisms underlying the effects of bariatric surgery on hunger and appetite. Additionally, levels of inflammatory markers and adipokines could inform on relationship between endocannabinoid levels and the low-grade inflammation associated with obesity. Identifying the central and peripheral mechanisms that support and challenge the maintenance of weight-loss following bariatric surgery may inform the research and development of more specifically targeted therapies that support the beneficial effects of bariatric surgery while limiting the negative side effects. Further discovery and innovation may even leverage our knowledge of the underlying mechanisms to eliminate the necessity of surgical intervention altogether.

Lastly, obesity and diabetes are a concern throughout the developed world. Just as the burden of these diseases varies by individual, so it does by ethnicity. Interestingly, there is clear evidence for variation in weight-loss for different ethnic groups, but the improvements to insulin sensitivity following bariatric surgery are significant across all groups [346]. Future studies should examine the influence of ethnicity, culture, and socioeconomic background on bariatric surgery outcomes.

4.2 Cannabinoid Action in Adipose Tissue

This investigation follows in the footsteps of over three decades of research that has largely focused on the central mechanisms of action by which cannabinoids affect health and behavior. Only in the last decade—after the failure of rimonabant—has research into the peripheral endocannabinoid system made significant strides in our understanding of the potential mechanisms by which whole-body energy homeostasis might be modulated by peripheral cannabinoid action.

Through an analysis of the differentially expressed genes in primary murine white adipose tissue, we reported that the insulin, calcium, and cAMP signaling pathways were all modulated by the synthetic cannabinoid WIN 55,212-2 (WIN). Specifically, we found that WIN inhibited each of these pathways, which was in line with our observations of attenuated antilipolytic action of insulin and reduced insulin-dependent Akt phosphorylation. A clear follow-up to these results would be to investigate the relative mRNA and protein expression of various anabolic and catabolic genes in adipose tissue under the same conditions as our anti-lipolysis assays. A rigorous transcriptomics and proteomics approach would generate more than enough data to explore the impact of WIN or other cannabinoids. This experiment could also be expanded to other metabolic tissues in order to better understand the collective role of peripheral cannabinoid action in regulating energy metabolism.

The results of our study leave a number of questions unanswered, primarily the CB1dependence of the observed effects. This might be addressed by similarly assessing the effect of WIN in the adipose tissue of CB1-deficient mice, or in the adipose tissue of adipose tissuespecific CB1-knockout mice. This could reveal whether endocannabinoids play a much larger role in energy homeostasis than previously thought. Indeed, a recent report demonstrated that adipocyte-specific inducible deletion of the CB1 receptor protects against diet-induced obesity (DIO) in mice on a high-fat diet (HFD), and even reverses the phenotype in already obese mice, ostensibly through increased energy expenditure and adipocyte browning [156]. Further investigation is required to corroborate these findings, which did not investigate the insulin sensitivity or lipid metabolism of the CB1-deficient adipose-tissue in these mice. Thus, a clear follow-up to our study would be to repeat our experiments in CB1-deficient primary adipose tissue.

We would be remiss to not consider the impact of diet, food intake, and sleep on cannabinoid action. Future research could repeat our experiments on the adipose tissue of mice that are fasted prior to sacrifice. The negligible basal Akt phosphorylation in our study may be due to the *ad libitum* feeding of the mice, thus fasting the mice would potentially enhance the insulin sensitivity of the adipose tissue, and may lead to an enhanced WIN response. Alternatively, a DIO mouse model might attenuate the insulin sensitivity of adipose tissue, theoretically suppressing the potential WIN response. Furthermore, a sleeprestriction model would likely lead to greater ECS activity, increased food intake without obesity, and insulin resistance [166]. Given that many people report consuming cannabis to cope with anxiety or sleeplessness, understanding the response of sleep-restricted adipose tissue to cannabinoids could yield physiologically relevant results. Within each of these potential models, tissue-specific gene expression and signaling would demonstrate how various tissues respond to cannabinoids, and contribute to a holistic understanding of central and peripheral cannabinoid action.

The results of this study are far from a complete illustration of the impact of peripheral cannabinoid action. Moreover, whether the effects of a potent synthetic cannabinoid like WIN can be extrapolated to the physiological impact of phytocannabinoids like THC is unclear. While our study demonstrated that acute *ex vivo* treatment of primary adipose tissue with WIN caused insulin resistance in the adipose tissue, it is unknown if a analogous result would be seen in humans following acute cannabis use. Future studies should compare the systemic and tissue-specific insulin sensitivity in lean and obese humans following acute and chronic administration of THC. Such a study should result in more physiologically relevant findings, which in turn could lead to clearer public health guidance with regard to medicinal and recreational cannabis use.

REFERENCES

- 1. WHO. Appropriate body-mass index for Asian populations and its implications for policy and intervention strategies. *The Lancet.* **2004**, *363* (9403), 157-163.
- Jih, J, Mukherjea, A, Vittinghoff, E, Nguyen, TT, Tsoh, JY, Fukuoka, Y, Bender, MS, Tseng, W, and Kanaya, AM. Using appropriate body mass index cut points for overweight and obesity among Asian Americans. *Preventive Medicine*. 2014, 65, 1-6.
- 3. Menifield, CE, Doty, N, and Fletcher, A. Obesity in America. Abnf j. 2008, 19 (3), 83-8.
- Hales, CM, Carroll, MD, Fryar, CD, and Ogden, CL. Prevalence of Obesity and Severe Obesity Among Adults: United States, 2017–2018. NCHS Data Brief, 360. Hyattsville, MD: National Center for Health Statistics. 2020.
- 5. Hall, KD, and Kahan, S. Maintenance of Lost Weight and Long-Term Management of Obesity. *Med Clin North Am.* **2018**, *102* (1), 183-197.
- 6. van Baak, MA, and Mariman, ECM. Mechanisms of weight regain after weight loss the role of adipose tissue. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*. **2019**, *15* (5), 274-287.
- Unick, JL, Beavers, D, Bond, DS, Clark, JM, Jakicic, JM, Kitabchi, AE, Knowler, WC, Wadden, TA, Wagenknecht, LE, and Wing, RR. The Long-term Effectiveness of a Lifestyle Intervention in Severely Obese Individuals. *The American Journal of Medicine*. 2013, 126 (3), 236-242.e2.
- 8. Milaneschi, Y, Simmons, WK, van Rossum, EFC, and Penninx, BW. Depression and obesity: evidence of shared biological mechanisms. *Mol Psychiatry*. **2019**, 24 (1), 18-33.
- 9. Jantaratnotai, N, Mosikanon, K, Lee, Y, and McIntyre, RS. The interface of depression and obesity. *Obes Res Clin Pract.* **2017**, *11* (1), 1-10.
- 10. St-Onge, MP. Sleep-obesity relation: underlying mechanisms and consequences for treatment. *Obes Rev.* **2017**, *18 Suppl* 1, 34-39.
- 11. Bozkurt, B, Aguilar, D, Deswal, A, Dunbar, SB, Francis, GS, Horwich, T, Jessup, M, Kosiborod, M, Pritchett, AM, Ramasubbu, K, Rosendorff, C, and Yancy, C. Contributory Risk and Management of Comorbidities of Hypertension, Obesity, Diabetes Mellitus, Hyperlipidemia, and Metabolic Syndrome in Chronic Heart Failure: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. *Circulation.* **2016**, *134* (23), e535-e578.
- 12. Apovian, CM. Obesity: definition, comorbidities, causes, and burden. *Am J Manag Care*. **2016**, 22 (7 Suppl), s176-85.

- Blüher, M. Obesity: global epidemiology and pathogenesis. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*. 2019, 15 (5), 288-298.
- 14. MacLean, PS, Blundell, JE, Mennella, JA, and Batterham, RL. Biological control of appetite: A daunting complexity. *Obesity*. **2017**, *25* (S1), S8-S16.
- 15. Hopkins, M, and Blundell, John E. Energy balance, body composition, sedentariness and appetite regulation: pathways to obesity. *Clinical Science*. **2016**, *130* (18), 1615-1628.
- Schwartz, MW, Seeley, RJ, Zeltser, LM, Drewnowski, A, Ravussin, E, Redman, LM, and Leibel, RL. Obesity Pathogenesis: An Endocrine Society Scientific Statement. *Endocrine reviews*. 2017, 38 (4), 267-296.
- Lim, K, Haider, A, Adams, C, Sleigh, A, and Savage, DB. Lipodistrophy: a paradigm for understanding the consequences of "overloading" adipose tissue. *Physiological Reviews*. 2021, 101 (3), 907-993.
- 18. Garvey, WT, Mechanick, JI, Brett, EM, Garber, AJ, Hurley, DL, Jastreboff, AM, Nadolsky, K, Pessah-Pollack, R, and Plodkowski, R. American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists and American College of Endocrinology Comprehensive Clinical Practice Guidelines Formedical Care of Patients with Obesity. *Endocrine Practice*. 2016, 22, 1-203.
- Santos, I, Sniehotta, FF, Marques, MM, Carraça, EV, and Teixeira, PJ. Prevalence of personal weight control attempts in adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Obesity Reviews*. 2017, 18 (1), 32-50.
- 20. Anderson, JW, Konz, EC, Frederich, RC, and Wood, CL. Long-term weight-loss maintenance: a meta-analysis of US studies. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. **2001**, 74 (5), 579-584.
- Sumithran, P, Prendergast, LA, Delbridge, E, Purcell, K, Shulkes, A, Kriketos, A, and Proietto, J. Long-Term Persistence of Hormonal Adaptations to Weight Loss. *New England Journal* of Medicine. 2011, 365 (17), 1597-1604.
- 22. Group, TLAR. Eight-year weight losses with an intensive lifestyle intervention: The look AHEAD study. *Obesity*. **2014**, *22* (1), 5-13.
- 23. Khera, R, Murad, MH, Chandar, AK, Dulai, PS, Wang, Z, Prokop, LJ, Loomba, R, Camilleri, M, and Singh, S. Association of Pharmacological Treatments for Obesity With Weight Loss and Adverse Events: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *JAMA*. 2016, 315 (22), 2424-2434.
- 24. Sam, AH, Salem, V, and Ghatei, MA. Rimonabant: From RIO to Ban. J Obes. 2011, 2011, 432607.

- Christensen, R, Kristensen, PK, Bartels, EM, Bliddal, H, and Astrup, A. Efficacy and safety of the weight-loss drug rimonabant: a meta-analysis of randomised trials. *The Lancet.* 2007, 370 (9600), 1706-1713.
- Hampp, C, Kang, EM, and Borders-Hemphill, V. Use of Prescription Antiobesity Drugs in the United States. *Pharmacotherapy: The Journal of Human Pharmacology and Drug Therapy*. 2013, 33 (12), 1299-1307.
- 27. Yanovski, SZ, and Yanovski, JA. Long-term Drug Treatment for Obesity: A Systematic and Clinical Review. *JAMA*. **2014**, *311* (1), 74-86.
- Sharretts, J, Galescu, O, Gomatam, S, Andraca-Carrera, E, Hampp, C, and Yanoff, L. Cancer Risk Associated with Lorcaserin — The FDA's Review of the CAMELLIA-TIMI 61 Trial. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 2020, 383 (11), 1000-1002.
- 29. Hauner, H. The mode of action of thiazolidinediones. *Diabetes/metabolism research and reviews*. **2002,** *18* (S2), S10-S15.
- 30. Kelly, AS, and Bank, AJ. The cardiovascular effects of the thiazolidinediones: a review of the clinical data. *Journal of Diabetes and its Complications*. **2007**, *21* (5), 326-334.
- 31. Hendricks, EJ. Off-label drugs for weight management. *Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes.* **2017**, *10*, 223-234.
- 32. Foretz, M, Guigas, B, and Viollet, B. Understanding the glucoregulatory mechanisms of metformin in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*. **2019**, *15* (10), 569-589.
- Trujillo, JM, Nuffer, W, and Smith, BA. GLP-1 receptor agonists: an updated review of headto-head clinical studies. *Therapeutic Advances in Endocrinology and Metabolism*. 2021, 12, 2042018821997320.
- 34. Sheahan, KH, Wahlberg, EA, and Gilbert, MP. An overview of GLP-1 agonists and recent cardiovascular outcomes trials. *Postgraduate Medical Journal.* **2020**, *96* (1133), 156-161.
- 35. Madsbad, S. The role of glucagon-like peptide-1 impairment in obesity and potential therapeutic implications. *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism.* **2014**, *16* (1), 9-21.
- 36. Holst, JJ. The Physiology of Glucagon-like Peptide 1. *Physiological Reviews*. **2007**, *87* (4), 1409-1439.
- Müller, TD, Finan, B, Bloom, SR, D'Alessio, D, Drucker, DJ, Flatt, PR, Fritsche, A, Gribble, F, Grill, HJ, Habener, JF, Holst, JJ, Langhans, W, Meier, JJ, Nauck, MA, Perez-Tilve, D, Pocai, A, Reimann, F, Sandoval, DA, Schwartz, TW, Seeley, RJ, Stemmer, K, Tang-Christensen, M, Woods, SC, DiMarchi, RD, and Tschöp, MH. Glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1). *Molecular Metabolism.* 2019, *30*, 72-130.

- 38. Wilding, JPH, Batterham, RL, Calanna, S, Davies, M, Van Gaal, LF, Lingvay, I, McGowan, BM, Rosenstock, J, Tran, MTD, Wadden, TA, Wharton, S, Yokote, K, Zeuthen, N, and Kushner, RF. Once-Weekly Semaglutide in Adults with Overweight or Obesity. *New England Journal* of Medicine. 2021, 384 (11), 989-1002.
- 39. Ryan, DH, Lingvay, I, Colhoun, HM, Deanfield, J, Emerson, SS, Kahn, SE, Kushner, RF, Marso, S, Plutzky, J, Brown-Frandsen, K, Gronning, MOL, Hovingh, GK, Holst, AG, Ravn, H, and Lincoff, AM. Semaglutide Effects on Cardiovascular Outcomes in People With Overweight or Obesity (SELECT) rationale and design. *American Heart Journal*. 2020, 229, 61-69.
- 40. Wolfe, BM, Kvach, E, and Eckel, RH. Treatment of Obesity: Weight Loss and Bariatric Surgery. *Circ Res.* **2016**, *118* (11), 1844-55.
- 41. Arterburn, DE, Telem, DA, Kushner, RF, and Courcoulas, AP. Benefits and Risks of Bariatric Surgery in Adults: A Review. *Jama*. **2020**, *324* (9), 879-887.
- 42. Syn, NL, Cummings, DE, Wang, LZ, Lin, DJ, Zhao, JJ, Loh, M, Koh, ZJ, Chew, CA, Loo, YE, Tai, BC, Kim, G, So, JB-Y, Kaplan, LM, Dixon, JB, and Shabbir, A. Association of metabolic–bariatric surgery with long-term survival in adults with and without diabetes: a one-stage meta-analysis of matched cohort and prospective controlled studies with 174 772 participants. *The Lancet.* **2021**, *397* (10287), 1830-1841.
- 43. Cavin, J-B, Couvelard, A, Lebtahi, R, Ducroc, R, Arapis, K, Voitellier, E, Cluzeaud, F, Gillard, L, Hourseau, M, Mikail, N, Ribeiro-Parenti, L, Kapel, N, Marmuse, J-P, Bado, A, and Le Gall, M. Differences in Alimentary Glucose Absorption and Intestinal Disposal of Blood Glucose After Roux-en-Y Gastric Bypass vs Sleeve Gastrectomy. *Gastroenterology*. 2016, 150 (2), 454-464.e9.
- Chung, AY, Thompson, R, Overby, DW, Duke, MC, and Farrell, TM. Sleeve Gastrectomy: Surgical Tips. *Journal of Laparoendoscopic & Advanced Surgical Techniques*. 2018, 28 (8), 930-937.
- 45. Stefater, MA, Pérez–Tilve, D, Chambers, AP, Wilson–Pérez, HE, Sandoval, DA, Berger, J, Toure, M, Tschöp, M, Woods, SC, and Seeley, RJ. Sleeve Gastrectomy Induces Loss of Weight and Fat Mass in Obese Rats, but Does Not Affect Leptin Sensitivity. *Gastroenterology*. 2010, 138 (7), 2426-2436.e3.
- 46. Malin, SK, Samat, A, Wolski, K, Abood, B, Pothier, CE, Bhatt, DL, Nissen, S, Brethauer, SA, Schauer, PR, Kirwan, JP, and Kashyap, SR. Improved acylated ghrelin suppression at 2 years in obese patients with type 2 diabetes: effects of bariatric surgery vs standard medical therapy. *International Journal of Obesity*. 2014, 38 (3), 364-370.

- 47. Hao, Z, Mumphrey, MB, Townsend, RL, Morrison, CD, Münzberg, H, Ye, J, and Berthoud, H-R. Reprogramming of defended body weight after Roux-En-Y gastric bypass surgery in diet-induced obese mice. *Obesity*. **2016**, *24* (3), 654-660.
- 48. Seeley, Randy J, Chambers, Adam P, and Sandoval, Darleen A. The Role of Gut Adaptation in the Potent Effects of Multiple Bariatric Surgeries on Obesity and Diabetes. *Cell Metabolism.* 2015, 21 (3), 369-378.
- 49. Pucci, A, and Batterham, RL. Mechanisms underlying the weight loss effects of RYGB and SG: similar, yet different. *Journal of endocrinological investigation*. **2019**, 42 (2), 117-128.
- 50. Hutch, CR, and Sandoval, D. The Role of GLP-1 in the Metabolic Success of Bariatric Surgery. *Endocrinology*. **2017**, *158* (12), 4139-4151.
- Christou, NV, Look, D, and MacLean, LD. Weight Gain After Short- and Long-Limb Gastric Bypass in Patients Followed for Longer Than 10 Years. *Annals of Surgery.* 2006, 244 (5), 734-740.
- 52. Magro, DO, Geloneze, B, Delfini, R, Pareja, BC, Callejas, F, and Pareja, JC. Long-term Weight Regain after Gastric Bypass: A 5-year Prospective Study. *Obesity Surgery*. 2008, 18 (6), 648-651.
- 53. Odom, J, Zalesin, KC, Washington, TL, Miller, WW, Hakmeh, B, Zaremba, DL, Altattan, M, Balasubramaniam, M, Gibbs, DS, Krause, KR, Chengelis, DL, Franklin, BA, and McCullough, PA. Behavioral Predictors of Weight Regain after Bariatric Surgery. *Obesity Surgery*. 2010, 20 (3), 349-356.
- 54. Chusyd, DE, Wang, D, Huffman, DM, and Nagy, TR. Relationships between Rodent White Adipose Fat Pads and Human White Adipose Fat Depots. *Frontiers in Nutrition*. **2016**, *3* (10).
- 55. Gabriely, I, Ma, XH, Yang, XM, Atzmon, G, Rajala, MW, Berg, AH, Scherer, P, Rossetti, L, and Barzilai, N. Removal of Visceral Fat Prevents Insulin Resistance and Glucose Intolerance of Aging. *An Adipokine-Mediated Process*? **2002**, *51* (10), 2951-2958.
- 56. Wajchenberg, BL, Giannella-Neto, D, da Silva, MER, and Santos, RF. Depot-Specific Hormonal Characteristics of Subcutaneous and Visceral Adipose Tissue and their Relation to the Metabolic Syndrome. *Horm Metab Res.* **2002**, *34* (11/12), 616-621.
- 57. Snijder, MB, Zimmet, PZ, Visser, M, Dekker, JM, Seidell, JC, and Shaw, JE. Independent and opposite associations of waist and hip circumferences with diabetes, hypertension and dyslipidemia: the AusDiab Study. *International Journal of Obesity*. **2004**, *28* (3), 402-409.

- 58. Misra, A, Garg, A, Abate, N, Peshock, RM, Stray-Gundersen, J, and Grundy, SM. Relationship of Anterior and Posterior Subcutaneous Abdominal Fat to Insulin Sensitivity in Nondiabetic Men. *Obesity Research.* **1997**, *5* (2), 93-99.
- Grundy, SM, Adams-Huet, B, and Vega, GL. Variable Contributions of Fat Content and Distribution to Metabolic Syndrome Risk Factors. *Metabolic Syndrome and Related Disorders*. 2008, 6 (4), 281-288.
- 60. Manolopoulos, KN, Karpe, F, and Frayn, KN. Gluteofemoral body fat as a determinant of metabolic health. *International Journal of Obesity*. **2010**, *34* (6), 949-959.
- 61. Koster, A, Stenholm, S, Alley, DE, Kim, LJ, Simonsick, EM, Kanaya, AM, Visser, M, Houston, DK, Nicklas, BJ, Tylavsky, FA, Satterfield, S, Goodpaster, BH, Ferrucci, L, Harris, TB, and Study, FtHA. Body Fat Distribution and Inflammation Among Obese Older Adults With and Without Metabolic Syndrome. *Obesity*. 2010, 18 (12), 2354-2361.
- Jensen, MD, Haymond, MW, Rizza, RA, Cryer, PE, and Miles, JM. Influence of body fat distribution on free fatty acid metabolism in obesity. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. 1989, 83 (4), 1168-1173.
- Zhang, F, Hao, G, Shao, M, Nham, K, An, Y, Wang, Q, Zhu, Y, Kusminski, CM, Hassan, G, Gupta, RK, Zhai, Q, Sun, X, Scherer, PE, and Oz, OK. An Adipose Tissue Atlas: An Image-Guided Identification of Human-like BAT and Beige Depots in Rodents. *Cell Metabolism*. 2018, 27 (1), 252-262.e3.
- 64. Cypess, AM, Lehman, S, Williams, G, Tal, I, Rodman, D, Goldfine, AB, Kuo, FC, Palmer, EL, Tseng, Y-H, Doria, A, Kolodny, GM, and Kahn, CR. Identification and Importance of Brown Adipose Tissue in Adult Humans. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 2009, 360 (15), 1509-1517.
- 65. Kahn, CR, Wang, G, and Lee, KY. Altered adipose tissue and adipocyte function in the pathogenesis of metabolic syndrome. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. **2019**, *129* (10), 3990-4000.
- 66. Cypess, AM, and Kahn, CR. The role and importance of brown adipose tissue in energy homeostasis. *Current Opinion in Pediatrics*. **2010**, 22 (4), 478-484.
- 67. Cypess, Aaron M, Weiner, Lauren S, Roberts-Toler, C, Elía, Elisa F, Kessler, Skyler H, Kahn, Peter A, English, J, Chatman, K, Trauger, Sunia A, Doria, A, and Kolodny, Gerald M. Activation of Human Brown Adipose Tissue by a β3-Adrenergic Receptor Agonist. *Cell Metabolism.* 2015, 21 (1), 33-38.
- 68. Singh, AM, Zhang, L, Avery, J, Yin, A, Du, Y, Wang, H, Li, Z, Fu, H, Yin, H, and Dalton, S. Human beige adipocytes for drug discovery and cell therapy in metabolic diseases. *Nature Communications*. 2020, 11 (1), 2758.

- 69. Weisberg, SP, McCann, D, Desai, M, Rosenbaum, M, Leibel, RL, and Ferrante, AW, Jr. Obesity is associated with macrophage accumulation in adipose tissue. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. **2003**, *112* (12), 1796-1808.
- 70. Kratz, M, Coats, Brittney R, Hisert, Katherine B, Hagman, D, Mutskov, V, Peris, E, Schoenfelt, Kelly Q, Kuzma, Jessica N, Larson, I, Billing, Peter S, Landerholm, Robert W, Crouthamel, M, Gozal, D, Hwang, S, Singh, PK, and Becker, L. Metabolic Dysfunction Drives a Mechanistically Distinct Proinflammatory Phenotype in Adipose Tissue Macrophages. *Cell Metabolism.* 2014, 20 (4), 614-625.
- Coats, BR, Schoenfelt, KQ, Barbosa-Lorenzi, VC, Peris, E, Cui, C, Hoffman, A, Zhou, G, Fernandez, S, Zhai, L, Hall, BA, Haka, AS, Shah, AM, Reardon, CA, Brady, MJ, Rhodes, CJ, Maxfield, FR, and Becker, L. Metabolically Activated Adipose Tissue Macrophages Perform Detrimental and Beneficial Functions during Diet-Induced Obesity. *Cell Reports*. 2017, 20 (13), 3149-3161.
- 72. Berg, AH, and Scherer, PE. Adipose Tissue, Inflammation, and Cardiovascular Disease. *Circulation Research.* **2005**, *96* (9), 939-949.
- 73. Chait, A, and den Hartigh, LJ. Adipose Tissue Distribution, Inflammation and Its Metabolic Consequences, Including Diabetes and Cardiovascular Disease. *Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine*. 2020, 7 (22).
- 74. Friedman, JM, and Halaas, JL. Leptin and the regulation of body weight in mammals. *Nature*. **1998**, *395* (6704), 763-770.
- 75. Farooqi, IS, and O'Rahilly, S. 20 YEARS OF LEPTIN: Human disorders of leptin action. *Journal* of Endocrinology. **2014**, 223 (1), T63-T70.
- 76. Tsai, M, Asakawa, A, Amitani, H, and Inui, A. Stimulation of leptin secretion by insulin. *Indian Journal of Endocrinology and Metabolism.* **2012**, *16* (9), 543-548.
- 77. Cammisotto, PG, and Bukowiecki, LJ. Mechanisms of leptin secretion from white adipocytes. *American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology*. **2002**, 283 (1), C244-C250.
- 78. Considine, RV, Sinha, MK, Heiman, ML, Kriauciunas, A, Stephens, TW, Nyce, MR, Ohannesian, JP, Marco, CC, McKee, LJ, Bauer, TL, and Caro, JF. Serum Immunoreactive-Leptin Concentrations in Normal-Weight and Obese Humans. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 1996, 334 (5), 292-295.
- Friedman, JM. Leptin and the endocrine control of energy balance. *Nature Metabolism.* 2019, 1 (8), 754-764.
- 80. Maeda, N, Shimomura, I, Kishida, K, Nishizawa, H, Matsuda, M, Nagaretani, H, Furuyama, N, Kondo, H, Takahashi, M, Arita, Y, Komuro, R, Ouchi, N, Kihara, S, Tochino, Y,

Okutomi, K, Horie, M, Takeda, S, Aoyama, T, Funahashi, T, and Matsuzawa, Y. Dietinduced insulin resistance in mice lacking adiponectin/ACRP30. *Nature Medicine*. **2002**, *8* (7), 731-737.

- 81. Kim, J-Y, van de Wall, E, Laplante, M, Azzara, A, Trujillo, ME, Hofmann, SM, Schraw, T, Durand, JL, Li, H, Li, G, Jelicks, LA, Mehler, MF, Hui, DY, Deshaies, Y, Shulman, GI, Schwartz, GJ, and Scherer, PE. Obesity-associated improvements in metabolic profile through expansion of adipose tissue. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. 2007, 117 (9), 2621-2637.
- 82. Ruan, H, and Dong, LQ. Adiponectin signaling and function in insulin target tissues. *Journal* of Molecular Cell Biology. **2016**, 8 (2), 101-109.
- 83. Fang, H, and Judd, RL, Adiponectin Regulation and Function. In *Comprehensive Physiology*, 2018; pp 1031-1063.
- Hotamisligil, GS, Arner, P, Caro, JF, Atkinson, RL, and Spiegelman, BM. Increased adipose tissue expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha in human obesity and insulin resistance. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. **1995**, *95* (5), 2409-2415.
- 85. Ruan, H, and Lodish, HF. Insulin resistance in adipose tissue: direct and indirect effects of tumor necrosis factor-α. *Cytokine & Growth Factor Reviews*. 2003, 14 (5), 447-455.
- 86. Tilg, H, and Moschen, AR. Inflammatory Mechanisms in the Regulation of Insulin Resistance. *Molecular Medicine*. **2008**, 14 (3), 222-231.
- 87. Ouchi, N, Parker, JL, Lugus, JJ, and Walsh, K. Adipokines in inflammation and metabolic disease. *Nature Reviews Immunology*. **2011**, *11* (2), 85-97.
- Makki, K, Froguel, P, and Wolowczuk, I. Adipose Tissue in Obesity-Related Inflammation and Insulin Resistance: Cells, Cytokines, and Chemokines. *ISRN Inflammation*. 2013, 2013, 139239.
- Yudkin, JS, Stehouwer, CDA, Emeis, JJ, and Coppack, SW. C-Reactive Protein in Healthy Subjects: Associations With Obesity, Insulin Resistance, and Endothelial Dysfunction. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*. **1999**, *19* (4), 972-978.
- 90. Shah, A, Mehta, N, and Reilly, MP. Adipose Inflammation, Insulin Resistance, and Cardiovascular Disease. *Journal of Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition*. **2008**, 32 (6), 638-644.
- 91. Plomgaard, P, Bouzakri, K, Krogh-Madsen, R, Mittendorfer, B, Zierath, JR, and Pedersen, BK. Tumor Necrosis Factor-α Induces Skeletal Muscle Insulin Resistance in Healthy Human Subjects via Inhibition of Akt Substrate 160 Phosphorylation. *Diabetes*. 2005, 54 (10), 2939-2945.

- 92. Nieto-Vazquez, I, Fernández-Veledo, S, Krämer, DK, Vila-Bedmar, R, Garcia-Guerra, L, and Lorenzo, M. Insulin resistance associated to obesity: the link TNF-alpha. *Archives of Physiology and Biochemistry*. 2008, 114 (3), 183-194.
- 93. Borst, SE. The role of TNF- α in insulin resistance. *Endocrine*. **2004**, 23 (2), 177-182.
- 94. Kanety, H, Feinstein, R, Papa, MZ, Hemi, R, and Karasik, A. Tumor Necrosis Factor α-induced Phosphorylation of Insulin Receptor Substrate-1 (IRS-1): POSSIBLE MECHANISM FOR SUPPRESSION OF INSULIN-STIMULATED TYROSINE PHOSPHORYLATION OF IRS-1 (*). Journal of Biological Chemistry. 1995, 270 (40), 23780-23784.
- 95. Fève, B, and Bastard, J-P. The role of interleukins in insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*. **2009**, *5* (6), 305-311.
- 96. Sheng, CH, Di, J, Jin, Y, Zhang, YC, Wu, M, Sun, Y, and Zhang, GZ. Resistin is expressed in human hepatocytes and induces insulin resistance. *Endocrine*. **2008**, *33* (2), 135-143.
- 97. Park, HK, and Ahima, RS. Resistin in rodents and humans. *Diabetes Metab J.* **2013**, 37 (6), 404-414.
- 98. Steppan, CM, Bailey, ST, Bhat, S, Brown, EJ, Banerjee, RR, Wright, CM, Patel, HR, Ahima, RS, and Lazar, MA. The hormone resistin links obesity to diabetes. *Nature*. 2001, 409 (6818), 307-312.
- Bokarewa, M, Nagaev, I, Dahlberg, L, Smith, U, and Tarkowski, A. Resistin, an Adipokine with Potent Proinflammatory Properties. *The Journal of Immunology*. 2005, 174 (9), 5789-5795.
- 100. Palanivel, R, Maida, A, Liu, Y, and Sweeney, G. Regulation of insulin signalling, glucose uptake and metabolism in rat skeletal muscle cells upon prolonged exposure to resistin. *Diabetologia.* **2006**, *49* (1), 183-190.
- 101. Fisher, JS. Potential Role of the AMP-activated Protein Kinase in Regulation of Insulin Action. *Cellscience.* **2006**, 2 (3), 68-81.
- 102. Hardie, DG. AMPK: A Target for Drugs and Natural Products With Effects on Both Diabetes and Cancer. *Diabetes.* **2013**, *62* (7), 2164-2172.
- 103. Röder, PV, Wu, B, Liu, Y, and Han, W. Pancreatic regulation of glucose homeostasis. *Experimental & Molecular Medicine*. **2016**, 48 (3), e219-e219.
- 104. Saponaro, C, Gaggini, M, Carli, F, and Gastaldelli, A. The Subtle Balance between Lipolysis and Lipogenesis: A Critical Point in Metabolic Homeostasis. *Nutrients.* **2015**, *7* (11), 9453-9474.

- 105. DiPilato, LM, Ahmad, F, Harms, M, Seale, P, Manganiello, V, and Birnbaum, MJ. The Role of PDE3B Phosphorylation in the Inhibition of Lipolysis by Insulin. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*. **2015**, *35* (16), 2752-2760.
- 106. Duncan, RE, Ahmadian, M, Jaworski, K, Sarkadi-Nagy, E, and Sul, HS. Regulation of lipolysis in adipocytes. *Annu Rev Nutr.* **2007**, *27*, 79-101.
- 107. Waterson, Michael J, and Horvath, Tamas L. Neuronal Regulation of Energy Homeostasis: Beyond the Hypothalamus and Feeding. *Cell Metabolism.* **2015**, *22* (6), 962-970.
- 108. Timper, K, and Brüning, JC. Hypothalamic circuits regulating appetite and energy homeostasis: pathways to obesity. *Disease Models & Bamp; Mechanisms*. **2017**, *10* (6), 679-689.
- 109. Tong, Q, Ye, C-P, Jones, JE, Elmquist, JK, and Lowell, BB. Synaptic release of GABA by AgRP neurons is required for normal regulation of energy balance. *Nature Neuroscience*. 2008, 11, 998.
- 110. Cowley, MA, Smart, JL, Rubinstein, M, Cerdán, MG, Diano, S, Horvath, TL, Cone, RD, and Low, MJ. Leptin activates anorexigenic POMC neurons through a neural network in the arcuate nucleus. *Nature*. 2001, 411, 480.
- 111. Baver, SB, Hope, K, Guyot, S, Bjørbaek, C, Kaczorowski, C, and O'Connell, KMS. Leptin Modulates the Intrinsic Excitability of AgRP/NPY Neurons in the Arcuate Nucleus of the Hypothalamus. *The Journal of Neuroscience*. **2014**, *34* (16), 5486-5496.
- 112. Morrison, CD, Morton, GJ, Niswender, KD, Gelling, RW, and Schwartz, MW. Leptin inhibits hypothalamic Npy and Agrp gene expression via a mechanism that requires phosphatidylinositol 3-OH-kinase signaling. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology* and Metabolism. 2005, 289 (6), E1051-E1057.
- 113. Jéquier, E. Leptin Signaling, Adiposity, and Energy Balance. *Annals of the New York Academy* of Sciences. 2002, 967 (1), 379-388.
- 114. Farr, OM, Gavrieli, A, and Mantzoros, CS. Leptin applications in 2015: what have we learned about leptin and obesity? *Current Opinion in Endocrinology, Diabetes and Obesity*. 2015, 22 (5), 353-359.
- 115. Chen, S-R, Chen, H, Zhou, J-J, Pradhan, G, Sun, Y, Pan, H-L, and Li, D-P. Ghrelin receptors mediate ghrelin-induced excitation of agouti-related protein/neuropeptide Y but not proopiomelanocortin neurons. *Journal of Neurochemistry*. **2017**, *142* (4), 512-520.
- 116. Sato, I, Hayashi, M, Watanabe, M, Goto, M, Banno, R, Oiso, Y, Arima, H, and Nagasaki, H. Ghrelin Increases Neuropeptide Y and Agouti-Related Peptide Gene Expression in the Arcuate Nucleus in Rat Hypothalamic Organotypic Cultures. *Endocrinology.* 2006, 147 (11), 5102-5109.

- 117. Howard, AD, Chen, AS, MacNeil, DJ, Marsh, DJ, Weingarth, DT, Frazier, EG, Adams, JR, Van der Ploeg, LHT, Trumbauer, ME, Qian, S, Feighner, SD, Guan, X-M, Shen, Z, Chen, HY, Nargund, RP, Ye, Z, and Smith, RG. Orexigenic Action of Peripheral Ghrelin Is Mediated by Neuropeptide Y and Agouti-Related Protein. *Endocrinology*. 2004, 145 (6), 2607-2612.
- 118. Sakata, I, and Sakai, T. Ghrelin Cells in the Gastrointestinal Tract. *International Journal of Peptides*. **2010**, 2010.
- 119. Inui, A, Asakawa, A, Bowers, CY, Mantovani, G, Laviano, A, Meguid, MM, and Fujimiya, M. Ghrelin, appetite, and gastric motility: the emerging role of the stomach as an endocrine organ. *The FASEB Journal*. **2004**, *18* (3), 439-456.
- 120. Malik, IA, Wilding, JPH, English, PJ, Ghatei, MA, and Bloom, SR. Food Fails to Suppress Ghrelin Levels in Obese Humans. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*. 2002, 87 (6), 2984-2987.
- 121. Mizuta, M, Mondal, MS, Matsukura, S, Shiiya, T, Date, Y, Nakazato, M, Hosoda, H, Kangawa, K, Tanaka, M, and Nozoe, S-I. Plasma Ghrelin Levels in Lean and Obese Humans and the Effect of Glucose on Ghrelin Secretion. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism.* 2002, 87 (1), 240-244.
- 122. Tschöp, M, Weyer, C, Tataranni, PA, Devanarayan, V, Ravussin, E, and Heiman, ML. Circulating Ghrelin Levels Are Decreased in Human Obesity. *Diabetes*. **2001**, *50* (4), 707-709.
- 123. Delhanty, PJD, Neggers, SJ, and van der Lely, AJ. MECHANISMS IN ENDOCRINOLOGY: Ghrelin: the differences between acyl- and des-acyl ghrelin. *European Journal of Endocrinology*. **2012**, *167* (5), 601-608.
- 124. Pacifico, L, Poggiogalle, E, Costantino, F, Anania, C, Ferraro, F, Chiarelli, F, and Chiesa, C. Acylated and nonacylated ghrelin levels and their associations with insulin resistance in obese and normal weight children with metabolic syndrome. *European Journal of Endocrinology*. 2009, 161 (6), 861-870.
- 125. Spiegel, K, Tasali, E, Leproult, R, Scherberg, N, and Van Cauter, E. Twenty-Four-Hour Profiles of Acylated and Total Ghrelin: Relationship with Glucose Levels and Impact of Time of Day and Sleep. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism.* 2011, 96 (2), 486-493.
- 126. Alhadeff, AL, Rupprecht, LE, and Hayes, MR. GLP-1 Neurons in the Nucleus of the Solitary Tract Project Directly to the Ventral Tegmental Area and Nucleus Accumbens to Control for Food Intake. *Endocrinology.* **2012**, *153* (2), 647-658.

- 127. Garaulet, M, and Gómez-Abellán, P. Timing of food intake and obesity: A novel association. *Physiology & Behavior*. **2014**, *134*, 44-50.
- 128. Paoli, A, Tinsley, G, Bianco, A, and Moro, T. The Influence of Meal Frequency and Timing on Health in Humans: The Role of Fasting. *Nutrients*. **2019**, *11* (4), 719.
- 129. Lopez-Minguez, J, Gómez-Abellán, P, and Garaulet, M. Timing of Breakfast, Lunch, and Dinner. Effects on Obesity and Metabolic Risk. *Nutrients*. **2019**, *11* (11), 2624.
- 130. Cummings, DE, Frayo, RS, Marmonier, C, Aubert, R, and Chapelot, D. Plasma ghrelin levels and hunger scores in humans initiating meals voluntarily without time- and food-related cues. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.* **2004**, *287* (2), E297-304.
- 131. Schoeller, DA, Cella, LK, Sinha, MK, and Caro, JF. Entrainment of the diurnal rhythm of plasma leptin to meal timing. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*. **1997**, *100* (7), 1882-7.
- 132. Danguir, J, and Nicolaidis, S. Dependence of sleep on nutrients' availability. *Physiology & Behavior*. **1979**, 22 (4), 735-740.
- 133. Rechtschaffen, A, Gilliland, M, Bergmann, B, and Winter, J. Physiological correlates of prolonged sleep deprivation in rats. *Science (New York, N.Y.).* **1983**, *221* (4606), 182-184.
- 134. Rechtschaffen, A, and Bergmann, BM. Sleep deprivation in the rat by the disk-over-water method. *Behavioural Brain Research*. **1995**, *69* (1), 55-63.
- 135. Spiegel, K, Tasali, E, Penev, P, and Cauter, EV. Brief Communication: Sleep Curtailment in Healthy Young Men Is Associated with Decreased Leptin Levels, Elevated Ghrelin Levels, and Increased Hunger and Appetite. *Annals of Internal Medicine*. **2004**, *141* (11), 846-850.
- 136. Spiegel, K, Leproult, R, L'Hermite-Balériaux, M, Copinschi, G, Penev, PD, and Van Cauter, E. Leptin Levels Are Dependent on Sleep Duration: Relationships with Sympathovagal Balance, Carbohydrate Regulation, Cortisol, and Thyrotropin. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism.* 2004, 89 (11), 5762-5771.
- 137. Berridge, Kent C, and Kringelbach, Morten L. Pleasure Systems in the Brain. *Neuron.* **2015**, *86* (3), 646-664.
- 138. van Zessen, R, van der Plasse, G, and Adan, RAH. Contribution of the mesolimbic dopamine system in mediating the effects of leptin and ghrelin on feeding. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society.* **2012**, *71* (4), 435-445.
- 139. Volkow, ND, Wang, G-J, and Baler, RD. Reward, dopamine and the control of food intake: implications for obesity. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*. **2011**, *15* (1), 37-46.

- 140. Stoeckel, LE, Weller, RE, Cook, EW, Twieg, DB, Knowlton, RC, and Cox, JE. Widespread reward-system activation in obese women in response to pictures of high-calorie foods. *NeuroImage*. **2008**, *41* (2), 636-647.
- 141. St-Onge, MP, Wolfe, S, Sy, M, Shechter, A, and Hirsch, J. Sleep restriction increases the neuronal response to unhealthy food in normal-weight individuals. *International Journal of Obesity*. **2014**, *38* (3), 411-416.
- 142. St-Onge, M-P, McReynolds, A, Trivedi, ZB, Roberts, AL, Sy, M, and Hirsch, J. Sleep restriction leads to increased activation of brain regions sensitive to food stimuli. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. **2012**, *95* (4), 818-824.
- 143. Pertwee, RG. Cannabinoid pharmacology: the first 66 years. *British journal of pharmacology*. **2006**, *1*47 (S1), S163-S171.
- 144. Ruiz de Azua, I, and Lutz, B. Multiple endocannabinoid-mediated mechanisms in the regulation of energy homeostasis in brain and peripheral tissues. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*. **2019**, *76* (7), 1341-1363.
- 145. Wenzel, JM, and Cheer, JF. Endocannabinoid Regulation of Reward and Reinforcement through Interaction with Dopamine and Endogenous Opioid Signaling. *Neuropsychopharmacology.* **2018**, *43* (1), 103-115.
- 146. Gardner, EL. Endocannabinoid signaling system and brain reward: emphasis on dopamine. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav.* **2005**, *81* (2), 263-84.
- 147. Solinas, M, Goldberg, SR, and Piomelli, D. The endocannabinoid system in brain reward processes. *British journal of pharmacology*. **2008**, 154 (2), 369-383.
- 148. Winters, BD, Krüger, JM, Huang, X, Gallaher, ZR, Ishikawa, M, Czaja, K, Krueger, JM, Huang, YH, Schlüter, OM, and Dong, Y. Cannabinoid receptor 1-expressing neurons in the nucleus accumbens. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 2012, 109 (40), E2717-E2725.
- 149. Parsons, LH, and Hurd, YL. Endocannabinoid signalling in reward and addiction. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*. **2015**, *16*, 579.
- 150. Morozov, YM, Koch, M, Rakic, P, and Horvath, TL. Cannabinoid type 1 receptor-containing axons innervate NPY/AgRP neurons in the mouse arcuate nucleus. *Molecular Metabolism*. 2017, 6 (4), 374-381.
- 151. Hillard, CJ. Circulating Endocannabinoids: From Whence Do They Come and Where are They Going? *Neuropsychopharmacology*. **2018**, *43* (1), 155-172.

- 152. Monteleone, P, Piscitelli, F, Scognamiglio, P, Monteleone, AM, Canestrelli, B, Di Marzo, V, and Maj, M. Hedonic eating is associated with increased peripheral levels of ghrelin and the endocannabinoid 2-arachidonoyl-glycerol in healthy humans: a pilot study. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism*. **2012**, *97* (6), E917-24.
- 153. Monteleone, AM, Di Marzo, V, Monteleone, P, Dalle Grave, R, Aveta, T, Ghoch, ME, Piscitelli, F, Volpe, U, Calugi, S, and Maj, M. Responses of peripheral endocannabinoids and endocannabinoid-related compounds to hedonic eating in obesity. *European journal of nutrition.* 2016, 55 (4), 1799-805.
- 154. Rakotoarivelo, V, Sihag, J, and Flamand, N. Role of the Endocannabinoid System in the Adipose Tissue with Focus on Energy Metabolism. *Cells.* **2021**, *10* (6), 1279.
- 155. Scheen, AJ, and Paquot, N. Use of cannabinoid CB1 receptor antagonists for the treatment of metabolic disorders. *Best Practice & Research Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*. 2009, 23 (1), 103-116.
- 156. Ruiz de Azua, I, Mancini, G, Srivastava, RK, Rey, AA, Cardinal, P, Tedesco, L, Zingaretti, CM, Sassmann, A, Quarta, C, Schwitter, C, Conrad, A, Wettschureck, N, Vemuri, VK, Makriyannis, A, Hartwig, J, Mendez-Lago, M, Bindila, L, Monory, K, Giordano, A, Cinti, S, Marsicano, G, Offermanns, S, Nisoli, E, Pagotto, U, Cota, D, and Lutz, B. Adipocyte cannabinoid receptor CB1 regulates energy homeostasis and alternatively activated macrophages. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. 2017, 127 (11), 4148-4162.
- 157. Cota, D, Marsicano, G, Tschöp, M, Grübler, Y, Flachskamm, C, Schubert, M, Auer, D, Yassouridis, A, Thöne-Reineke, C, Ortmann, S, Tomassoni, F, Cervino, C, Nisoli, E, Linthorst, ACE, Pasquali, R, Lutz, B, Stalla, GK, and Pagotto, U. The endogenous cannabinoid system affects energy balance via central orexigenic drive and peripheral lipogenesis. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. **2003**, *112* (3), 423-431.
- Quarta, C, Mazza, R, Obici, S, Pasquali, R, and Pagotto, U. Energy balance regulation by endocannabinoids at central and peripheral levels. *Trends in Molecular Medicine*. 2011, 17 (9), 518-526.
- 159. Silvestri, C, and Di Marzo, V. The Endocannabinoid System in Energy Homeostasis and the Etiopathology of Metabolic Disorders. *Cell Metabolism.* **2013**, *17* (4), 475-490.
- 160. Bellocchio, L, Cervino, C, Pasquali, R, and Pagotto, U. The Endocannabinoid System and Energy Metabolism. *Journal of neuroendocrinology*. **2008**, *20* (6), 850-857.
- 161. Mackie, K, Distribution of Cannabinoid Receptors in the Central and Peripheral Nervous System. In *Cannabinoids*, Pertwee, R. G., Ed. Springer Berlin Heidelberg: Berlin, Heidelberg, 2005; pp 299-325.

- 162. Castillo, Pablo E, Younts, Thomas J, Chávez, Andrés E, and Hashimotodani, Y. Endocannabinoid Signaling and Synaptic Function. *Neuron.* **2012**, *76* (1), 70-81.
- 163. Kreitzer, AC, and Regehr, WG. Retrograde signaling by endocannabinoids. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*. **2002**, *12* (3), 324-330.
- 164. Soria-Gómez, E, Massa, F, Bellocchio, L, Rueda-Orozco, PE, Ciofi, P, Cota, D, Oliet, SHR, Prospéro-García, O, and Marsicano, G. Cannabinoid type-1 receptors in the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus inhibit stimulated food intake. *Neuroscience*. 2014, 263, 46-53.
- 165. Touriño, C, Oveisi, F, Lockney, J, Piomelli, D, and Maldonado, R. FAAH deficiency promotes energy storage and enhances the motivation for food. *International Journal of Obesity*. 2010, 34 (3), 557-568.
- 166. De Leon, AA, and Hanlon, EC, Chapter 23 Impact of Sleep Restriction on Food Intake and Food Choice. In *Neurological Modulation of Sleep*, Watson, R. R.; Preedy, V. R., Eds. Academic Press: 2020; pp 217-228.
- 167. Hanlon, EC, Tasali, E, Leproult, R, Stuhr, KL, Doncheck, E, de Wit, H, Hillard, CJ, and Van Cauter, E. Sleep Restriction Enhances the Daily Rhythm of Circulating Levels of Endocannabinoid 2-Arachidonoylglycerol. *Sleep.* **2016**, *39* (3), 653-64.
- 168. Hanlon, EC, Tasali, E, Leproult, R, Stuhr, KL, Doncheck, E, de Wit, H, Hillard, CJ, and Van Cauter, E. Circadian Rhythm of Circulating Levels of the Endocannabinoid 2-Arachidonoylglycerol. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*. 2015, 100 (1), 220-226.
- 169. Hanlon, EC, Leproult, R, Stuhr, KL, Doncheck, EM, Hillard, CJ, and Van Cauter, E. Circadian Misalignment of the 24-hour Profile of Endocannabinoid 2-Arachidonoylglycerol (2-AG) in Obese Adults. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism.* 2020, 105 (3), 792-802.
- 170. Boucher, J, Kleinridders, A, and Kahn, CR. Insulin Receptor Signaling in Normal and Insulin-Resistant States. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*. **2014**, 6 (1).
- 171. Ioannilli, L, Ciccarone, F, and Ciriolo, MR. Adipose Tissue and FoxO1: Bridging Physiology and Mechanisms. *Cells.* **2020**, *9* (4), 849.
- 172. Gual, P, Le Marchand-Brustel, Y, and Tanti, J-F. Positive and negative regulation of insulin signaling through IRS-1 phosphorylation. *Biochimie*. **2005**, *87* (1), 99-109.
- 173. Copps, KD, and White, MF. Regulation of insulin sensitivity by serine/threonine phosphorylation of insulin receptor substrate proteins IRS1 and IRS2. *Diabetologia*. **2012**, *55* (10), 2565-2582.

- 174. Mandavia, C, and Sowers, JR. Phosphoprotein Phosphatase PP2A Regulation of Insulin Receptor Substrate 1 and Insulin Metabolic Signaling. *Cardiorenal Medicine*. 2012, 2 (4), 308-313.
- 175. Kuo, Y-C, Huang, K-Y, Yang, C-H, Yang, Y-S, Lee, W-Y, and Chiang, C-W. Regulation of Phosphorylation of Thr-308 of Akt, Cell Proliferation, and Survival by the B55α Regulatory Subunit Targeting of the Protein Phosphatase 2A Holoenzyme to Akt*. *Journal* of Biological Chemistry. 2008, 283 (4), 1882-1892.
- 176. Ugi, S, Imamura, T, Maegawa, H, Egawa, K, Yoshizaki, T, Shi, K, Obata, T, Ebina, Y, Kashiwagi, A, and Olefsky, JM. Protein Phosphatase 2A Negatively Regulates Insulin's Metabolic Signaling Pathway by Inhibiting Akt (Protein Kinase B) Activity in 3T3-L1 Adipocytes. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*. 2004, 24 (19), 8778-8789.
- 177. Zemel, MB, Shi, H, Greer, B, Dirienzo, D, and Zemel, PC. Regulation of adiposity by dietary calcium. *Faseb j.* **2000**, *14* (9), 1132-8.
- 178. Parikh, SJ, and Yanovski, JA. Calcium intake and adiposity. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition.* **2003**, *77* (2), 281-287.
- 179. Shi, H, DiRienzo, D, and Zemel, MB. Effects of dietary calcium on adipocyte lipid metabolism and body weight regulation in energy-restricted aP2-agouti transgenic mice. *The FASEB Journal.* **2001**, *15* (2), 291-293.
- 180. Sun, X, and Zemel, MB. Calcium and Dairy Products Inhibit Weight and Fat Regain during Ad Libitum Consumption Following Energy Restriction in Ap2-Agouti Transgenic Mice. *The Journal of Nutrition.* 2004, 134 (11), 3054-3060.
- 181. Zemel, MB, Thompson, W, Milstead, A, Morris, K, and Campbell, P. Calcium and Dairy Acceleration of Weight and Fat Loss during Energy Restriction in Obese Adults. *Obesity Research.* 2004, 12 (4), 582-590.
- 182. Zhang, F, Ye, J, Meng, Y, Ai, W, Su, H, Zheng, J, Liu, F, Zhu, X, Wang, L, Gao, P, Shu, G, Jiang, Q, and Wang, S. Calcium Supplementation Enhanced Adipogenesis and Improved Glucose Homeostasis Through Activation of Camkii and PI3K/Akt Signaling Pathway in Porcine Bone Marrow Mesenchymal Stem Cells (pBMSCs) and Mice Fed High Fat Diet (HFD). *Cellular Physiology and Biochemistry*. 2018, *51* (1), 154-172.
- 183. Zhang, F, Ye, J, Zhu, X, Wang, L, Gao, P, Shu, G, Jiang, Q, and Wang, S. Anti-Obesity Effects of Dietary Calcium: The Evidence and Possible Mechanisms. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*. **2019**, *20* (12), 3072.
- 184. Park, S, Kang, S, and Kim, DS. Severe calcium deficiency increased visceral fat accumulation, down-regulating genes associated with fat oxidation, and increased insulin resistance

while elevating serum parathyroid hormone in estrogen-deficient rats. *Nutrition Research*. **2020**, *73*, 48-57.

- 185. Islam, MS, Calcium Signaling: From Basic to Bedside. In *Calcium Signaling*, Islam, M. S., Ed. Springer International Publishing: Cham, 2020; pp 1-6.
- 186. Clapham, DE. Calcium Signaling. Cell. 2007, 131 (6), 1047-1058.
- 187. Lisman, J, Yasuda, R, and Raghavachari, S. Mechanisms of CaMKII action in long-term potentiation. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*. **2012**, *13* (3), 169-182.
- 188. Kool, MJ, Proietti Onori, M, Borgesius, NZ, van de Bree, JE, Elgersma-Hooisma, M, Nio, E, Bezstarosti, K, Buitendijk, GHS, Aghadavoud Jolfaei, M, Demmers, JAA, Elgersma, Y, and van Woerden, GM. CAMK2-Dependent Signaling in Neurons Is Essential for Survival. *The Journal of Neuroscience*. 2019, 39 (28), 5424-5439.
- 189. Racioppi, L, and Means, AR. Calcium/Calmodulin-dependent Protein Kinase Kinase 2: Roles in Signaling and Pathophysiology*. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 2012, 287 (38), 31658-31665.
- 190. Lin, F, Ribar, TJ, and Means, AR. The Ca2+/Calmodulin-Dependent Protein Kinase Kinase, CaMKK2, Inhibits Preadipocyte Differentiation. *Endocrinology*. **2011**, *152* (10), 3668-3679.
- 191. Williams, JN, and Sankar, U. CaMKK2 Signaling in Metabolism and Skeletal Disease: a New Axis with Therapeutic Potential. *Current Osteoporosis Reports.* **2019**, *17* (4), 169-177.
- 192. Marcelo, KL, Means, AR, and York, B. The Ca2+/Calmodulin/CaMKK2 Axis: Nature's Metabolic CaMshaft. *Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism*. **2016**, *27* (10), 706-718.
- 193. Anderson, KA, Ribar, TJ, Lin, F, Noeldner, PK, Green, MF, Muehlbauer, MJ, Witters, LA, Kemp, BE, and Means, AR. Hypothalamic CaMKK2 Contributes to the Regulation of Energy Balance. *Cell Metabolism*. 2008, 7 (5), 377-388.
- 194. Yang, Y, Atasoy, D, Su, Helen H, and Sternson, Scott M. Hunger States Switch a Flip-Flop Memory Circuit via a Synaptic AMPK-Dependent Positive Feedback Loop. *Cell.* 2011, 146 (6), 992-1003.
- 195. Hurley, RL, Anderson, KA, Franzone, JM, Kemp, BE, Means, AR, and Witters, LA. The Ca2+/Calmodulin-dependent Protein Kinase Kinases Are AMP-activated Protein Kinase Kinases. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 2005, 280 (32), 29060-29066.
- 196. Woods, A, Dickerson, K, Heath, R, Hong, S-P, Momcilovic, M, Johnstone, SR, Carlson, M, and Carling, D. Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase kinase-β acts upstream of AMP-activated protein kinase in mammalian cells. *Cell Metabolism*. 2005, 2 (1), 21-33.

- 197. Hawley, SA, Pan, DA, Mustard, KJ, Ross, L, Bain, J, Edelman, AM, Frenguelli, BG, and Hardie, DG. Calmodulin-dependent protein kinase kinase-β is an alternative upstream kinase for AMP-activated protein kinase. *Cell Metabolism*. **2005**, *2* (1), 9-19.
- 198. Gormand, A, Henriksson, E, Ström, K, Jensen, TE, Sakamoto, K, and Göransson, O. Regulation of AMP-activated protein kinase by LKB1 and CaMKK in adipocytes. *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry*. **2011**, *112* (5), 1364-1375.
- 199. Anderson, KA, Lin, F, Ribar, TJ, Stevens, RD, Muehlbauer, MJ, Newgard, CB, and Means, AR. Deletion of CaMKK2 from the Liver Lowers Blood Glucose and Improves Whole-Body Glucose Tolerance in the Mouse. *Molecular Endocrinology*. 2012, 26 (2), 281-291.
- 200. Xue, B, Greenberg, AG, Kraemer, FB, and Zemel, MB. Mechanism of intracellular calcium ([Ca2+]i) inhibition of lipolysis in human adipocytes. *The FASEB Journal.* **2001**, *15* (13), 2527-2529.
- 201. Zhai, M, Yang, D, Yi, W, and Sun, W. Involvement of calcium channels in the regulation of adipogenesis. *Adipocyte.* **2020**, *9* (1), 132-141.
- 202. Koch, GLE. The endoplasmic reticulum and calcium storage. *BioEssays*. 1990, 12 (11), 527-531.
- 203. Misquitta, CM, Mack, DP, and Grover, AK. Sarco/endoplasmic reticulum Ca2+(SERCA)pumps: link to heart beats and calcium waves. *Cell Calcium*. **1999**, *25* (4), 277-290.
- 204. Kirichok, Y, Krapivinsky, G, and Clapham, DE. The mitochondrial calcium uniporter is a highly selective ion channel. *Nature*. **2004**, *427* (6972), 360-364.
- 205. Ntambi, JM, and Takova, T. Role of Ca2+ in the early stages of murine adipocyte differentiation as evidenced by calcium mobilizing agents. *Differentiation*. **1996**, *60* (3), 151-158.
- 206. Shi, H, Halvorsen, Y-D, Ellis, PN, Wilkison, WO, and Zemel, MB. Role of intracellular calcium in human adipocyte differentiation. *Physiological Genomics*. **2000**, *3* (2), 75-82.
- Neal, JW, and Clipstone, NA. A Constitutively Active NFATc1 Mutant Induces a Transformed Phenotype in 3T3-L1 Fibroblasts*. *Journal of Biological Chemistry.* 2003, 278 (19), 17246-17254.
- 208. Neal, JW, and Clipstone, NA. Calcineurin Mediates the Calcium-dependent Inhibition of Adipocyte Differentiation in 3T3-L1 Cells*. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 2002, 277 (51), 49776-49781.
- 209. Jensen, B, Farach-Carson, MC, Kenaley, E, and Akanbi, KA. High extracellular calcium attenuates adipogenesis in 3T3-L1 preadipocytes. *Experimental Cell Research*. 2004, 301 (2), 280-292.

- 210. Lory, P, Bidaud, I, and Chemin, J. T-type calcium channels in differentiation and proliferation. *Cell Calcium.* **2006**, *40* (2), 135-146.
- 211. Uebele, VN, Gotter, AL, Nuss, CE, Kraus, RL, Doran, SM, Garson, SL, Reiss, DR, Li, Y, Barrow, JC, Reger, TS, Yang, Z-Q, Ballard, JE, Tang, C, Metzger, JM, Wang, S-P, Koblan, KS, and Renger, JJ. Antagonism of T-type calcium channels inhibits high-fat diet–induced weight gain in mice. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. 2009, 119 (6), 1659-1667.
- 212. Venkatachalam, K, and Montell, C. TRP Channels. *Annual Review of Biochemistry*. **2007**, *76* (1), 387-417.
- 213. Samanta, A, Hughes, TET, and Moiseenkova-Bell, VY, Transient Receptor Potential (TRP) Channels. In *Membrane Protein Complexes: Structure and Function*, Harris, J. R.; Boekema, E. J., Eds. Springer Singapore: Singapore, 2018; pp 141-165.
- 214. Wu, L-J, Sweet, T-B, and Clapham, DE. International Union of Basic and Clinical Pharmacology. LXXVI. Current Progress in the Mammalian TRP Ion Channel Family. *Pharmacological Reviews*. **2010**, *62* (3), 381-404.
- 215. Ramsey, IS, Delling, M, and Clapham, DE. AN INTRODUCTION TO TRP CHANNELS. *Annual Review of Physiology*. **2006**, *68* (1), 619-647.
- 216. Gao, P, Yan, Z, and Zhu, Z. The role of adipose TRP channels in the pathogenesis of obesity. *J Cell Physiol.* **2019**, 234 (8), 12483-12497.
- 217. Uchida, K, Sun, W, Yamazaki, J, and Tominaga, M. Role of Thermo-Sensitive Transient Receptor Potential Channels in Brown Adipose Tissue. *Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin.* **2018**, *41* (8), 1135-1144.
- 218. Uchida, K, Dezaki, K, Yoneshiro, T, Watanabe, T, Yamazaki, J, Saito, M, Yada, T, Tominaga, M, and Iwasaki, Y. Involvement of thermosensitive TRP channels in energy metabolism. *The Journal of Physiological Sciences*. **2017**, *67* (5), 549-560.
- 219. Liu, D, Zhu, Z, and Tepel, M. The Role of Transient Receptor Potential Channels in Metabolic Syndrome. *Hypertension Research.* **2008**, *31* (11), 1989-1995.
- 220. Bishnoi, M, Kondepudi, KK, Baboota, RK, Dubey, R, and Boparai, RK. Role of transient receptor potential channels in adipocyte biology. *Expert Review of Endocrinology & Metabolism.* **2013**, *8* (2), 173-182.
- 221. Bishnoi, M, Khare, P, Brown, L, and Panchal, SK. Transient receptor potential (TRP) channels: a metabolic TR(i)P to obesity prevention and therapy. *Obes Rev.* **2018**, *19* (9), 1269-1292.

- 222. Saito, M, Chapter One Capsaicin and Related Food Ingredients Reducing Body Fat Through the Activation of TRP and Brown Fat Thermogenesis. In *Advances in Food and Nutrition Research*, Henry, J., Ed. Academic Press: 2015; Vol. 76, pp 1-28.
- 223. Sun, W, Uchida, K, Suzuki, Y, Zhou, Y, Kim, M, Takayama, Y, Takahashi, N, Goto, T, Wakabayashi, S, Kawada, T, Iwata, Y, and Tominaga, M. Lack of TRPV2 impairs thermogenesis in mouse brown adipose tissue. *EMBO reports.* **2016**, *17* (3), 383-399.
- 224. Christie, S, Wittert, GA, Li, H, and Page, AJ. Involvement of TRPV1 Channels in Energy Homeostasis. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne).* **2018**, *9*, 420.
- 225. Zsombok, A, and Derbenev, AV. TRP Channels as Therapeutic Targets in Diabetes and Obesity. *Pharmaceuticals*. **2016**, *9* (3), 50.
- 226. Nilius, B, and Szallasi, A. Transient Receptor Potential Channels as Drug Targets: From the Science of Basic Research to the Art of Medicine. *Pharmacological Reviews*. **2014**, *66* (3), 676-814.
- 227. Moran, MM, McAlexander, MA, Bíró, T, and Szallasi, A. Transient receptor potential channels as therapeutic targets. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*. **2011**, *10* (8), 601-620.
- 228. Szallasi, A, Cortright, DN, Blum, CA, and Eid, SR. The vanilloid receptor TRPV1: 10 years from channel cloning to antagonist proof-of-concept. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*. 2007, 6 (5), 357-372.
- 229. Caterina, MJ, Schumacher, MA, Tominaga, M, Rosen, TA, Levine, JD, and Julius, D. The capsaicin receptor: a heat-activated ion channel in the pain pathway. *Nature*. **1997**, *389* (6653), 816-824.
- 230. Brederson, J-D, Kym, PR, and Szallasi, A. Targeting TRP channels for pain relief. *European Journal of Pharmacology*. **2013**, *716* (1), 61-76.
- 231. Cao, E, Cordero-Morales, Julio F, Liu, B, Qin, F, and Julius, D. TRPV1 Channels Are Intrinsically Heat Sensitive and Negatively Regulated by Phosphoinositide Lipids. *Neuron.* 2013, 77 (4), 667-679.
- 232. Zhang, LL, Yan Liu, D, Ma, LQ, Luo, ZD, Cao, TB, Zhong, J, Yan, ZC, Wang, LJ, Zhao, ZG, Zhu, SJ, Schrader, M, Thilo, F, Zhu, ZM, and Tepel, M. Activation of transient receptor potential vanilloid type-1 channel prevents adipogenesis and obesity. *Circ Res.* 2007, 100 (7), 1063-70.
- 233. Chen, J, Li, L, Li, Y, Liang, X, Sun, Q, Yu, H, Zhong, J, Ni, Y, Chen, J, Zhao, Z, Gao, P, Wang, B, Liu, D, Zhu, Z, and Yan, Z. Activation of TRPV1 channel by dietary capsaicin improves visceral fat remodeling through connexin43-mediated Ca2+ Influx. *Cardiovascular Diabetology*. 2015, 14 (1), 22.
- 234. Sun, W, Yu, Z, Yang, S, Jiang, C, Kou, Y, Xiao, L, Tang, S, and Zhu, T. A Transcriptomic Analysis Reveals Novel Patterns of Gene Expression During 3T3-L1 Adipocyte Differentiation. *Frontiers in Molecular Biosciences*. **2020**, *7* (249).
- 235. Lee, E, Jung, DY, Kim, JH, Patel, PR, Hu, X, Lee, Y, Azuma, Y, Wang, H-F, Tsitsilianos, N, Shafiq, U, Kwon, JY, Lee, HJ, Lee, KW, and Kim, JK. Transient receptor potential vanilloid type-1 channel regulates diet-induced obesity, insulin resistance, and leptin resistance. *The FASEB Journal.* 2015, 29 (8), 3182-3192.
- 236. Baskaran, P, Krishnan, V, Fettel, K, Gao, P, Zhu, Z, Ren, J, and Thyagarajan, B. TRPV1 activation counters diet-induced obesity through sirtuin-1 activation and PRDM-16 deacetylation in brown adipose tissue. *International journal of obesity* (2005). **2017**, 41 (5), 739-749.
- 237. Baboota, RK, Singh, DP, Sarma, SM, Kaur, J, Sandhir, R, Boparai, RK, Kondepudi, KK, and Bishnoi, M. Capsaicin Induces "Brite" Phenotype in Differentiating 3T3-L1 Preadipocytes. *PloS one.* 2014, 9 (7), e103093.
- 238. Baskaran, P, Krishnan, V, Ren, J, and Thyagarajan, B. Capsaicin induces browning of white adipose tissue and counters obesity by activating TRPV1 channel-dependent mechanisms. *British journal of pharmacology*. 2016, 173 (15), 2369-2389.
- 239. Motter, AL, and Ahern, GP. TRPV1-null mice are protected from diet-induced obesity. *FEBS Letters.* **2008**, *582* (15), 2257-2262.
- 240. Marshall, NJ, Liang, L, Bodkin, J, Dessapt-Baradez, C, Nandi, M, Collot-Teixeira, S, Smillie, S-J, Lalgi, K, Fernandes, ES, Gnudi, L, and Brain, SD. A Role for TRPV1 in Influencing the Onset of Cardiovascular Disease in Obesity. *Hypertension*. **2013**, *61* (1), 246-252.
- 241. Tanaka, H, Shimaya, A, Kiso, T, Kuramochi, T, Shimokawa, T, and Shibasaki, M. Enhanced insulin secretion and sensitization in diabetic mice on chronic treatment with a transient receptor potential vanilloid 1 antagonist. *Life sciences*. **2011**, *88* (11), 559-563.
- 242. Sun, W, Uchida, K, Takahashi, N, Iwata, Y, Wakabayashi, S, Goto, T, Kawada, T, and Tominaga, M. Activation of TRPV2 negatively regulates the differentiation of mouse brown adipocytes. *Pflügers Archiv - European Journal of Physiology*. 2016, 468 (9), 1527-1540.
- 243. Mercado, J, Baylie, R, Navedo, MF, Yuan, C, Scott, JD, Nelson, MT, Brayden, JE, and Santana, LF. Local control of TRPV4 channels by AKAP150-targeted PKC in arterial smooth muscle. *Journal of General Physiology*. 2014, 143 (5), 559-575.
- 244. Ye, L, Kleiner, S, Wu, J, Sah, R, Gupta, Rana K, Banks, Alexander S, Cohen, P, Khandekar, Melin J, Boström, P, Mepani, RJ, Laznik, D, Kamenecka, Theodore M, Song, X, Liedtke, W, Mootha, Vamsi K, Puigserver, P, Griffin, Patrick R, Clapham, David E, and Spiegelman,

Bruce M. TRPV4 Is a Regulator of Adipose Oxidative Metabolism, Inflammation, and Energy Homeostasis. *Cell.* **2012**, *151* (1), 96-110.

- 245. O'Conor, CJ, Griffin, TM, Liedtke, W, and Guilak, F. Increased susceptibility of Trpv4-deficient mice to obesity and obesity-induced osteoarthritis with very high-fat diet. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases.* **2013**, *72* (2), 300-304.
- 246. Yue, L, Peng, J-B, Hediger, MA, and Clapham, DE. CaT1 manifests the pore properties of the calcium-release-activated calcium channel. *Nature*. **2001**, *410* (6829), 705-709.
- 247. Suzuki, Y, Landowski, CP, and Hediger, MA. Mechanisms and Regulation of Epithelial Ca2+ Absorption in Health and Disease. *Annual Review of Physiology*. **2008**, *70* (1), 257-271.
- 248. Peng, J-B, Chen, X-Z, Berger, UV, Weremowicz, S, Morton, CC, Vassilev, PM, Brown, EM, and Hediger, MA. Human Calcium Transport Protein CaT1. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*. **2000**, *278* (2), 326-332.
- 249. Hoenderop, JGJ, Nilius, B, and Bindels, RJM. Calcium Absorption Across Epithelia. *Physiological Reviews.* **2005**, *85* (1), 373-422.
- 250. Story, GM, Peier, AM, Reeve, AJ, Eid, SR, Mosbacher, J, Hricik, TR, Earley, TJ, Hergarden, AC, Andersson, DA, Hwang, SW, McIntyre, P, Jegla, T, Bevan, S, and Patapoutian, A. ANKTM1, a TRP-like Channel Expressed in Nociceptive Neurons, Is Activated by Cold Temperatures. *Cell.* 2003, 112 (6), 819-829.
- 251. Watanabe, T, and Terada, Y. Food Compounds Activating Thermosensitive TRP Channels in Asian Herbal and Medicinal Foods. *Journal of Nutritional Science and Vitaminology*. 2015, 61 (Supplement), S86-S88.
- 252. Lo, C-W, Chen, C-S, Chen, Y-C, Hsu, Y-A, Huang, C-C, Chang, C-Y, Lin, C-J, Lin, C-W, Lin, H-J, Liu, F-T, and Wan, L. Allyl Isothiocyanate Ameliorates Obesity by Inhibiting Galectin-12. *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research.* 2018, 62 (6), 1700616.
- 253. Camacho, S, Michlig, S, de Senarclens-Bezençon, C, Meylan, J, Meystre, J, Pezzoli, M, Markram, H, and le Coutre, J. Anti-Obesity and Anti-Hyperglycemic Effects of Cinnamaldehyde via altered Ghrelin Secretion and Functional impact on Food Intake and Gastric Emptying. *Scientific Reports.* 2015, 5 (1), 7919.
- 254. Oi-Kano, Y, Iwasaki, Y, Nakamura, T, Watanabe, T, Goto, T, Kawada, T, Watanabe, K, and Iwai, K. Oleuropein aglycone enhances UCP1 expression in brown adipose tissue in highfat-diet-induced obese rats by activating β-adrenergic signaling. *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*. 2017, 40, 209-218.
- 255. Sanchez-Collado, J, Lopez, JJ, Jardin, I, Salido, GM, and Rosado, JA, Cross-Talk Between the Adenylyl Cyclase/cAMP Pathway and Ca2+ Homeostasis. In *Reviews of Physiology*,

Biochemistry and Pharmacology, Pedersen, S. H. F., Ed. Springer International Publishing: Cham, 2021; pp 73-116.

- 256. Bilbao, A, Parkitna, JR, Engblom, D, Perreau-Lenz, S, Sanchis-Segura, C, Schneider, M, Konopka, W, Westphal, M, Breen, G, Desrivieres, S, Klugmann, M, Guindalini, C, Vallada, H, Laranjeira, R, Fonseca, FRd, Schumann, G, Schütz, G, and Spanagel, R. Loss of the Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase type IV in dopaminoceptive neurons enhances behavioral effects of cocaine. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 2008, 105 (45), 17549-17554.
- 257. Grewal, SS, Fass, DM, Yao, H, Ellig, CL, Goodman, RH, and Stork, PJS. Calcium and cAMP Signals Differentially Regulate cAMP-responsive Element-binding Protein Function via a Rap1-Extracellular Signal-regulated Kinase Pathway*. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 2000, 275 (44), 34433-34441.
- 258. Iyer, R, Wang, TA, and Gillette, MU. Circadian gating of neuronal functionality: a basis for iterative metaplasticity1. *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*. **2014**, *8* (164).
- 259. Betzenhauser, MJ, and Yule, DI, Chapter 12 Regulation of Inositol 1,4,5-Trisphosphate Receptors by Phosphorylation and Adenine Nucleotides. In *Current Topics in Membranes*, Serysheva, I. I., Ed. Academic Press: 2010; Vol. 66, pp 273-298.
- 260. Ruiz-Hurtado, G, Morel, E, Domínguez-Rodríguez, A, Llach, A, Lezoualc'h, F, Benitah, J-P, and Gomez, AM. Epac in cardiac calcium signaling. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology*. **2013**, *58*, 162-171.
- 261. Islam, MS, Leibiger, I, Leibiger, B, Rossi, D, Sorrentino, V, Ekström, TJ, Westerblad, H, Andrade, FH, and Berggren, P-O. In situ activation of the type 2 ryanodine receptor in pancreatic beta cells requires cAMP-dependent phosphorylation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. **1998**, 95 (11), 6145-6150.
- 262. Michailidis, IE, Zhang, Y, and Yang, J. The lipid connection–regulation of voltage-gated Ca2+ channels by phosphoinositides. *Pflügers Archiv - European Journal of Physiology*. 2007, 455 (1), 147.
- 263. Rathee, PK, Distler, C, Obreja, O, Neuhuber, W, Wang, GK, Wang, S-Y, Nau, C, and Kress, M. PKA/AKAP/VR-1 Module: A Common Link of G_s-Mediated Signaling to Thermal Hyperalgesia. *The Journal of Neuroscience*. 2002, 22 (11), 4740-4745.
- 264. Yao, X, Kwan, HY, and Huang, Y. Regulation of TRP Channels by Phosphorylation. *Neurosignals*. **2005**, *14* (6), 273-280.
- 265. Stokes, AJ, Shimoda , LMN, Koblan-Huberson , M, Adra , CN, and Turner , H. A TRPV2– PKA Signaling Module for Transduction of Physical Stimuli in Mast Cells. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*. **2004**, 200 (2), 137-147.

- 266. Cui, A, Ding, D, and Li, Y. Regulation of Hepatic Metabolism and Cell Growth by the ATF/CREB Family of Transcription Factors. *Diabetes*. **2021**, *70* (3), 653-664.
- 267. Zmuda, EJ, Qi, L, Zhu, MX, Mirmira, RG, Montminy, MR, and Hai, T. The Roles of ATF3, an Adaptive-Response Gene, in High-Fat-Diet-Induced Diabetes and Pancreatic β-Cell Dysfunction. *Molecular Endocrinology*. **2010**, 24 (7), 1423-1433.
- 268. Jadhav, K, and Zhang, Y. Activating transcription factor 3 in immune response and metabolic regulation. *Liver Research.* **2017**, *1* (2), 96-102.
- 269. Adams, CM. Role of the Transcription Factor ATF4 in the Anabolic Actions of Insulin and the Anti-anabolic Actions of Glucocorticoids*. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. **2007**, 282 (23), 16744-16753.
- 270. Yoshizawa, T, Hinoi, E, Jung, DY, Kajimura, D, Ferron, M, Seo, J, Graff, JM, Kim, JK, and Karsenty, G. The transcription factor ATF4 regulates glucose metabolism in mice through its expression in osteoblasts. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. **2009**, *119* (9), 2807-2817.
- 271. Seo, J, Fortuno, ES, Suh, JM, Stenesen, D, Tang, W, Parks, EJ, Adams, CM, Townes, T, and Graff, JM. Atf4 Regulates Obesity, Glucose Homeostasis, and Energy Expenditure. *Diabetes*. 2009, 58 (11), 2565-2573.
- 272. Ha, DP, and Lee, AS. Insulin-like growth factor 1-receptor signaling stimulates GRP78 expression through the PI3K/AKT/mTOR/ATF4 axis. *Cellular Signalling*. **2020**, *75*, 109736.
- 273. Byles, V, Cormerais, Y, Kalafut, K, Barrera, V, Hughes Hallett, JE, Sui, SH, Asara, JM, Adams, CM, Hoxhaj, G, Ben-Sahra, I, and Manning, BD. Hepatic mTORC1 signaling activates ATF4 as part of its metabolic response to feeding and insulin. *Molecular Metabolism.* 2021, 53, 101309.
- 274. Müller, GA, Herling, AW, Wied, S, and Müller, TD. CB1 Receptor-Dependent and Independent Induction of Lipolysis in Primary Rat Adipocytes by the Inverse Agonist Rimonabant (SR141716A). *Molecules*. **2020**, *25* (4), 896.
- 275. Muller, C, Morales, P, and Reggio, PH. Cannabinoid Ligands Targeting TRP Channels. *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience*. **2019**, *11* (487).
- 276. Zygmunt, PM, Petersson, J, Andersson, DA, Chuang, H-h, Sørgård, M, Di Marzo, V, Julius, D, and Högestätt, ED. Vanilloid receptors on sensory nerves mediate the vasodilator action of anandamide. *Nature*. **1999**, 400 (6743), 452-457.
- 277. De Petrocellis, L, Ligresti, A, Moriello, AS, Allarà, M, Bisogno, T, Petrosino, S, Stott, CG, and Di Marzo, V. Effects of cannabinoids and cannabinoid-enriched Cannabis extracts on TRP channels and endocannabinoid metabolic enzymes. *British journal of pharmacology*. 2011, 163 (7), 1479-1494.

- 278. Ruparel, NB, Patwardhan, AM, Akopian, AN, and Hargreaves, KM. Desensitization of Transient Receptor Potential Ankyrin 1 (TRPA1) by the TRP Vanilloid 1-Selective Cannabinoid Arachidonoyl-2 Chloroethanolamine. *Molecular pharmacology*. 2011, 80 (1), 117-123.
- 279. Fruh, SM. Obesity: Risk factors, complications, and strategies for sustainable long-term weight management. *J Am Assoc Nurse Pract.* **2017**, *29* (S1), S3-s14.
- 280. Khaitan, L, and Shea, BJ. Laparoscopic vertical sleeve gastrectomy, long and short-term impact on weight loss and associated co-morbidities. *Annals of translational medicine*. 2020, 8 (Suppl 1), S5.
- 281. Jeske, NA, Patwardhan, AM, Gamper, N, Price, TJ, Akopian, AN, and Hargreaves, KM. Cannabinoid WIN 55,212-2 regulates TRPV1 phosphorylation in sensory neurons. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 2006, 281 (43), 32879-90.
- 282. Casimiro, I, Sam, S, and Brady, MJ. Endocrine implications of bariatric surgery: a review on the intersection between incretins, bone, and sex hormones. *Physiological Reports.* 2019, 7 (10), e14111.
- 283. Basso, N, Capoccia, D, Rizzello, M, Abbatini, F, Mariani, P, Maglio, C, Coccia, F, Borgonuovo, G, De Luca, ML, Asprino, R, Alessandri, G, Casella, G, and Leonetti, F. First-phase insulin secretion, insulin sensitivity, ghrelin, GLP-1, and PYY changes 72 h after sleeve gastrectomy in obese diabetic patients: the gastric hypothesis. *Surg. Endosc.* 2011, 25 (11), 3540-3550.
- 284. Ahima, RS, and Flier, JS. Leptin. Annual Review of Physiology. 2000, 62 (1), 413-437.
- 285. Cammisotto, P, and Bendayan, M. A review on gastric leptin: the exocrine secretion of a gastric hormone. *ACB*. **2012**, *45* (1), 1-16.
- 286. Makris, MC, Alexandrou, A, Papatsoutsos, EG, Malietzis, G, Tsilimigras, DI, Guerron, AD, and Moris, D. Ghrelin and Obesity: Identifying Gaps and Dispelling Myths. A Reappraisal. *In Vivo.* 2017, 31 (6), 1047-1050.
- 287. Nunez-Salces, M, Li, H, Feinle-Bisset, C, Young, RL, and Page, AJ. The regulation of gastric ghrelin secretion. *Acta Physiol (Oxf)*. **2020**, e13588.
- 288. Kühnen, P, Krude, H, and Biebermann, H. Melanocortin-4 Receptor Signalling: Importance for Weight Regulation and Obesity Treatment. *Trends Mol Med.* **2019**, *25* (2), 136-148.
- 289. Krashes, MJ, Lowell, BB, and Garfield, AS. Melanocortin-4 receptor-regulated energy homeostasis. *Nat Neurosci.* 2016, 19 (2), 206-19.

- 290. Steinert, RE, Peterli, R, Keller, S, Meyer-Gerspach, AC, Drewe, J, Peters, T, and Beglinger, C. Bile acids and gut peptide secretion after bariatric surgery: A 1-year prospective randomized pilot trial. *Obesity*. **2013**, *21* (12), E660-E668.
- 291. Peterli, R, Steinert, RE, Woelnerhanssen, B, Peters, T, Christoffel-Courtin, C, Gass, M, Kern, B, von Fluee, M, and Beglinger, C. Metabolic and Hormonal Changes After Laparoscopic Roux-en-Y Gastric Bypass and Sleeve Gastrectomy: a Randomized, Prospective Trial. *Obesity Surgery.* 2012, 22 (5), 740-748.
- 292. Lutz, TA, Bueter, M, and Geary, N. Introduction to the special issue "Bariatric Surgery and Appetite". *Appetite*. **2020**, *146*, 104515.
- 293. Nance, K, Acevedo, MB, and Pepino, MY. Changes in taste function and ingestive behavior following bariatric surgery. *Appetite*. **2020**, *146*, 104423.
- 294. Hankir, MK, Al-Bas, S, Rullmann, M, Chakaroun, R, Seyfried, F, and Pleger, B. Homeostatic, reward and executive brain functions after gastric bypass surgery. *Appetite*. **2020**, *146*, 104419.
- 295. Azar, S, Sherf-Dagan, S, Nemirovski, A, Webb, M, Raziel, A, Keidar, A, Goitein, D, Sakran, N, Shibolet, O, Tam, J, and Zelber-Sagi, S. Circulating Endocannabinoids Are Reduced Following Bariatric Surgery and Associated with Improved Metabolic Homeostasis in Humans. *Obesity Surgery*. 2019, 29 (1), 268-276.
- 296. Bryant, EJ, Malik, MS, Whitford-Bartle, T, and Waters, GM. The effects of bariatric surgery on psychological aspects of eating behaviour and food intake in humans. *Appetite*. **2020**, *150*, 104575.
- 297. Al-Najim, W, Docherty, NG, and le Roux, CW. Food Intake and Eating Behavior After Bariatric Surgery. *Physiol Rev.* **2018**, *98* (3), 1113-1141.
- 298. White, JM, Piron, MJ, Rangaraj, VR, Hanlon, EC, Cohen, RN, and Brady, MJ. Reference Gene Optimization for Circadian Gene Expression Analysis in Human Adipose Tissue. *J Biol Rhythms*. **2020**, *35* (1), 84-97.
- 299. Valliant, MW, and Tidwell, DK. Validation of Bioelectrical Impedance Against Dual-Energy X-Ray Absorptiometry in Adult, African American Females. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 2007, 107 (8, Supplement), A29.
- 300. Frankenfield, D, Roth-Yousey, L, and Compher, C. Comparison of predictive equations for resting metabolic rate in healthy nonobese and obese adults: a systematic review. J Am Diet Assoc. 2005, 105 (5), 775-89.
- 301. Bates, D, Mächler, M, Bolker, B, and Walker, S. Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects Models Using lme4. *Journal of Statistical Software; Vol 1, Issue 1 (2015).* **2015**.

- 302. Terra, X, Auguet, T, Guiu-Jurado, E, Berlanga, A, Orellana-Gavaldà, JM, Hernández, M, Sabench, F, Porras, JA, Llutart, J, Martinez, S, Aguilar, C, Del Castillo, D, and Richart, C. Long-term changes in leptin, chemerin and ghrelin levels following different bariatric surgery procedures: Roux-en-Y gastric bypass and sleeve gastrectomy. *Obes Surg.* 2013, 23 (11), 1790-8.
- 303. Santiago-Fernández, C, García-Serrano, S, Tome, M, Valdes, S, Ocaña-Wilhelmi, L, Rodríguez-Cañete, A, Tinahones, FJ, García-Fuentes, E, and Garrido-Sánchez, L. Ghrelin levels could be involved in the improvement of insulin resistance after bariatric surgery. *Endocrinol Diabetes Nutr.* 2017, 64 (7), 355-362.
- 304. Kruljac, I, Mirošević, G, Kirigin, LS, Nikolić, M, Ljubičić, N, Budimir, I, Bekavac Bešlin, M, and Vrkljan, M. Changes in metabolic hormones after bariatric surgery and their predictive impact on weight loss. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)*. **2016**, *85* (6), 852-860.
- 305. Kalinowski, P, Paluszkiewicz, R, Wróblewski, T, Remiszewski, P, Grodzicki, M, Bartoszewicz, Z, and Krawczyk, M. Ghrelin, leptin, and glycemic control after sleeve gastrectomy versus Roux-en-Y gastric bypass-results of a randomized clinical trial. *Surg Obes Relat Dis.* 2017, 13 (2), 181-188.
- 306. Alosco, ML, Spitznagel, MB, Strain, G, Devlin, M, Cohen, R, Crosby, RD, Mitchell, JE, and Gunstad, J. Improved serum leptin and ghrelin following bariatric surgery predict better postoperative cognitive function. *J Clin Neurol.* **2015**, *11* (1), 48-56.
- 307. Jequier, E. Leptin signaling, adiposity, and energy balance. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* **2002**, *967*, 379-88.
- 308. Ostlund, RE, Jr., Yang, JW, Klein, S, and Gingerich, R. Relation between plasma leptin concentration and body fat, gender, diet, age, and metabolic covariates. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* **1996**, *81* (11), 3909-13.
- 309. Friedman, JM. Leptin and the endocrine control of energy balance. *Nat Metab.* **2019**, *1* (8), 754-764.
- 310. Izquierdo, AG, Crujeiras, AB, Casanueva, FF, and Carreira, MC. Leptin, Obesity, and Leptin Resistance: Where Are We 25 Years Later? *Nutrients*. **2019**, *11* (11).
- 311. Obradovic, M, Sudar-Milovanovic, E, Soskic, S, Essack, M, Arya, S, Stewart, AJ, Gojobori, T, and Isenovic, ER. Leptin and Obesity: Role and Clinical Implication. *Front Endocrinol* (*Lausanne*). **2021**, *12*, 585887.
- 312. Sainz, N, Barrenetxe, J, Moreno-Aliaga, MJ, and Martinez, JA. Leptin resistance and dietinduced obesity: central and peripheral actions of leptin. *Metabolism.* **2015**, *64* (1), 35-46.

- 313. Melby, CL, Paris, HL, Foright, RM, and Peth, J. Attenuating the Biologic Drive for Weight Regain Following Weight Loss: Must What Goes Down Always Go Back Up? *Nutrients*. 2017, 9 (5).
- 314. Klok, MD, Jakobsdottir, S, and Drent, ML. The role of leptin and ghrelin in the regulation of food intake and body weight in humans: a review. *Obes Rev.* **2007**, *8* (1), 21-34.
- 315. Cummings, DE, and Foster, KE. Ghrelin-leptin tango in body-weight regulation. *Gastroenterology*. **2003**, *124* (5), *1532-5*.
- 316. Ravinet Trillou, C, Delgorge, C, Menet, C, Arnone, M, and Soubrié, P. CB1 cannabinoid receptor knockout in mice leads to leanness, resistance to diet-induced obesity and enhanced leptin sensitivity. *International Journal Of Obesity*. **2004**, *28*, 640.
- 317. Cinar, R, Iyer, MR, and Kunos, G. The therapeutic potential of second and third generation CB1R antagonists. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics*. **2020**, 107477.
- 318. Quarta, C, and Cota, D. Anti-obesity therapy with peripheral CB1 blockers: from promise to safe(?) practice. *International Journal of Obesity*. **2020**, *44* (11), 2179-2193.
- 319. Spoto, B, Fezza, F, Parlongo, G, Battista, N, Sgro, E, Gasperi, V, Zoccali, C, and Maccarrone, M. Human adipose tissue binds and metabolizes the endocannabinoids anandamide and 2-arachidonoylglycerol. *Biochimie.* 2006, *88* (12), 1889-1897.
- 320. Blüher, M, Engeli, S, Klöting, N, Berndt, J, Fasshauer, M, Bátkai, S, Pacher, P, Schön, MR, Jordan, J, and Stumvoll, M. Dysregulation of the Peripheral and Adipose Tissue Endocannabinoid System in Human Abdominal Obesity. *Diabetes.* 2006, 55 (11), 3053-3060.
- 321. Gonthier, M-P, Hoareau, L, Festy, F, Matias, I, Valenti, M, Bès-Houtmann, S, Rouch, C, Silva, CR-D, Chesne, S, d'Hellencourt, CL, Césari, M, Di Marzo, V, and Roche, R. Identification of Endocannabinoids and Related Compounds in Human Fat Cells. *Obesity*. 2007, 15 (4), 837-845.
- 322. Pagano, C, Pilon, C, Calcagno, A, Urbanet, R, Rossato, M, Milan, G, Bianchi, K, Rizzuto, R, Bernante, P, Federspil, G, and Vettor, R. The Endogenous Cannabinoid System Stimulates Glucose Uptake in Human Fat Cells via Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase and Calcium-Dependent Mechanisms. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*. 2007, 92 (12), 4810-4819.
- 323. Roche, R, Hoareau, L, Bes-Houtmann, S, Gonthier, M-P, Laborde, C, Baron, J-F, Haffaf, Y, Cesari, M, and Festy, F. Presence of the cannabinoid receptors, CB1 and CB2, in human omental and subcutaneous adipocytes. *Histochemistry and Cell Biology*. 2006, 126 (2), 177-187.

- 324. Muller, T, Demizieux, L, Troy-Fioramonti, S, Gresti, J, Barros, J-PPd, Berger, H, Vergès, B, and Degrace, P. Overactivation of the endocannabinoid system alters the antilipolytic action of insulin in mouse adipose tissue. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism.* 2017, 313 (1), E26-E36.
- 325. Patwardhan, AM, Jeske, NA, Price, TJ, Gamper, N, Akopian, AN, and Hargreaves, KM. The cannabinoid WIN 55,212-2 inhibits transient receptor potential vanilloid 1 (TRPV1) and evokes peripheral antihyperalgesia via calcineurin. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences.* **2006**, *103* (30), 11393-11398.
- 326. Oz, M. Receptor-independent actions of cannabinoids on cell membranes: Focus on endocannabinoids. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics*. **2006**, *111* (1), 114-144.
- 327. Raffa, RB, and Ward, SJ. CB1-independent mechanisms of Δ9-THCV, AM251 and SR141716 (rimonabant). *Journal of Clinical Pharmacy and Therapeutics*. 2012, 37 (3), 260-265.
- 328. Carswell, KA, Lee, M-J, and Fried, SK, Culture of Isolated Human Adipocytes and Isolated Adipose Tissue. In *Human Cell Culture Protocols*, Mitry, R. R.; Hughes, R. D., Eds. Humana Press: Totowa, NJ, 2012; pp 203-214.
- 329. Dobin, A, Davis, CA, Schlesinger, F, Drenkow, J, Zaleski, C, Jha, S, Batut, P, Chaisson, M, and Gingeras, TR. STAR: ultrafast universal RNA-seq aligner. *Bioinformatics*. 2012, 29 (1), 15-21.
- 330. Patro, R, Duggal, G, Love, MI, Irizarry, RA, and Kingsford, C. Salmon provides fast and biasaware quantification of transcript expression. *Nature Methods*. **2017**, *14* (4), 417-419.
- 331. Love, MI, Huber, W, and Anders, S. Moderated estimation of fold change and dispersion for RNA-seq data with DESeq2. *Genome Biology*. **2014**, *15* (12), 550.
- 332. Stephens, M, Carbonetto, P, Gerard, D, Lu, M, Sun, L, Willwerscheid, J, and Xiao, N. *ashr: Methods for Adaptive Shrinkage, using Empirical Bayes*. R package version 2.2-47. 2020.
- 333. Subramanian, A, Tamayo, P, Mootha, VK, Mukherjee, S, Ebert, BL, Gillette, MA, Paulovich, A, Pomeroy, SL, Golub, TR, Lander, ES, and Mesirov, JP. Gene set enrichment analysis: A knowledge-based approach for interpreting genome-wide expression profiles. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences. 2005, 102 (43), 15545-15550.
- 334. Liberzon, A, Subramanian, A, Pinchback, R, Thorvaldsdóttir, H, Tamayo, P, and Mesirov, JP. Molecular signatures database (MSigDB) 3.0. *Bioinformatics*. **2011**, 27 (12), 1739-1740.
- 335. Liberzon, A, Birger, C, Thorvaldsdóttir, H, Ghandi, M, Mesirov, Jill P, and Tamayo, P. The Molecular Signatures Database Hallmark Gene Set Collection. *Cell Systems.* 2015, 1 (6), 417-425.

- 336. Tarca, AL, Kathri, P, and Draghici, S. SPIA: Signaling Pathway Impact Analysis (SPIA) using combined evidence of pathway over-representation and unusual signaling perturbations. R package version 2.4.4. 2021.
- 337. Wang, C, Huang, Z, Du, Y, Cheng, Y, Chen, S, and Guo, F. ATF4 regulates lipid metabolism and thermogenesis. *Cell Research.* **2010**, *20* (2), 174-184.
- 338. Williams , E-J, Walsh , FS, and Doherty , P. The FGF receptor uses the endocannabinoid signaling system to couple to an axonal growth response. *Journal of Cell Biology*. 2003, 160 (4), 481-486.
- 339. Wang, C, Xia, T, Du, Y, Meng, Q, Li, H, Liu, B, Chen, S, and Guo, F. Effects of ATF4 on PGC1α expression in brown adipose tissue and metabolic responses to cold stress. *Metabolism - Clinical and Experimental.* 2013, 62 (2), 282-289.
- 340. Worrall, DS, and Olefsky, JM. The Effects of Intracellular Calcium Depletion on Insulin Signaling in 3T3-L1 Adipocytes. *Molecular Endocrinology*. **2002**, *16* (2), 378-389.
- 341. Ren, J, Cheng, Y, Wen, X, Liu, P, Zhao, F, Xin, F, Wang, M, Huang, H, and Wang, W. BKCa channel participates in insulin-induced lipid deposition in adipocytes by increasing intracellular calcium. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*. **2021**, 236 (8), 5818-5831.
- 342. Münzberg, H, Laque, A, Yu, S, Rezai-Zadeh, K, and Berthoud, H-R. Appetite and body weight regulation after bariatric surgery. *Obesity Reviews*. **2015**, *16* (S1), 77-90.
- 343. Myers, MG, Cowley, MA, and Münzberg, H. Mechanisms of Leptin Action and Leptin Resistance. *Annual Review of Physiology*. **2008**, *70* (1), 537-556.
- 344. Gruzdeva, O, Borodkina, D, Uchasova, E, Dyleva, Y, and Barbarash, O. Leptin resistance: underlying mechanisms and diagnosis. *Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes.* **2019**, *12*, 191-198.
- 345. McCarty, TR, Jirapinyo, P, and Thompson, CC. Effect of Sleeve Gastrectomy on Ghrelin, GLP-1, PYY, and GIP Gut Hormones: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Annals of Surgery*. **2020**, *272* (1), 72-80.
- 346. Morton, JM. Ethnic Considerations for Metabolic Surgery. Diabetes Care. 2016, 39 (6), 949-953.